
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Executive 
Committee 
 
 
 
Tuesday 15th November 
2011 
7.00 pm 
 
Committee Room 2 
Town Hall 
Redditch 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 

Access to Information - Your Rights 
 

The Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 
1985 widened the rights of 
press and public to attend 
Local Authority meetings 
and to see certain 
documents.  Recently the 
Freedom of Information Act 
2000, has further broadened 
these rights, and limited 
exemptions under the 1985 
Act. 

Your main rights are set out 
below:- 

• Automatic right to attend 
all Council and 
Committee meetings 
unless the business 
would disclose 
confidential or “exempt” 
information. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
agenda and public reports 
at least five days before 
the date of the meeting. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
minutes of the Council 
and its Committees (or 
summaries of business  

 

undertaken in private) for 
up to six years following a 
meeting. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
lists of background 
papers used in the 
preparation of public 
reports. 

• Access, upon request, to 
the background papers 
on which reports are 
based for a period of up 
to four years from the 
date of the meeting. 

• Access to a public 
register stating the names 
and addresses and 
electoral areas of all 
Councillors with details of 
the membership of all 
Committees etc. 

• A reasonable number of 
copies of agenda and 
reports relating to items to 
be considered in public 
must be made available 
to the public attending 
meetings of the Council 
and its Committees etc. 

• Access to a list specifying 
those powers which the 
Council has delegated to its 
Officers indicating also the 
titles of the Officers 
concerned. 

• Access to a summary of the 
rights of the public to attend 
meetings of the Council and 
its Committees etc. and to 
inspect and copy 
documents. 

• In addition, the public now 
has a right to be present 
when the Council 
determines “Key Decisions” 
unless the business would 
disclose confidential or 
“exempt” information. 

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
items of business before the 
Executive Committee are 
Key Decisions.  

• (Copies of Agenda Lists are 
published in advance of the 
meetings on the Council’s 
Website: 
www.redditchbc.gov.uk 

 
If you have any queries on this Agenda or any of the decisions taken or wish to 

exercise any of the above rights of access to information, please contact  
Ivor Westmore  

Committee Support Services  
 

Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, B98 8AH 
Tel: 01527 64252 (Extn. 3269) Fax: (01527) 65216 

e.mail: ivor.westmore@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk            Minicom: 595528 
 



Welcome to today’s meeting. 

Guidance for the Public 
 
 
Agenda Papers 

The Agenda List at the front 
of the Agenda summarises 
the issues to be discussed 
and is followed by the 
Officers’ full supporting 
Reports. 
 
Chair 

The Chair is responsible for 
the proper conduct of the 
meeting. Generally to one 
side of the Chair is the 
Committee Support Officer 
who gives advice on the 
proper conduct of the 
meeting and ensures that 
the debate and the 
decisions are properly 
recorded.  On the Chair’s 
other side are the relevant 
Council Officers.  The 
Councillors (“Members”) of 
the Committee occupy the 
remaining seats around the 
table. 
 
Running Order 

Items will normally be taken 
in the order printed but, in 
particular circumstances, the 
Chair may agree to vary the 
order. 
 
Refreshments : tea, coffee 
and water are normally 
available at meetings - 
please serve yourself. 
 

 
Decisions 

Decisions at the meeting will 
be taken by the Councillors 
who are the democratically 
elected representatives. 
They are advised by 
Officers who are paid 
professionals and do not 
have a vote. 
 
Members of the Public 

Members of the public may, 
by prior arrangement, speak 
at meetings of the Council or 
its Committees.  Specific 
procedures exist for Appeals 
Hearings or for meetings 
involving Licence or 
Planning Applications.  For 
further information on this 
point, please speak to the 
Committee Support Officer. 
 
Special Arrangements 

If you have any particular 
needs, please contact the 
Committee Support Officer. 
 
Infra-red devices for the 
hearing impaired are 
available on request at the 
meeting. Other facilities may 
require prior arrangement. 
 
Further Information 

If you require any further 
information, please contact 
the Committee Support 
Officer (see foot of page 
opposite). 

Fire/ Emergency  
instructions 
 
If the alarm is sounded, 
please leave the building 
by the nearest available 
exit – these are clearly 
indicated within all the 
Committee Rooms. 
 
If you discover a fire, 
inform a member of staff 
or operate the nearest 
alarm call point (wall 
mounted red rectangular 
box).  In the event of the 
fire alarm sounding, leave 
the building immediately 
following the fire exit 
signs.  Officers have been 
appointed with 
responsibility to ensure 
that all visitors are 
escorted from the 
building. 
 
Do Not stop to collect 
personal belongings. 
 
Do Not use lifts. 
 
Do Not re-enter the 
building until told to do 
so.  
 
The emergency 
Assembly Area is on 
Walter Stranz Square. 

 
 
 



 
 
 

Declaration of Interests: 
Guidance for Councillors 
 
 

DO I HAVE A “PERSONAL INTEREST” ? 
 
• Where the item relates or is likely to affect your  registered interests 

(what you have declared on the formal Register of Interests) 
OR 
 
• Where a decision in relation to the item might reasonably be regarded as affecting your 

own well-being or financial position, or that of your family, or your close associates more 
than most other people affected by the issue, 

 
you have a personal interest. 
 
WHAT MUST I DO?  Declare the existence, and nature, of your interest and stay 
 
• The declaration must relate to specific business being decided - 

a general scattergun approach is not needed 
 
• Exception - where interest arises only because of your membership of another public 

body, there is no need to declare unless you speak on the matter. 
 
• You can vote on the matter. 
 
 
IS IT A “PREJUDICIAL INTEREST” ? 
 
In general only if:- 
 
• It is a personal interest and 
 
• The item affects your financial position (or conveys other benefits), or the position of your 

family, close associates or bodies through which you have a registered interest (or 
relates to the exercise of regulatory functions in relation to these groups) 

 
 and 
 
• A member of public, with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably believe the 

interest was likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest. 
 
 
WHAT MUST I DO?  Declare and Withdraw 
 
BUT you may make representations to the meeting before withdrawing, if the public have similar 
rights (such as the right to speak at Planning Committee). 



 
 

 
 
 

Executive 

Committee 

 

 

 

15th November 2011 

7.00 pm 

Committee Room 2 Town Hall 

 

Agenda Membership: 

 Cllrs: Carole Gandy (Chair) 
Michael Braley (Vice-Chair) 
Juliet Brunner 
Greg Chance 
Brandon Clayton 
 

Malcolm Hall 
Jinny Pearce 
Debbie Taylor 
Derek Taylor 
 

1. Apologies  To receive the apologies of any Member who is unable to 
attend this meeting. 
  

2. Declarations of Interest  To invite Councillors to declare any interests they may have 
in items on the agenda. 
  

3. Leader's Announcements  1. To give notice of any items for future meetings or for 
the Forward Plan, including any scheduled for this 
meeting, but now carried forward or deleted; and 

 
2 any other relevant announcements. 
 
(Oral report) 
  

4. Minutes  

(Pages 1 - 6)  

Chief Executive 

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of 
the Executive Committee held on the 4th October 2011. 
 
(Minutes attached) 
  

5. Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2012/13 - 2014/15  

Exec Director (Finance and 
Corporate Resources) 

To consider a presentation on projected bids and savings for 
the forthcoming financial year and thereafter. 
 
(Oral report) 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance)  

6. Gritting and Snow 
Clearance - Redditch 
Borough Council 
Approach  

(Pages 7 - 14)  

Head of Environmental 
Services 

To consider details of gritting that will be carried out on 
Council land together with an update on issues raised in the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s ‘Gritting: a short , sharp 
review’. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(All Wards)  



 
 
Executive 
Committee  

 

 

15th November 2011 
 

7. Redditch Community 
Safety Partnership - 
Future arrangements  

(Pages 15 - 38)  

Head of Community 
Services 

To seek approval for the merger of Redditch Community 
Safety Partnership (RCSP) with Bromsgrove Community 
Safety Partnership (BCSP) and Wyre Forest Community 
Safety Partnership (WFCSP).  This would result in the 
creation of a North Worcestershire Community Safety 
Partnership (NWCSP). 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(All Wards)  

8. Safeguarding Policy and 
Procedure  

(Pages 39 - 84)  

Head of Community 
Services 

To seek approval to adopt a new policy and procedure to 
safeguard, children, young people and vulnerable adults. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance)  

9. Children's Centres 
Contract  

(Pages 85 - 92)  

Head of Community 
Services 

To approve the submission of a tender to deliver Children’s 
Centres services in Redditch. 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(Various Wards)  

10. Consultation on changes 
to solar photo voltaic 
(PV) feed-in tariff scheme  

Chief Executive 

To consider the implications of a Government consultation on 
fast-tracking changes to the current solar photo voltaic (PV) 
feed-in tariff scheme. 
 
(Report to follow) 
 
(All Wards)  

11. Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

(Pages 93 - 126)  

Chief Executive 

To receive the minutes of the meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on the 27th September and 
18th October 2011. 
 
There are recommendations to consider. 
  

12. Worcestershire Shared 
Service Joint Committee  

(Pages 127 - 134)  

To note the minutes of the meeting of Worcestershire Shared 
Service Joint Committee held on 29th September 2011. 
 
To adopt the Worcestershire Regulatory Enforcement Policy. 
 
(Notes and Policy attached) 
  



 
 
Executive 
Committee  

 

 

15th November 2011 
 

13. Minutes / Referrals - 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Executive 
Panels etc.  

Chief Executive 

To receive and consider any outstanding minutes or referrals 
from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Executive 
Panels etc. since the last meeting of the Executive 
Committee, other than as detailed in the items above. 
 
  

14. Advisory Panels - update 
report  

(Pages 135 - 138)  

Chief Executive 

To consider, for monitoring / management purposes, an 
update on the work of the Executive Committee’s Advisory 
Panels and similar bodies, which report via the Executive 
Committee. 
 
(Report attached) 
  

15. Action Monitoring  

(Pages 139 - 140)  

Chief Executive 

To consider an update on the actions arising from previous 
meetings of the Committee. 
 
(Report attached) 
  

16. Exclusion of the Public  It may be necessary, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, to 
consider excluding the public from the meeting in relation to 
the following item of business on the grounds that exempt 
information is likely to be divulged. It may therefore be 
necessary to move the following resolution:  
 
“that, under S.100 I of the Local Government Act 1972, 
as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following matter on 
the grounds that it involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1 and 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) of the said Act, as amended.” 
 

• Sandycroft – Future of the Site 
 
These paragraphs are as follows: 

Subject to the “public interest” test, information relating 

to: 

••••         Para 1 – any individual; 

••••         Para 2 – the identity of any individual; 

••••         Para 3 – financial or business affairs; 

••••         Para 4 – labour relations matters; 



 
 
Executive 
Committee  

 

 

15th November 2011 
 

••••         Para 5 – legal professional privilege; 

••••         Para 6 –  a notice, order or direction; 

••••         Para 7 – the prevention, investigation or  

    prosecution of crime; 

 

 may need to be considered as ‘exempt’.  
 

17. Sandycroft - Future of 
Site  

(Pages 141 - 148)  

Head of Finance and  
Resources 

To consider the future of the site known as Sandycroft. 
 
[The report may contain exempt information as defined in 
S.100 of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the 
Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006, as they may contain information relating to particular 
individuals and the financial of business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that 
information.  In view of this it is anticipated that discussion of 
these matters will take place after the exclusion of the 
public.] 
 
(Report attached) 
 
(Central Ward);  

18. Confidential Minutes / 
Referrals (if any)  

To consider confidential matters not dealt with earlier in the 
evening and not separately listed below (if any). 
 
  

  

 
 



 
 

 

 

Executive 
Committee 

  

 

4th October 2011 
 

 

 Chair 
 

 

MINUTES Present: 
  

Councillor Carole Gandy (Chair), Councillor Michael Braley (Vice-Chair) 
and Councillors Juliet Brunner, Greg Chance, Malcolm Hall, 
Jinny Pearce, Debbie Taylor and Derek Taylor 
 

 Officers: 
 

 M Bough, C Flanagan, S Hanley, T Kristunas and J Staniland 
 

 Committee Services Officer: 
 

 D Sunman 
 

 
91. APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor 
Brandon Clayton. 
 

92. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillors Malcolm Hall and Jinny Pearce declared personal and 
prejudicial interests in Item 5 (Redditch Borough Council’s Grants 
Programme 2012/13 as detailed at Minute 95 below. 
 

93. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chair advised the Committee that the following item of 
business, scheduled on the Forward Plan to be dealt with at this 
evening’s meeting, had been rescheduled to a later meeting of the 
Committee: 
 
• Safeguarding Policy and Procedure 
 
The Chair also advised that she had accepted the following matters 
as Urgent Business: 
 
• IT Systems relating to Mapping and Planning – Request for 

Funding 
• Learndirect – Options for Future Operation 
 

(Not on the Forward Plan for this meeting) 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



   

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive    
Committee 

 
 
 

4th October 2011 

 
94. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that  
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Executive Committee held on 
13th September 2011 be confirmed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chair. 
 

95. REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL'S GRANTS PROGRAMME 
2012/13  
 
The Committee received a report which sought approval for 
changes to the Grants Policy 2011 and agreement of the funding 
split and themes for the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) 
grants process for 2012/13. 
 
Members were informed that paragraph 9.13 of the Voluntary and 
Community Sector Grants Policy, attached to the report at Appendix 
1 had been amended as follows: 
 
“Only 2 applications may be submitted by any one organisation 
under each theme of the grants programme.” 
 
Officers reported that the change was to ensure that a wide range 
of voluntary organisations could apply for grants through the 
programme. 
 
Officers explained the rationale for the figure of £15,000 being 
included for a 3 Year Training & Support Project. 
 
Officers were complimented on the ‘Shout About’ magazine which 
gave information on how the VCS could access funding from other 
sources. 
 
RECOMMENDED that  
 
1) the updated Voluntary Sector Grants Policy attached to 

the report at Appendix 1 be approved; 
 

2) the following themes and percentages of funding be 
allocated for the 2012/13 voluntary and community 
sector grants process:  (see Appendix 3 of the report for 
details on themes) 

 
Enterprising Communities 43.5% = £105,000 
Safe/ Clean & Green 8% = £20,000 
LSP theme - Health and 
Wellbeing 8% = £20,000 

Page 2



   

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive    
Committee 

 
 
 

4th October 2011 

 
 

LSP theme - Education & 
Learning 27% = £65,000 

LSP theme – Stronger 
Communities 6.5% = £15,000 

3 Year Training & Support 
Project 6.5% = £15,000 

and 
 

3) £1,000 (0.5%) be allocated from the Grants budget for the 
use by the Grants Team to deliver: 

 
a) networking and promotional events; 
b) advertising and communication support; 
c) newsletters. 

 
(Prior to consideration of this item, and in accordance with the 
requirements of Section 81 of the Local Government Act 2000, 
Councillors Malcolm Hall and Jinny Pearce declared personal and 
prejudicial interests in view of their involvement with VCS groups 
who might make applications for grant funding and left the meeting 
and took no part in voting.) 
 

96. IT SYSTEMS RELATING TO MAPPING AND PLANNING - 
REQUEST FOR FUNDING  
 
Members considered a report requesting funding for an urgent 
upgrade to the Council’s IT software. 
 
Officers reported that the upgrades required had been identified as 
necessary and would have been included in a capital bid in the 
financial year 2012/13. 
 
Members were informed that changes to procedures and data 
transfer formats in communicating data between Central and Local 
Government meant that the urgency of upgrading the software had 
increased and would avoid the risk of defaulting on a Public Sector 
Mapping Agreement (PSMA) contract and incurring a fine. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
1) a sum of £22,350 be allocated in the 2011/12 Capital 

Programme to enable the necessary IT upgrades and the 
Capital Programme be amended accordingly; and 
subject to which 

 

Page 3



   

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive    
Committee 

 
 
 

4th October 2011 

 
RESOLVED that 
 
2) authority be given for expenditure of up to the sum 

detailed in 1), above, for the reasons summarised in this 
report. 

 
97. HEWELL ROAD POOL - DISPOSAL  

 
The Committee received a report requesting approval to dispose of 
the site of Hewell Road Pool following opening of the new pool at 
Abbey Stadium. 
 
Members were advised that the site map, attached to the report, 
should have included the playground area.  Officers confirmed that 
a play area could be relocated on the site following development or 
replaced elsewhere using S 106 monies. 
 
Officers reported that the site was considered a ‘high risk’ and 
should be demolished on closure. 
 
RESOLVED that 

 
1) the site of Hewell Road Pool be declared surplus upon 

the opening of the new pool at the Abbey Stadium; 
 
2) arrangements be made for the demolition and security of 

the site prior to disposal; 
 
3) Officers be instructed to identify options for disposing of 

the site for residential use; 
 
4) authority be given for expenditure for up to the sum 

detailed in 5), below, for the reasons summarised in the 
report; and 
 

RECOMMENDED that 
 
5) a sum of up to £210,000 be allocated in the Capital 

Programme to cover the cost of demolition and 
security of the site and the Capital programme be 
amended accordingly.  

 
98. LEARNDIRECT - OPTIONS FOR FUTURE OPERATION  

 
Members considered a report on the future operation of the 
Learndirect adult learning service based at the Greenlands 
Business Centre following withdrawal of funding from the University 
for Industry (UFI) for the forthcoming academic year 2011/12 and 

Page 4



   

ExecutiveExecutiveExecutiveExecutive    
Committee 

 
 
 

4th October 2011 

 
subsequent negotiations with North East Worcestershire College 
(NEWC). 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
1) the contents of the report be noted; and 

 
RECOMMENDED that 

 
2) subject to formal endorsement by NEWC Board, the 

funding agreement / contract proposed by NEWC be 
accepted and that the Learndirect services be rebranded 
and run on a NEWC franchise basis. 

 
99. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 
The Committee received the minutes of the meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 6th September 2011. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee be received and noted. 
 

100. MINUTES / REFERRALS - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE, EXECUTIVE PANELS ETC.  
 
There were no minutes or referrals under this item. 
 

101. ADVISORY PANELS - UPDATE REPORT  
 
The Committee received an update on the work of the Council’s 
Advisory Panels and similar bodies. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
the report be noted. 
 

102. ACTION MONITORING  
 
The Committee received the latest Action Monitoring report. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
the report be noted. 
 

 
 

 Chair 

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and closed at 7.38 pm 

Page 5



Page 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\7\8\AI00006874\GrittingSnowClearanceReport0.doc/rb/201011/amended241
011/ds/amended 031111rb/amended 041111/rb/sms/4..11.11/amended 071111/rb 

 

GRITTING AND SNOW CLEARANCE – REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
APPROACH 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Brandon Clayton – 

Housing, Local Environment and 
Health 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 
Relevant Head of Service Guy Revans – Head of Environmental 

Services 
Wards Affected All Wards 
Ward Councillors Consulted N/A 
Key Decision  

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 This report details the Council’s joint approach to gritting and snow 

clearance, working with Worcestershire County Council (WCC) and 
Bromsgrove District Council, and proposes the Council’s policy in 
relation to gritting and snow clearance on its own land.  Members are 
asked to note the actions which resulted from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Gritting Review and subsequent meetings with 
WCC.  The report also provides Members with information on how 
gritting and snow clearance is carried out and also information on how 
disruptions to waste collection services are handled during bad 
weather events.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 
 

1) the following policy be adopted with regard to gritting and 
snow clearance: 

 
Redditch Borough Council will strive to keep the following 
areas, listed in priority order, clear of snow and ice and safe 
to use: 

a) Crematorium and cemeteries to allow funerals to 
continue; 

b) Redditch Borough Council staff car parks to ensure that 
there are suitable parking areas for Council staff who are 
getting into work to provide essential services; 

c) Key Council sites like the Town Hall and District Centres 
to assist local shops and businesses and enable 
residents to access services; 

Agenda Item 6Page 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\7\8\AI00006874\GrittingSnowClearanceReport0.doc/rb/201011/amended241
011/ds/amended 031111rb/amended 041111/rb/sms/4..11.11/amended 071111/rb 

 

d) Gritting / snow clearance at other areas will only be 
carried out subject to available resources;  

 
and to RESOLVE that 

 
2) the Council will not provide grit bins on any highway land 

but may provide grit bins on its own land to enable gritting 
to take place, for example at Leisure sites; and 

 
3) further publicity be undertaken to ensure that residents are 

aware of how the Council will deal with gritting / snow 
clearance and what to do when bad weather affects their 
waste collection service. 

 
3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Financial Implications 
 
3.1 Gritting and snow clearance work is carried out using existing labour 

resources and an existing budget for purchase of rock salt which is 
purchased via Worcestershire County Council who have an effective 
procurement arrangement in place.  Careful management of rock salt is 
needed to ensure that it is used effectively and lasts throughout the 
winter season. 

 
 Legal Implications 
 
3.2 Redditch Borough Council has no responsibility for gritting or clearing 

snow from roads or footpaths, this falls to WCC as the Highways 
Authority.  However, as an owner of land the Council needs to 
undertake reasonable endeavours to make that land safe. 

 
3.3 The Legal Services Manager has been consulted with regard to the 

legal implications.  
 
 Service / Operational Implications  
 
3.4 Redditch Borough Council is not responsible for gritting roads and 

footpaths as this falls to WCC as the Highways Authority.  The primary 
purpose of this report is to set out the Council’s priorities in relation to 
gritting and snow clearance of Council land and the report 
recommends the adoption of the policy which outlines how the Council 
will approach gritting and snow clearance.  

 
3.5 Further to the O&S Task and Finish Review of gritting and snow 

clearance which was carried out in Spring 2011 and subsequent 

Page 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\7\8\AI00006874\GrittingSnowClearanceReport0.doc/rb/201011/amended241
011/ds/amended 031111rb/amended 041111/rb/sms/4..11.11/amended 071111/rb 

 

meetings, a number of actions have been carried forward.  These 
include: 

 
i) Further improved communications between WCC and RBC 

regarding winter maintenance activities; 

ii) Improved mapping of gritting route maps; 

iii) Continued partnership working on salt supply and sharing of 
resources; 

iv) Option of additional grit bins (see recommendation 2); 

v) Sharing information on local contacts who may be able to assist 
with winter maintenance operations. 

 
3.6 This report clarifies a number of issues in relation to gritting and snow 

clearance: 
 

a) Gritting Redditch Borough Council land – local policy; 

b) Partnership working with WCC and BDC; 

c) Gritting of roads and paths; 

d) Provision and filling of grit bins; 

e) Disruption to waste collection services. 
 

Gritting Redditch Borough Council land 
 
3.7 Carrying out gritting and snow clearance will always be subject to 

having available resources and in the first instance, operatives 
delivering services which cannot be delivered in snow and ice 
conditions – such as mechanical sweeping – will be diverted onto 
gritting and/or snow clearance.  The table below summarises how 
resources are deployed onto gritting and snow clearance tasks: 

 
Type of weather event Resource available 
Ice / frost Mechanical sweeper drivers 
Light snow All cleansing operatives 
Heavy snow All cleansing, grounds maintenance, 

waste collection and housing 
operatives 

 
3.8 The decision to undertake gritting and/or snow clearance is based on a 

number of factors including:  
 

i) Information received via WCC; 

ii) Local conditions / localities, such as the crematorium site; 

iii) Nature of the frost and prevailing weather conditions; 

Page 9



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\7\8\AI00006874\GrittingSnowClearanceReport0.doc/rb/201011/amended241
011/ds/amended 031111rb/amended 041111/rb/sms/4..11.11/amended 071111/rb 

 

iv) Resources available; 

v) Any previous gritting recently carried out (for instance, if this was 
done the day before, it may not need to be done again); 

vi) Crews when on site will also make assessments about where 
gritting is needed – for example, half a car park may have 
thawed by the time they arrive there. 

 
3.9 The Council treats a small number of areas and it is recommended that 

the Council adopt a policy to clarify the gritting work that will be carried 
out: 

 
a) Crematorium and cemeteries to allow funerals to continue; 
 
b) Redditch Borough Council staff car parks to ensure that there are 

suitable parking areas for council staff who are getting into work to 
provide essential services; 

 
c) Key Council sites like the Town Hall and district centres to assist 

local shops and businesses and enable residents to access 
services. 

 
3.10 Gritting / snow clearance at other areas including Council sheltered 

accommodation and leisure sites will only be carried out subject to 
available resources; gritting/snow clearance at Council owned 
sheltered accommodation will be to allow access for Home Support 
Service Officers. 
 

3.11 Where gritting / snow clearance is carried out, this will be done to allow 
a sensible route for pedestrians and/or vehicles to access properties or 
facilities.  

 
3.12 The Council is procuring specialist equipment to assist in gritting and 

snow clearance activities.  This will be funded from within existing 
budgets. 

 
Partnership working with WCC and BDC 

 
3.13 Effective partnership working has developed between Redditch 

Borough Council, Worcestershire County Council and Bromsgrove 
District Council.  During bad weather events, regular conference calls 
are held where information is shared with regards to weather 
conditions, priority work and resources available.  The Council will 
continue to work in partnership with Worcestershire County Council 
and Bromsgrove District Council to co-ordinate the effective use of 
resources to enable gritting and snow clearance to take place at 
agreed prioritised locations. 

Page 10



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\7\8\AI00006874\GrittingSnowClearanceReport0.doc/rb/201011/amended241
011/ds/amended 031111rb/amended 041111/rb/sms/4..11.11/amended 071111/rb 

 

 
Gritting of Roads and Paths 

 
3.14 WCC carry out gritting of primary and secondary routes when there is 

the risk of snow or ice forming on the roads and detailed gritting routes 
are shown on the WCC website.  With limited resources and available 
finance it is essential that the Primary Network is treated first and the 
Secondary Network will be treated in severe weather conditions and 
only after the Primary Network has been successfully treated.  It is not 
reasonably practicable to provide the service on all roads or to ensure 
all surfaces are kept free of ice or snow at all times, even on the 
treated parts of the network. 

 
3.15 WCC do not generally treat footways as priority is always given to the 

road network.  However, in prolonged periods of adverse conditions 
footways in town centres will be treated after the road network has 
been successfully treated. 

 
3.16 Redditch Borough Council does not carry out gritting of any roads other 

than at the request of WCC.  Redditch Borough Council treats a small 
number of areas (see section 3.9 above) and will also carry out gritting 
/ snow clearance through agreement with WCC at identified sites which 
WCC own, as part of our partnership working to maximise resources 
during bad weather events.  

 
Provision and filling of grit bins 

 
3.17 WCC provide grit bins at strategic points across the County and the 

locations are shown on plans which are available on the WCC website.  
In siting a bin, the County take into account various criteria such as 
proximity to a junction and gradient.  During bad weather events, WCC 
may ask the Council to fill grit bins as their resources may be deployed 
on other emergency works; these agreements are made on a day to 
day basis through regular conference calls.  WCC make available 
additional salt supplies if the Council is asked to undertake any work on 
their behalf. 

 
3.18 Owing to the cost of providing and maintaining grit bins and a need to 

ensure consistency with the approach by WCC, Redditch Borough 
Council does not provide any grit bins on any WCC land (see 
recommendation).  Grit bins may be provided at certain council owned 
sites – such as Forge Mill Museum – so that there is a ready supply of 
grit which on site staff can use as needed.  

 

Page 11



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\7\8\AI00006874\GrittingSnowClearanceReport0.doc/rb/201011/amended241
011/ds/amended 031111rb/amended 041111/rb/sms/4..11.11/amended 071111/rb 

 

Disruption to Waste Collection Services 
 
3.19 An effective decision making and communications process has been 

put in place when waste collection services are disrupted by bad 
weather events.  Operational teams will make decisions as to whether 
it is safe to make collections based on a number of factors.  Officers 
rely on being able to get from and to locations using specialised 
vehicles.  They must think of the safety of other road users, 
pedestrians and Council staff and make sure they do not put anyone at 
risk.  Refuse vehicles can have a weight of up to 26 tonnes and they 
are much bigger than most household delivery vehicles.  It is essential 
that people do not drive on roads when drivers make a judgement that 
is not safe to do so. 

 
3.20 Once decisions are made, regular updates are issued at 08:00, 10:00 

and 12:00 daily.  Information is provided to Members, Customer 
Service Advisors, the Communications Team and senior Officers with 
alerts and information being posted on the website, phone lines and 
other social media like ‘Facebook’ and ‘Twitter’.  It is important to give 
out a clear and simple message – often this will be to ‘leave out your 
bin until we have been to collect it’.  Last year this process proved to be 
very successful and bad weather Frequently Asked Questions are 
provided on the website. 

 
3.21 Further publicity is planned to ensure that residents are aware of how 

the Council will deal with gritting / snow clearance and what to do when 
bad weather affects their waste collection service. 

 
Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  

 
3.22 There has been no public / stakeholder consultation or service 

sampling on this subject.  However, when there are bad weather 
events of snow and ice, the Council will receive a large number of calls 
from residents and businesses.  It is therefore important to have a clear 
approach to gritting and snow clearance and to provide as much 
information as possible through the Council’s website.  Frequently 
Asked Questions and information are available on the Council’s 
website and on the WCC website. 

 
3.23 Direct.gov provides advice regarding clearing snow and ice from 

pavements as follows: 
 

“Prevent slips 
Pay extra attention to clear snow and ice from steps and steep 
pathways - you might need to use more salt on these areas.  If you 
clear snow and ice yourself, be careful - don’t make the pathways more 
dangerous by causing them to refreeze.  But don’t be put off clearing 

Page 12



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\7\8\AI00006874\GrittingSnowClearanceReport0.doc/rb/201011/amended241
011/ds/amended 031111rb/amended 041111/rb/sms/4..11.11/amended 071111/rb 

 

paths because you’re afraid someone will get injured.  Remember, 
people walking on snow and ice have responsibility to be careful 
themselves.  Follow the advice below to make sure you clear the 
pathway safely and effectively.” 

 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 There are two key risks associated with this issue: 
 
 Business risk – failure to carry out effective gritting / snow clearance at 

prioritised agreed locations will result in a loss of business and 
negative impact, both financial and reputation. 

 
 Social risk – failure to carry out effective gritting / snow clearance at 

prioritised agreed locations can have a negative impact on local 
residents and communities – e.g. access to local shops. 

 
5. APPENDICES 
 
 None. 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 None. 

 
7. KEY 

 
O&S = The Council’s Overview & Scrutiny (Committee) 
WCC = Worcestershire County Council 
 

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Sue Horrobin 
E Mail: sue.horrobin@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel: (01527) 64252 extn. 3706 

Page 13



Page 14



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

:\executive\2011\151111\csp merger report - 15.11.2011\10.10.2011.nab 
Amended 20.10.2011.nab/amended 27.10.11/ds/sms/4.11.11 

NORTH WORCESTERSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIPS  - 
PROPOSED MERGER 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Juliet Brunner, Portfolio 

Holder for Community Safety and 
Regulatory Services. 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes. 
Relevant Head of Service Angela Heighway, Head of 

Community Services. 
Wards Affected All Wards 
Ward Councillors Consulted  
Key Decision    
  

Yes. 

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 In order to discharge its duties in relation to crime reduction under the 

Crime and Disorder Act 1988, Redditch Borough Council currently 
hosts and participates in the Redditch Community Safety Partnership 
(RCSP).  The purpose of this report is to update members on the 
issues currently affecting the RCSP and seek Members approval to the 
Strategic Partnership arrangements being changed.  Specifically, this 
report sets out proposals for the merger of the Redditch Community 
Safety Partnership (RCSP) with Bromsgrove Community Safety 
Partnership (BCSP) and Wyre Forest Community Safety Partnership 
(WFCSP).  This would result in the creation of a North Worcestershire 
Community Safety Partnership (NWCSP). 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The Executive Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 
 
1) Redditch Borough Council approve the merger of Redditch 

Community Safety Partnership with Bromsgrove 
Community Safety Partnership and Wyre Forest Community 
Safety Partnership resulting in the creation of a North 
Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership; and 

 
2) subject to endorsement by each of the Responsible 

Authorities of the merger, authority be delegated to Officers 
to take the necessary steps to implement the merger, 
including the establishment of governance arrangements 
and entering into any agreements, also subject to 
endorsement by the relevant Community Safety 
Partnerships;  

 

Agenda Item 7Page 15



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

:\executive\2011\151111\csp merger report - 15.11.2011\10.10.2011.nab 
Amended 20.10.2011.nab/amended 27.10.11/ds/sms/4.11.11 

and to RESOLVE that 
 
3) Members note the continuation of locality-based 

operational and responsive partnership working through 
the operational Tasking Group and its theme groups; and 

 
4) Members note the intention to review the County-wide 

partnership arrangements by 2014. 
 
3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Financial Implications 
 
3.1 RCSP receives Home Office grant each year to fund community safety 

activity.  In recent years this grant has reduced and will face further 
reductions in 2012/13.  Table 1 shows the level of Home Office grant 
received by, or expected to be allocated to, RCSP. 

 
 Table 1 
 

Financial year Funding 
2010/11 £90,327 
2011/12 £107,400 
2012/13 £56,086 

  
3.2 Furthermore, from April 2013 onwards, whatever Home Office grant 

remains will transfer to the West Mercia Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC).  The PCC will have considerable freedom to 
allocate such resources that may remain as he or she deems 
appropriate.  This may result in CSPs receiving no funding via this 
route. 

 
3.3 At present Home Office grant is used by RCSP to fund a number of 

staff, on fixed term contracts, hosted by Redditch Council and 
Worcestershire County Council.  Home Office grant is also used by 
RCSP to fund project delivery.  Reductions in this funding will 
challenge RCSPs ability to retain staff and deliver projects.  Community 
Safety staff who are mainstream funded will not be affected by the 
grant funding arrangements via the PCC. 

 
3.4 At present there is not an intention to pursue a shared staffing structure 

across North Worcestershire.  Bromsgrove and Redditch currently 
operate a shared community safety team.  There is ongoing dialogue in 
respect of support to a revised NWCSP which will release Officer 
capacity across the three Districts. 

 
 

Page 16



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

:\executive\2011\151111\csp merger report - 15.11.2011\10.10.2011.nab 
Amended 20.10.2011.nab/amended 27.10.11/ds/sms/4.11.11 

3.5 At this stage, there are no cashable savings to be realised as a result 
of the merged Partnership arrangements, however, the benefits of such 
a shared Partnership arrangement are outlined within the report at 3.20 
to 3.24. 

 
 Legal Implications 
 
3.6 RCSP is a statutory partnership which is responsible for co-ordinating 

the response of local agencies to crime and disorder and associated 
issues (namely substance misuse, anti-social behaviour, other 
problems adversely affecting the environment and reducing re-
offending).  Under section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
Redditch Borough Council is a “Responsible Authority”.  As such the 
Council has two main legal duties:- 

 
a) under sections 5 and 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 the 

Council and the Police in partnership, are required to collaborate 
with each other to develop and implement strategies and plans 
for dealing with crime and disorder and associated issues; and 

 
b) under section 17 of the same Act, the Council is required to 

have due regard to the impact of each of its functions on crime 
and disorder and associated issues. 

 
3.7 In a NWCSP, Redditch Borough Council would retain these 

responsibilities.  Any conflicts of interest between the member 
authorities may require an ‘authority lead’ for each Council.  It is 
proposed that this would be passed up to Director level and Head of 
Service.  
 

3.8 The other Responsible Authorities within RCSP are Worcestershire 
County Council, West Mercia Police, West Mercia Police Service, 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire Fire and Rescue Authority, 
Worcestershire Primary Care Trusts and the West Mercia Probation 
Trust. 

 
3.9 The additional Responsible Authorities under a NWCSP would be 

Bromsgrove District Council and Wyre Forest District Council. 
 
3.10 Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 as amended by S97(3) 

of the Police Reform Act 2002 and S108 of the Policing and Crime Act 
2009, sets out the circumstances in which the Responsible Authorities 
for each CSP area can join together to work as a combined partnership 
in order to carry out their functions under section 6 to 7 of the Act.  Any 
such merger must be in the interests of reducing crime and disorder, 
combating misuse of drugs and / or reducing re-offending.  

Page 17



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

:\executive\2011\151111\csp merger report - 15.11.2011\10.10.2011.nab 
Amended 20.10.2011.nab/amended 27.10.11/ds/sms/4.11.11 

It is also important that all the relevant responsible authorities have 
agreed to take such action. 

 
 Service / Operational Implications  

 
3.11 Over the last ten years, partnership working has contributed to a 

sustained fall in crime and disorder across all communities in North 
Worcestershire.  This has been supported by the local CSPs.  The 
landscape in which the three CSPs operate has changed and is 
continuing to change.  In multi-tier local authority areas the Home 
Office has encouraged CSPs to look at their structures and consider 
merging where this would create greater coterminosity across agency 
boundaries, stronger strategic influence but not affect the delivery of 
crime reduction.    

 
3.12 As a result of this changing landscape the Worcestershire Responsible 

Authorities decided to review how the CSPs were operating and would 
be able to operate in the future.  Also a number of Partners were 
highlighting logistical problems servicing the current partnership 
meetings and activities at the strategic decision making level. 

 
 The current partnership landscape in Worcestershire 

 
3.13 There are currently four statutory CSPs in Worcestershire: South 

Worcestershire (a merged partnership of Malvern, Worcester and 
Wychavon districts), Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre Forest.  Joint 
working between the CSPs on both strategic and operational matters is 
well established although on an informal basis.  Each CSP has 
operational Tasking Groups that deliver the projects/interventions for 
the Partnership within the District.  These local Tasking Groups are 
supported by directly employed local authority Officers.  There is no 
proposal to change the local direct delivery arrangements at this time. 
 

3.14 In addition there is a countywide strategic group, the Safer 
Communities Board, made up of senior Responsible Authorities 
representatives and wider stakeholders.  This Board, through a 
Community Safety Agreement, sets the strategic priorities countywide 
and provides funding for CSPs.  This Board also has a statutory 
standing.  Sitting alongside the partnerships are a significant number of 
other groups that support the CSPs and the Safer Communities Board.  
There is also a higher spatial level strategic approach to community 
safety through the West Mercia Criminal Justice Board, which includes 
senior criminal justice and upper tier Local Authority representation and 
is currently in part preparing for the introduction of the new Police and 
Crime Commissioners (PCCs). 
 
 

Page 18



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

:\executive\2011\151111\csp merger report - 15.11.2011\10.10.2011.nab 
Amended 20.10.2011.nab/amended 27.10.11/ds/sms/4.11.11 

 Consultation on future partnership structures and priorities  
 

3.15 A Task and Finish Group was commissioned by the Safer Communities 
Board to undertake a review of partnership working within 
Worcestershire.  A key element of this work was to confidentially 
interview senior representatives of the Responsible Authorities, CSPs 
and key stakeholders to establish their views of current and potential 
future working arrangements.  These interviews were undertaken by an 
Inspector from West Mercia Police who was independent from the 
current arrangements.  

 
3.16 There were a wide range of views and observations amongst all 

Responsible Authorities however there was unanimous agreement that 
the current status quo of four CSPs was unsustainable and two options 
were considered:- 

 
a) to restructure into one County based CSP or; and 
 
b) to move to two CSPs, north and south and the Safer 

Communities Board as the strategic County Group.  
 

3.17 At the meeting of the Safer Communities Board on the 22nd September 
2011 by majority vote the recommendation was that “the Board agrees 
to the restructuring of the current CSP arrangements into two CSPs 
(North and South Worcestershire) and one County Strategic 
Community Safety Board and recommends this decision to the 
Worcestershire Responsible Authorities”. 
 

3.18 A number of Responsible Authorities agreed that any partnership 
arrangements would need to be reviewed when there was a 
relationship developed with the new PCC. 

 
 
3.19 The report outlining the findings of the Safer Communities Board Task 

and Finish Group (Appendix 1) has been presented to the following:- 
 

a) the Worcestershire Chief Executive Panel on 16th September 
2011 were in support for a North Worcestershire and South 
Worcestershire CSP arrangement; 

 
b) the Safer Communities Board on 22nd September 2011 

recommended by a majority of the Responsible Authorities for a 
merged North CSP (subject to Responsible Authorities formal 
approval); and 

 

Page 19



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

:\executive\2011\151111\csp merger report - 15.11.2011\10.10.2011.nab 
Amended 20.10.2011.nab/amended 27.10.11/ds/sms/4.11.11 

c) Redditch Community Safety Partnership have been part of the 
Task and Finish Group and have supported the proposal for a 
merged North CSP.   

 
 Benefits of Merging  
 
3.20 Redditch CSP have supported the proposal to create a NWCSP. 
 
3.21 The greatest benefit in creating a merged partnership is viewed to be 

the release of Officer capacity to allow the operational staff time to 
deliver community based initiatives and projects to the communities of 
Redditch. 

 
3.22 With recent funding announcements all partners are having to review 

their ability to attend a wide range of partnership meetings.  Whilst not 
an issue at the moment there is the real potential that less senior 
representatives of Partner organisations may not be able to service 4 
CSPs across the County. 

 
3.23 A merged CSP will significantly address this issue and ensure the 

correct representation at a strategic level. 
 
3.24 Other benefits include:-  

 
a) the new partnership would be coterminous with West Mercia ‘s 

North Worcestershire Basic Command Unit and would reflect 
the local authority shared services ethos; 

  
b) a reduction in the number of meetings that partnership Officers 

and statutory members are expected to attend; 
 
c) pooling of expertise, knowledge, skills and resources to more 

effectively tackle crime and disorder; and 
 
d) achieve enhanced local delivery by effectively using limited 

resources on a co-ordinated basis across the three districts. 
 
3.25 Any structures, resources and working arrangements put in place will 

need to be judged on this basis.  Officers are currently drafting the 
governance and working arrangements. 

 
 Way Forward 
 
3.26 Home Office Ministers are clear that they see local partnership working 

as crucial, and that they do not wish to dictate local structures and 
mechanisms.  
 

Page 20



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

:\executive\2011\151111\csp merger report - 15.11.2011\10.10.2011.nab 
Amended 20.10.2011.nab/amended 27.10.11/ds/sms/4.11.11 

Partnerships are free to arrange themselves according to local need 
and in order to facilitate this and the Home Office has simplified the 
process for merging CSPs down into three stages as follows:- 

 
a) Stage 1 
  

All Responsible Authorities across the areas wishing to merge 
must submit a joint application.  Before this can be done they 
will all need to agree to the merger and must also have 
consulted with their local stakeholders on the merits of the 
proposed merger.  
  

b) Stage 2 
   

The Home Office Community Safety Unit will consider the 
application submitted; if the application demonstrates that all 
partners are in favour of the merger and that it will be in the 
interests of reducing crime and disorder, combating misuse of 
drugs and / or reducing re-offending, the application will be 
forwarded to Ministers for approval.  
  

c) Stage 3 
  

If Ministerial approval is received the Home Office Community 
Safety Unit will inform the partnerships involved and liaise with 
Home Office Legal Advisers for an order to be raised.  A copy of 
the order, showing the date on which the partnerships will be 
legally merged will be sent to the partnership.   
 

3.27 Once approval is confirmed then Lead Officers for community safety 
across North Worcestershire will facilitate the required process.  

 
 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  
 
3.28 A North Worcestershire CSP would provide the right strategic 

infrastructure and environment for supporting local implementation 
teams to deliver the vision of Redditch, “an enterprising community 
which is safe, clean and green”. 
 

3.29 There are no associated impacts to customers with the merge of 
Redditch CSP.  

 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT  

 
 The main risks of not merging the CSPs are that partners may not be 

able to properly resource individual CSPs.  The merged partnership will 
be coterminous with West Mercia Police area.  

Page 21



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

:\executive\2011\151111\csp merger report - 15.11.2011\10.10.2011.nab 
Amended 20.10.2011.nab/amended 27.10.11/ds/sms/4.11.11 

Reducing the number of meetings that partners are expected to attend 
will enable Partners to dedicate more time to delivery.  The future of 
community safety funding is uncertain.  By pooling expertise, 
knowledge, skills and resources at a strategic level will support the 
continued delivery of initiatives to tackle crime and disorder in all the 
Council areas. 
 

5. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 - Safer Communities Board - Future Worcestershire 
Community Safety Partnership arrangements  

 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Guidance on merging Community Safety Partnership Areas Under 
Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 as Amended by Section  
97(3) of the Police Reform Act 2002 and Section 108 of the Policing 
and Crime Act 2009. 
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/crime/csp-merger-
guidance?view=Binary. 

 
7. KEY 
 

CSPs - Community Safety Partnerships. 
PCC - Police and Crime Commissioner. 
NWCSP - North Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership. 
RCSP - Redditch Community Safety Partnership. 
BCSP - Bromsgrove Community Safety Partnership. 
WFCSP - Wyre Forest Community Safety Partnership. 
 

 
 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:   Angela Heighway, Head of Community Services 
E Mail:   a.heighway@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel:  (01527) 64252 Ext. 3122  

Page 22



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

Safer Communities Board 
22 September 2011 

Future Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership 
arrangements 

 
 
Purpose of Report 1. To consider the current issues and challenges facing 

community safety partnership working and how future working 
arrangements In Worcestershire can be organised to best meet 
these challenges. 
 
2. To propose outline options for future partnership structures 
and working arrangements that better target strategic priorities, 
taking account of the views and observations of Responsible 
Authorities and key stakeholders. The report is not a detailed 
business case.    
 

Background 
 

1. Introduction: 
Community Safety responsibilities are primarily set out in the  
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended), with specific 
reference to s17 of the Act: 
Responsible Authorities, which includes Local Authorities, the 
Police, the Police Authority, Fire and Rescue Authority, Primary 
Care Trusts, and Probation Trusts, are required to develop 
policy and operational approaches to prevent crime and 
disorder, combating the misuse of drugs and alcohol, and anti 
social behaviour and other behaviour likely to adversely affect 
the local environment and to reduce reoffending.  
This report sets out future policy and funding issues, the 
operational landscape for community safety and considers the 
views and requirements of Responsible Authorities and key 
partners, in the revision of future partnership working and the 
keys issues that need to be addressed to position 
Worcestershire to meet some significant challenges ahead.  
 
2. The current partnership landscape in Worcestershire: 
 
There are currently four statutory Community Safety 
Partnerships in Worcestershire: South Worcestershire, 
Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre Forest. They operate in 
localities and focus upon local delivery and partnership working 
on community safety issues and fulfilling their duties under the 
Act.  
There is a County Strategic Group, the Safer Communities 
Board, made up of senior Responsible Authorities 

Page 23



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

representatives and wider stakeholders, which through a 
Community Safety Agreement, sets the strategic priorities for 
the Countywide partnerships and provides funding for CSPs 
and wider s17 activities.  
Sitting alongside the partnerships are a significant number of 
other groups that support CSPs and the SCB.  
There is also a higher spatial level strategic approach to 
community safety through the West Mercia Criminal Justice 
Board, which includes senior criminal justice and upper tier 
Local Authority representation and is currently in part preparing 
for the introduction of the new Police and Crime 
Commissioners. 
 
The partnerships have been subject to a range of funding and 
performance frameworks over a number of years and to some 
extent have developed organically. The latest arrangements 
through the Comprehensive Area Assessment, Local Area 
Agreement, the Place Survey and National Indicators have 
gone and Partnerships can now decide how they are best 
organised.  
The Safer Communities Board has agreed that a review of 
community safety partnership working across Worcestershire is 
required against the backdrop of changing Government 
priorities, severe pressures upon public finances, 60% 
reductions community safety fund grant, the introduction of 
Police and Crime Commissioners from November 2012 and the 
logistical problems faced by partner organisations in servicing 
current partnership meetings and activities. 
 
3. The emerging national policy landscape: 
The Government recognises the successes of community 
safety partnership working and its contribution to reducing 
crime over many years. However with significant pressures 
outlined above in public sector funding affecting all Responsible 
Authorities, policy changes in criminal justice and community 
safety, the reduction of Whitehall control and top down 
performance management and the development of localism 
with closer working with communities and the voluntary sector, 
the Government has clearly signalled that local areas are free 
to operate their statutory functions in whichever way they 
believe will work most effectively.   
There are a number of key issues that require detailed 
consideration and will influence how partnerships most 
effectively carry out their roles and responsibilities. These are 
briefly summarised as follows:   
 

Page 24



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

i. Public sector resource reductions. 
There are reductions of 60% in community safety fund grant for 
use across Worcestershire between 2009/10 and 2012/13. This 
Home Office fund which is paid to Worcestershire County 
Council and provides revenue for CSPs and other key activities 
(see Table 1 page 9), will transfer to the PCC from April 2013, 
with the PCC completely free to commission and distribute 
funding as they choose. This is a significant risk to partnerships 
and how they currently fund their activities, including staffing 
resources.  
This is compounded by significant budget reductions for Local 
Authorities and other Responsible Authorities. 
Capital funding from the Home Office has also completely 
ceased. This was £176,000 in 2009/10 and £88,000 in 2010/11.  
Difficult decisions about how future funding is allocated and 
utilised will have to be made and there will need to be a 
reconsideration as to what other resources, community safety 
or otherwise can be made available or targeted to support 
community safety priority objectives. In future it will be vital to 
ensure that Worcestershire is able to highlight the effectiveness 
of meeting community safety priorities, to obtain grant funding 
support from the PCC, when control over these budgets passes 
to them. 
 
ii. Current Government policy 
The Government has recognised the importance of partnership 
working in ensuring safer communities and reconfirmed its 
support for the principles of the Crime and Disorder Act and 
s17 Responsible Authorities. 
Subject to some minor changes, the most recent statutory 
Instrument (No 1230, 2011 The Crime and Disorder 
Formulation and Implementation of Strategy regulations 2011), 
confirms retention of the functions and requirements of CSPs 
and for a County Strategy Group to prepare a Community 
Safety Agreement on behalf of the Responsible Authorities. 
 
The Government has set out its key Criminal Justice and 
Community Safety priorities in a number of policy and strategy 
statements covering, Domestic Abuse, Sexual Violence, Drug 
and Alcohol recovery Reducing Reoffending and Preventing 
Violent Extremism. Additionally there are specific Criminal 
Justice reforms (introduction of Police and Crime 
Commissioner), commissioning the voluntary sector, Localism, 
abolition of top down targets (LAA/NIs), performance by results 
and the wider Government policy agenda on welfare reform 
and economic growth.  

Page 25



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

The  recent riots in England have reemphasised Governments 
focus on some of these issues, notably reducing reoffending 
and the social and economic prospects of some sections of the 
community, which reflects the wider policy focus beyond just 
criminal justice, that is required  to tackle these priority areas, 
reflecting the cross cutting nature of the community safety 
agenda. 
 
There is a clear focus upon recovery and rehabilitation and the 
need for a multi agency approach to areas such as housing, 
training and employment, life skills and personal development, 
to ensure reductions in reoffending and substance misuse. This 
will require joint commissioning and better joining up of 
operational activities through clear strategic planning, to ensure 
effective interventions and support for localities.      
These are key points for Partnerships to consider and how their 
strategic and operational activities are structured and operated, 
in a way that most effectively meets outcomes for local people.  
    
iii. Police and Crime Commissioners: This is a central piece 
of Government policy under the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Bill currently progressing through Parliament. 
The PCC will be established at West Mercia level from 
November 2012, with a range of powers including a reciprocal 
duty to cooperate with CSPs and to have regard to each others 
priorities for the purpose of fulfilling the s17 responsibilities. 
PCCs will as stated above take responsibility for community 
safety grant. The PCC could make Community safety grants to 
other organisations and so it will be critical to ensure that 
Worcestershire has very clear and robust strategic and 
partnership plans that also meet the PCC priorities. Currently 
preparation for the introduction of the PCC and any transitional 
arrangements is being made through the West Mercia Criminal 
Justice Board and Worcestershire is represented by WCC 
alongside the other Upper Tier local Authorities. 
 
Arrangements will also be taking place to set up the scrutiny 
arrangements around the PCC function through the Police and 
Crime Panel for West Mercia, which will be coordinated with 
key partners by WCC. 
 
Whatever partnership arrangements are agreed in 
Worcestershire, they will have to be effective and 
straightforward for the PCC to deal with at a WM spatial level.  
 
Key changes to Police structures and operating levels, together 

Page 26



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

with the strategic alliance with the Warwickshire Police force, 
will place increasing pressures on the Police regarding their 
input and at what level this can take place. 
 
4. Worcestershire Strategic Community safety priorities:  
These are set out in the SCB Community Safety Agreement 
2011/12. There is a focus upon Countywide coordination of 
strategic priorities: reducing reoffending, domestic abuse, drug 
and alcohol misuse, ASB, Preventing Violent Extremism. These 
have to be the focus for partnership working, although 
recognising there will always be local issues that may fall 
outside this wide range of the current priorities. These priorities 
align with Government priorities and are therefore likely to be to 
a significant extent reflective of the PCC s expectations.   
 
i. Reducing Reoffending: 
This is a very complex area of work being developed in 
Worcestershire and also across other areas of West Mercia. 
Local Authorities and CSPs have a significant contribution to 
make in relation to building on existing work relating to Prolific 
and Priority Offenders and the wider services such as housing, 
youth work, drugs and alcohol reduction and education, which 
are key to the pathways to reducing reoffending. 
 
Working at West Mercia Criminal Justice Board (WMCJB) level 
and in future with the PCC, is a challenge because of the size 
of West Mercia and the number of Local authorities and 
partners to be engaged. This will be the sort of issue that the 
WMCJB has to be able to manage effectively and particularly 
with the advent of the PCC, where we must be able to work in 
unison. Top level WMCJB strategic agreement has to filter into 
organisations operational activity and effective internal 
communications within partnership organisations is critical to 
achieve this. It will be vital to ensure that full partnership 
engagement takes place at the outset as West Mercia Police 
begin to develop their new approach to IOM and reducing 
reoffending. 
The Government will be monitoring this work closely as 
reducing prison numbers, reducing reoffending and getting 
people off welfare and into work are major policy objectives. 
 
ii. Drug and Alcohol misuse: 
 
The Drug and Alcohol Action Team (DAAT), which is hosted by 
WCC is clearly the lead partnership agency for the delivery of a 
reduction in drug and alcohol misuse through commissioning of 

Page 27



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

services across the County. There is close working in a number 
of areas although some CSPs and partners are more involved 
than others. There is an excellent opportunity for the new 
contractor appointed by DAAT in April 2011, CRI, to develop 
new relationships with CSPs and partners and make a real 
difference in localities. The Recovery agenda (moving to 
sustaining long term recovery from drug and alcohol misuse), 
will enable good links to be made with other agencies, 
particularly the voluntary sector and to engage with volunteers, 
who are seen as a key to supporting this new approach. There 
is clearly a role for CSPs to support this work in their localities.  
 
iii. Domestic Abuse: 
There is very good partnership working on DA and in particular 
through the DA Forum and the accredited activity of the Multi 
Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC) and 
Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVA), which are 
undoubtedly are having a very significant impact upon 
safeguarding and protecting families and individuals. There are 
strong links between agencies and provider organisations. The 
new responsibility for Domestic Homicide Reviews is 
coordinated through the Safer Communities Board on behalf of 
the CSPs, by the Domestic Abuse Co- coordinator.  
There is a Strategy and plans in place, with specific groups 
reporting back to the Forum. Currently the Forum and 
workgroup structures are being reviewed to reduce the burden 
on partners. There are close links to both Adult and Childrens 
Safeguarding Boards 
 
iv. Anti Social behaviour: 
Tackling ASB is a significant work stream for CSPs and much 
of their successful activity in the community relates to this. It is 
sometimes difficult to quantify success and this is a very real 
challenge for future outcomes frameworks that have to be 
developed locally post LAA. ASB is a major issue in many 
communities and it will be important to clearly understand 
concerns and adopt best practice from across the County and 
elsewhere to tackle this. The Government will be making a 
variety of announcements on future policy and has recently 
confirmed the rolling out of the 101 police telephone number for 
reporting number for ASB incidents. 
Work is required to better define this whole area of work as 
ASB/hate crime/safeguarding/harm prevention (such as the 
Pilkington case) heavily overlap and there are developments in 
all of these areas, particularly within the Police, that require 
clear communication and cooperation with all partners. 

Page 28



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

Therefore a clearer understanding of priorities is required to 
ensure improved joined up working. 
 
v. Preventing Violent Extremism: 
This is an area that we are working hard to increase awareness 
of and embed understanding of, across the partnerships 
through support from the County Prevent Coordinator, a post 
which comes to an end in January 2012. Although there is a 
proportionate response to be taken to a perceived low risk, we 
must not be complacent (see the events in Norway). This is a 
Government priority and relates to its overall counter terrorism 
strategy. 
It is proving challenging to engage all partners on Prevent 
although ultimately it is all partners responsibility to ensure that 
this policy area is developed locally. This relates very closely to 
community cohesion and integration work which again is for all 
(not just a community safety issue). But there is a slow 
recognition by some in Worcestershire to recognise the 
potential significance and associated risk of not doing this work 
and this needs to be addressed at a senior corporate level. The 
PCC will undoubtedly be looking at this. 
 
5. Outcomes/performance framework. 
This is how we assess the effectiveness of meeting strategic 
priorities, but it has often been very challenging to develop a 
consistent and meaningful approach within a complex 
partnership context. 
With the ending of the LAA and National Indicators there is a 
need to develop a new outcomes framework that reflects 
progress made towards meeting the strategic priorities. This is 
currently under construction and has to ensure that local 
delivery is actually shown to be making a difference. There will 
need to be clear CSP accountability for supporting these 
Countywide strategic priorities and the new outcomes 
framework, post the LAA, will be agreed and introduced to 
assist with this objective. It is important to be able to 
demonstrate effectiveness not only through the partnership but 
to local communities and the PCC. A move to consideration of 
medium to longer term outcomes, rather than short term target 
management is something that has to be developed.  
 
6. Commissioning of Community Safety services. There is 
significant multi million pound operational and commissioning 
activity of direct and indirect community safety activity, much of 
which is at County level, primarily through WCC. This for 
instance includes the WCC Community Safety team, Drug and 

Page 29



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

Alcohol Action team, Domestic Abuse and, Supporting People 
(including support and housing for vulnerable people, ex 
offender people who misuse substances, people with mental 
health problems and domestic abuse services). The majority of 
the services commissioned are in the voluntary and 
independent sectors and provide services to local communities 
across Worcestershire. 
There are many other commissioning arrangements in localities 
and across and beyond county level through other Responsible 
Authorities. 
However there is more scope for joint commissioning of 
Community Safety activity and many projects have been 
individually grant funded or remain as part of previous schemes 
that were joint funded or receive contributions as part of 
Government funded processes. There is a need to review this 
approach and to make best use of existing funding resources, 
to where practical, commission services strategically, using 
pooled funding to reflect joint responsibilities. This is for 
instance currently being considered in relation to future 
provision of key preventative Domestic Abuse services such as 
the MARAC and IDVAs. 
Commissioning can be complex and a specialist area of work 
but there are commissioning teams within Responsible 
Authorities able to consider this area of work and this should be 
a focus for revised partnership working arrangements. 
 
7. Worcestershire Partnership: Future priorities and 
Governance Structures of the Worcestershire Partnership are 
under development. At present the SCB is a Theme Group of 
the Worcestershire Partnership, but this is likely to change. 
However the community safety agenda is recognised as being 
an important cross cutting issue that affects many key activities. 
We will continue to work closely with the Partnership as it 
finalises its priorities and working arrangements. 
 
8. Future  Partnership Funding  
 
There is a huge financial challenge to partnership working from 
2012/13 and beyond. Agreement needs to be reached on 
Community Safety fund allocation for 2012/13 and this will be a 
factor in any discussions that will be taking place on merger 
arrangements. 
Table 1 sets out the last two years allocation figures and 
provisional figures for 2012/13. For 2012/13 it only includes the 
Community Safety Fund at this stage and the funding split 
between CSPs is based upon the needs formula utilised by the 

Page 30



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

SCB this financial year. This formula was agreed as reflective 
of the relative needs of localities based upon the key priorities 
and it is recommended that the needs based funding formula, 
subject to any technical update, is retained for the 2012/13 
allocations.  
2012/13 will be the last year that the WCC Community Safety 
Fund is available before it transfers to the PCC. 
 
The level of any possible additional funding from WCC 
community safety budget to the SCB in 2012/13 has not been 
finalised at this stage, due to consideration of internal 
community safety priorities, future commitments and internal 
reductions to that budget. However it is likely that if an 
allocation is made to the SCB, this will be substantially reduced 
and any such funding will be targeted towards commissioning 
and the support of services and activities that meet the 
strategic priorities, rather than a general grant to CSPs. It is 
therefore reasonable to assume for planning purposes that 
there will be no additional CSP funding in 2012/13, other than 
as set out provisionally in Table 1. 
Although a speculative view at this stage, there can be no 
assumptions about how the PCC from April 2013 onwards, will 
allocate funding and it may be reasonable to assume that this 
will be used to commission services across and within West 
Mercia and not to sustain structures or fund posts.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

Table 1 Community safety funding in Worcestershire 
 

Funding 10/11 11/12 12/13 
Provisional* 

Community Safety 
Fund 

£575,000 £544,338 £275,000 

WCC Community 
Safety Grant 
Contribution 

£132,000 £100,000 TBC 

 £707,000 £644,338 TBC 
    
Expenditure    
SCB Commissioning £32,975 

 
 

£20,000 TBC 

Drug and Alcohol 
Action Team 
 

£89,000 £69,000 TBC 

WCC Community 
Safety Team 
 

£35,000 £28,000 TBC 

Bromsgrove CSP £87,574 £71,695 £37,440 
    
Redditch CSP £90,327 £107,400 £56,086 
    
S Worcs CSP £269,882 £238,858 £124,735 
    
Wyre Forest CSP £102,995 £109,385 £57,122 
    
 £707,000 £644,338 TBC 

 
*Figures based upon using the same funding SCB 
formula split on 2011/12. 

 
9. Worcestershire consultation on future partnership  
structures and priorities: 
 
This consultative review has been steered by the SCB Policy 
and Commissioning Group, primarily through delegation to a 
small task and finish group. A key element of this work has 
been to confidentially interview senior representatives of the 
Responsible Authorities, CSPs and key stakeholders to 
establish their views of current and potential future working 
arrangements, structures and governance. The interviews were 
carried out by an Inspector at WM Police. The review also 

Page 32



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

11 | P a g e  
 

presents an opportunity to restate the key strategic priorities 
that are in place in Worcestershire and how these can best be 
delivered. Some of the key issues highlighted by partners who 
were interviewed will be brought back to the Board and 
partners at a later date for discussion and further consideration 
The issues around review and potential restructure have been 
discussed in many Fora and are well trailed. There has to be an 
agreement amongst the Responsible Authorities on future 
structures and governance, to ensure that future arrangements 
can be successfully developed and critically, agreed, 
understood and formally signed upto. 
The Home Office has just issued new Guidance on the merging 
of CSPs and there is experience of CSP merger in South 
Worcestershire where the 3 CSPs joined together in April 2003.  
  
Future Community Safety Partnership structure: 
There were a wide range of views and observations amongst 
the Responsible Authorities. What is unanimously agreed is 
that the current status quo of four CSPs and the SCB is not 
sustainable and is not supported. 
 
The other two options that were considered were: 
i. To restructure into one County based CSP or, 
ii To move to two CSPs, north and south and the SCB as the 
strategic county group. This would involve a merging of the 
three current other CSPs, (Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre 
Forest). 
There was a division in views on these two options and these 
are broadly summarised as follows:  
 
Three of the Responsible Authorities considered that that 
single countywide CSP would be the most effective approach 
from their organisations perspective.  
 
Six Responsible Authorities  are strongly in favour the north 
and south CSP and SCB  option, primarily because of the need 
to maintain a local focus on delivery and localism, political and 
other differences between the north and south of the county 
and that one CSP is not enough to effectively cover a large 
area like Worcestershire.  
 
Three of the Responsible Authorities consider that ultimately a 
single CSP would probably be the most appropriate approach, 
but because of the significant changes taking place at the 
present time, the need to focus upon delivery, the logistics and 
lack of capacity of planning and agreeing a single CSP, the 

Page 33



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

12 | P a g e  
 

need to prepare for the PCC and concerns about the scale of a 
single CSP operation, that two CSPs and a slimmed down SCB 
would be the preferred option.  
However this should be reviewed at a future specified date 
when there is a relationship developed with the PCC and the 
future funding and policy landscape becomes clearer and 
settled, and the effectiveness of the new structures can be 
assessed. 
 
If the north and south CSP structure is agreed, the Safer 
Communities Board will retain its responsibility for coordinating 
the countywide strategic approach through the Community 
Safety Agreement. It is proposed that the membership of the 
SCB is reduced to include only senior Responsible Authority 
representatives as voting members with consideration given to 
incorporating a small associate membership of non voting key 
stakeholders, perhaps on a "virtual " basis" or through an 
annual stakeholder meeting.  
The frequency of meetings is likely to reduce and SCB sub 
groups would also be reviewed to rationalise the level of 
meetings. The Domestic Abuse Forum is already reviewing its 
own arrangements.  
 
Commentary: 
In terms of deciding what the future partnership structures 
should be, there is a range of views. But to effect change and 
specifically agree CSP mergers, all Responsible Authorities 
have to be in agreement for a submission to be made to the 
Home Office, and for the Home Secretary to make the relevant 
Order.  
In trying to take an overview of the responses, it would appear 
that the majority of Responsible Authorities (and stakeholders) 
are in favour of, with some prepared to accept at the present 
time, a model comprising two CSPs, north and south, with a 
leaner County Strategic Group This would also then require the 
other Responsible Authorities who favour a single CSP to 
agree to this approach.  
This would be subject to a future review of the effectiveness of 
the revised structures.  
 
As would be expected there are a range of views about current 
and future approaches and many views clearly relate to the 
current structural arrangements across the whole partnership 
landscape as being too complex and onerous to operate within. 
The ability to service and support partnership activity and the 
divergence of views over a single or two CSPs is broadly, (but 

Page 34



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

13 | P a g e  
 

not exclusively), reflected in the difference in responses 
between the Local Authorities and those Responsible 
Authorities that have a county or wider area of operation.    
 
In terms of the logistics of change, the establishment of two 
CSPs and a County SCB would, primarily involve the merger of 
the three existing Northern CSPs and subject to agreement by 
the Responsible Authorities, a reasonable target date for the 
new partnership structures should be April 2012.  
The establishment of a single CSP would clearly be a more 
extensive project, which would involve reviewing arrangements 
across all local Authority areas and detailed consideration and 
agreement of funding and budgets and management 
arrangements and accountability and would almost certainly not 
be resolved by April 2012.  
 
It will require strong and clear leadership from all Responsible 
Authorities to ensure that the transition and change is managed 
effectively and that organisationally there is a consistent 
approach taken.  
 
The current strategic priorities are broadly accepted and this is 
reflected in the strategic assessment across the County and 
National policy requirements. There are some partners who are 
unclear about their role or their input in supporting some areas 
of work and certainly there is recognition that some outcomes 
are unclear at present. This is not surprising to some extent 
post LAA and National Indicators, although there is work being 
undertaken to develop a new outcomes framework, which is 
always challenging in a complex partnership arena. The 
partnership review presents an opportunity to reflect upon and 
re emphasise the importance of the strategic priorities and how 
partnerships have duties against many of these, as well as 
having a clear role to support a wide area of related activity. 
Clearly as new working arrangements are developed partners 
and stakeholders need to be fully engaged and help shape new 
partnership arrangements while at the same time maintaining 
delivery against the strategic and local priorities. ` 
 
Future development and training approaches to help overcome 
the complexity of partnership working across so many different 
disciplines needs to be considered, to ease some of the of the 
frustrations and difficulties reflected by partners. 
 
It is strongly recommended that the new partnership 
arrangements are underpinned by a clear Memorandum of 

Page 35



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

14 | P a g e  
 

Agreement signed upto at Chief Executive or equivalent level, 
which sets out requirements, expectations, working 
arrangements and accountability of community safety 
partnership arrangements. This will be assisted by restating 
partnership objectives and reflecting that we are all working in a 
significantly different environment to that inhabited by 
responsible Authorities and CSPs in the recent past. 

 
Conclusion:  
There is a clear rationale and support to change the way 
partnerships operate and with it there will need to be a change 
of approach and in some instances culture, to ensure effective 
joint working. The funding levels of the past that have enabled 
many activities to take place have receded. But that also 
presents opportunities to do things differently and find new 
ways of supporting communities. Many of the current 
partnership arrangements and activities have developed in a 
piecemeal and organic fashion often dictated by Government 
and this is an opportunity to reshape them to meet the current 
agenda and priorities. 
There is a lot of excellent work that is carried out and the 
positive impact upon people's lives is widely recognised. 
Although very challenging in the light of funding reductions, 
there is a clear responsibility on partners to work in different 
ways to engage with, support and protect local communities 
and vulnerable people across Worcestershire.   
 
 Recommendations:  
 
1. That the Safer communities Board agrees to the 
restructuring of the current CSP arrangements into two 
CSPs (North and South Worcestershire) and one county 
strategic Community Safety Board and recommends this 
decision to the Worcestershire Responsible Authorities. 
 
2. To recommend that the three North Worcestershire 
CSPs to immediately progress the merger into a single 
North Worcestershire CSP. The responsible Authorities to 
progress to merger and obtain appropriate local approvals 
and Home Office agreement to the merger by 1 April 2012 
or earlier. 
 
3. That the Safer Communities Board to continue as the 
strategic coordination body for community safety in 
Worcestershire, subject to a review of its operations and   
membership and this to be to be limited to the voting 

Page 36



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

15 | P a g e  
 

Responsible Authorities for Worcestershire, with a limited 
associate non voting membership to be agreed. 
 
4. Agreement to continue with the needs based allocation 
formula for the Community Safety Fund (subject to a needs 
update for 2012/13) for allocation to CSPs in 2012/13. 
 
5. Subject to recommendations 1-3 above and agreement 
to CSP merger taking place, a Community Safety 
Partnership Memorandum of Agreement to be developed 
and agreed by the Responsible Authorities by 1 April 2012, 
setting out the purpose and operational requirements of 
the agreed partnership arrangements.  
 
6. Subject recommendations 1-3 above, a completed 
review of the functioning of the new community safety 
partnership structures and operations is to take place by 
April 2014.  
 
 

  
 
 

  

  

  
 

  
 

Background 
Papers 

None 

 
 
 

Page 37



Page 38



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\2\4\AI00006426\SafeguardingCommitteeReportFINAL0.doc/29.09.11/LW 

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS POLICY 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Juliet Brunner, Community 

Safety & Regulatory Services 
Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes  
Relevant Head of Service Judith Willis, Acting Head of 

Community Services 
Wards Affected All Wards 
Ward Councillor Consulted N/A 
Key Decision 

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 To approve the adoption of the Safeguarding Children, Young People 

and Vulnerable Adults Policy and Procedure attached as Appendix 1. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The Executive is asked to RECOMMEND to Council that 
 

the Safeguarding Children, Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
Policy and Procedure attached at Appendix 1 of the report be 
approved. 

 
3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Financial Implications 
 
3.1 The Policy recommends that in accordance with national guidance 

Criminal Record Bureau (CRB) checks are renewed every 3 years.   
A CRB check currently costs £44 and the Council currently has 224 
employees with CRB checks.  This equates to £3300 per annum 
(based on a even split over 3 years).  The budget for CRB’s is 
contained within each Head of Service budgets.   

 
 Legal Implications 
 
3.2 District Councils have a duty under Section 1 of the Children Act 2004 

to ensure that their functions are discharged with regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  Section 11 of this Act 
sets out specific duties and the key features are: 

 
a) senior management commitment to the importance of 

safeguarding and promoting children’s welfare; 
 
b) a clear statement of the agency’s responsibilities towards 

Agenda Item 8Page 39



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\2\4\AI00006426\SafeguardingCommitteeReportFINAL0.doc/29.09.11/LW 

children available for all staff; 
 
c) a clear line of accountability within the organisation for work on 

safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children; 
 
d) service development that takes account of the need to 

safeguard and promote welfare and is informed, where 
appropriate, by the views of children and families; 

 
e) staff training on safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 

children for all staff working with or (depending on the agency’s 
primary functions) in contact with children and families; 

 
f) safe recruitment procedures in place; 
 
g) effective inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children; and; 
 
h) effective information sharing.  

 
3.3 Working Together to Safeguard Children 2006 Statutory Guidance 

comments specifically on the following, which have overlap with the 
duties and work of district councils: 
 
a) Housing authorities and registered social landlords (RSLs) – 

both generally in their roles as assessors of need and contact 
with families, but specifically in the provision of accommodation 
for vulnerable 16 and 17 year olds. Supporting People 
arrangements should reflect identification of particular 
vulnerabilities, including the protection of the public and 
specifically children by considering the safe and controlled 
accommodation of sex offenders; 

 
b) Sport, culture and leisure services – staff, volunteers and 

contractors who provide services have a varying degree of direct 
contact with children and their families and arrangements and 
codes of practice need to be in place to govern the provider and 
ensure that matters of concern are noticed and reported; 

 
c) Community Safety Partnerships – domestic abuse, risk from sex 

offenders, bullying, adolescent vulnerability, and anti-social 
behaviour all have a vulnerability and safeguarding component 
where risks of children are both direct and secondary.  Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards are asked to monitor the 
numbers of child and young people who are victims of crime as 
well as ensuring that young offenders’ vulnerabilities are 
properly considered. 

Page 40



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\2\4\AI00006426\SafeguardingCommitteeReportFINAL0.doc/29.09.11/LW 

3.4 In respect of Vulnerable Adults, Local authorities also have the 
responsibility to work with partners to ensure that vulnerable adults, 
who are at risk of abuse, receive protection and support. 

 
3.5 The Legal Services Manager has been consulted with regard to the 

legal implications. 
 
 Service/Operational Implications  
 
3.6 Redditch Borough Council currently has service specific Safeguarding 

Policies for Children’s Centres and Leisure and Cultural Services.   
 

It is proposed that a new updated corporate Policy and Procedure be 
adopted as detailed in Appendix 1. 

 
3.7 The Policy covers the safeguarding of both children and young people 

and vulnerable adults.  This is in line with recent recommendations by 
the Worcestershire Safeguarding Board. 

 
3.8 In the past cultural or leisure services within District Council’s have 

been given responsibility for leading on the safeguarding agenda.  
However, there is a corporate responsibility for the Council and its 
partner’s functions to ensure that children and young people grow up in 
a safe environment and vulnerable adults are safeguarded.  This role 
also extends to the funding and grant giving, work with the voluntary & 
community sector, our community leadership, our housing function and 
community safety responsibilities.  Therefore it is proposed that the 
corporate lead will be the responsibility of the Head of Community 
Services. 

 
3.9 The Policy includes the need for a Senior Manager, with 2 deputies, to 

be appointed as Safeguarding Advisors.  The role of the Safeguarding 
Advisor is to provide advice and guidance to other Council Officers in 
adhering to the Policy and procedures, together with ensuring the 
Council regularly reviews its duties in respect of safeguarding.  In the 
absence of the Head of Community Services, the two deputies will be 
the Head of Leisure and Cultural Services and Head of Housing. 

 
3.10 In line with national good practice guidance the Policy requires the 

renewal of CRB checks every 3 years.  The Government announced in 
July that they are currently reviewing the CRB vetting and barring 
scheme.  The Policy will be updated to reflect any changes. 

 
3.11 An Officers working group has been established to regularly review the 

policy and council procedures to ensure satisfactory compliance.  The 
initial tasks of the Working Group being to review the CRB procedures 
as new Government guidance is received; to establish a training 

Page 41



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\2\4\AI00006426\SafeguardingCommitteeReportFINAL0.doc/29.09.11/LW 

programme for Officers and Members; to undertake an audit of the 
Council’s duties in respect of Section 11 of the Children’s Act 2004; 
and to ensure that all Council contracts and grant funding include a 
clause to ensure that appropriate safeguarding standards are met by 
third parties. 

 
 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  
 
3.12 The policy will assist in ensuring that all customers, in particular 

vulnerable residents, are adequately safeguarded and their welfare 
promoted. 

 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
 If the proposed policy is not accepted, the Council will potentially be at 

risk of not administering its legislative duties as set out in Section 3.2. 
 
5. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 - Safeguarding Policy and Procedure 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Children Act 2004. 
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2006 Statutory Guidance. 

 
7. AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Judith Willis 
E Mail: Judith.willis@bromsgroveandredditchbc.gov.uk 
Tel: (01527) 534149 

Page 42



 
Appendix 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Draft 
 

Safeguarding Policy and Procedure 
(Children, Young People and Vulnerable Adults) 

 
 
 
 

Redditch Borough Council and Bromsgrove District Council 
 
 

August 2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



2 

Contents                                              Page  
  
1.0  Policy Statement  
  
 1.1  Introduction              5 
 1.2  Responsibilities             7 
 1.3  Principles               7 
 1.4  Equality & Diversity             8 
 
2.0  Recognition of Poor Practice, Abuse and Bullying  
  
 2.1  Introduction              8 
 2.2  Poor Practice              8 
 2.3  Abuse and Neglect            8 
 2.4  Bullying            11 
  
3.0  Safe Recruitment and Selection Practices  
  
 3.1  Recruitment and Training of Employees       13 
 3.2  Code of Behaviour for Employees working with Young People   15 
 3.3  Council’s Guidance and Procedures relating to activities and  15 
  services  
  
4.0 Procedures for managing allegations against people who work with 
  children   
  
 Responding to Disclosures, Suspicions and Allegations  
  
 4.1 Introduction           18 
  4.2  Responding to Disclosures        18 
  4.3  Responding to Suspicions         19 
  4.4  Allegations against Council Employees      21 
  4.5  Allegations of Previous Abuse         24 
  4.6  Action if Bullying is suspected         24 
  
5.0 Review of Policy and Procedures        25 
 
6.0 Links to other Policies and Guidance       26 
 
7.0 Essential Contacts           27 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



3 

 
8.0  Appendix                   Page 
  
A.  Guide to Procedures: Flow charts 1 & 2 for responding to    28 

disclosure, suspicions and allegations 
    
B.  Child Protection/Vulnerable Adult Incident Report Form     30 
  
C.  Safeguarding Advisor – Roles and Responsibilities       32 
  
D.  Code of Behaviour for Employees working with Children/Vulnerable  33 
 Adults  
  
E.  Code of Conduct for Children         35 
  
F. Guidelines and Procedures for Activities and Services:     37 
  

1.   Work Experience and Extended Work Experience  
2.   Trips, Tours and Holiday Clubs  
3.  Residentials  
4.  Transporting young people/vulnerable adults  
5.  Lost/Found young people/vulnerable adults 
6.  Procedure for dealing with lost young people/vulnerable adults 
7.   Procedure for dealing with found young people/vulnerable adults 
8.   Procedure for dealing with young people who decide to leave the 

activity (play scheme) 
9.   Restraining young people/vulnerable adults 
10.  Our policy on working in schools  
11.  Site visits by Council employees to private households / business 

premises  
12.  Our policy on working with Agency employees  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



4 

1.0 Introduction 
 
Redditch Borough Council and Bromsgrove District Council are fully committed to 
safeguarding the welfare of all children, young people and vulnerable adults by 
taking all reasonable steps to protect them from physical, emotional and sexual 
abuse and neglect.  This policy and procedure is an overarching document under 
which individual, service specific procedures may sit. 
 
This policy and procedure will place clear guidelines for safeguarding children, 
young people and vulnerable adults and promoting their welfare as well as 
protection employees and other adults in a position of responsibility from potential 
allegations of abuse.  In this context, the term ‘employee’ is used to include all 
council employees, full or part time, volunteers and anyone working on a paid or 
unpaid basis on behalf of the Council’s. 
 
This policy has been cross-referenced to other policies and procedures of the 
Council’s which promote the safety and welfare of those for whom this policy is to 
protect: Disciplinary and Grievance, Dignity at Work, Code of Conduct, Comments 
and Complaints, Whistle Blowing, Diversity, Equal Opportunities, Recruitment, 
Health and Safety. 
 
Redditch Borough Council and Bromsgrove District Council support 
Worcestershire Safeguarding Children Board (WSCB) Inter-Agency Children 
Protection procedures for safeguarding children and Worcestershire County 
Council’s Adult Protection Policy and Procedures. 
 
For ease of reading this policy, Redditch Borough Council and Bromsgrove District 
Council will be referred to as ‘the Council’s’, and 
 
Children, young people and vulnerable adults will be referred to as ‘children and 
vulnerable adults’. 
 
 
 
 
SIGNATURE     SIGNATURE 
………………………………………. ………………………………………….. 
Portfolio Holder    Portfolio Holder 
Bromsgrove District Council  Redditch Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



5 

1.0 POLICY STATEMENT  
 
1.1 Introduction  
  
It is the policy of Redditch Borough Council and Bromsgrove District Council (to be 
known as ‘The Council’s’) that all children, young people and vulnerable adults 
have a right to protection and for their welfare to be paramount. The following child 
protection procedures will be formally adopted and made known to all employees. 
 
By the nature of the organisation, it is inevitable that various degrees of contact 
with children/vulnerable adults will occur and it is therefore our policy to have in 
place clear guidelines for safeguarding children/vulnerable adults and promoting 
their welfare as well as protecting our employees and other adults in a position of 
responsibility from potential allegations of abuse. The term ‘employees’ is used to 
include all council employees, full or part time, volunteers and anyone working on 
a paid or unpaid basis on behalf of The Council’s.  
  
We expect agencies and organisations and other stakeholders, with a remit for 
working with children and vulnerable adults, that we work with or who hire our 
facilities, to adhere to our procedures as a minimum standard or operate their own 
effective safeguarding children and vulnerable adult policy. 
  
This policy relates to children and young people under the age of 18 and to 
vulnerable people over the age of 18.  The policy and procedures apply to all 
children, young people and vulnerable adults regardless of gender ethnicity, 
disability, sexual orientation or religion.  
  
This policy has been cross-referenced to other policies and procedures of the 
Council’s, which promote the safety and welfare: Equality and Diversity Policy 
(see 1.4), Health and Safety Regulations, Disciplinary and Grievance Policies, 
Equal Opportunities Policy, Harassment Procedures, Recruitment Policy, 
Confidential Reporting Policy. This policy also links to policies of external 
organisations (see 6.0 Links to other Policies).  
  
This policy has been produced in line with the Standards for Safeguarding & 
Protecting Children in Sport (Child Protection in Sport Unit 2003) and ‘Working 
Together to Safeguard Children’ 2006. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



6 

Legislation most relevant to safeguarding and promotion of the welfare of 
children and vulnerable adults 
 
Children Act 2004, Section 11, Statutory Guidance  
Requires a range of organisations (including District Councils) to make 
arrangements for ensuring that their functions, and services provided, are 
discharged with regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children. Organisations must take all reasonable measures to ensure that the risks 
of harm to children’s welfare are minimised; and where there are concerns about 
children and young people’s welfare, all agencies take all appropriate actions to 
address those concerns, working to agreed local policies.  
  
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2006, Statutory Guidance  
Chapter 2, 2.8 lists responsibilities of organisations working with children, which 
mirror Section 11 and thus reinforces the guidance as detailed above.  
  
 
1.2 Responsibilities  
  
The Council’s will: 
  
• Commit elected Member support for the safeguarding of children and 

vulnerable adults.  This will be the relevant portfolio holder for each Council. 

• Accept the responsibility to implement procedures to provide a duty of care 
for Children/vulnerable adults, safeguard their well-being and protect them 
from abuse  

• Respect and promote the rights, wishes and feelings of children/vulnerable 
adults  

• Recruit, train and supervise its employees to adopt best practice to safeguard 
and protect young people from abuse and to reduce the likelihood of 
allegations made against them  

• Require employees and Members to adopt and abide by the Council’s Code 
of Conduct, Code of Behaviour for Employees, and the Council’s 
Safeguarding Policy and Procedures 

• Make people feel confident in reporting any safeguarding issues  

• Respond to any allegations appropriately and implement the appropriate 
disciplinary and appeals procedures  

• Be committed to working together with other local authorities, Police, National 
Governing Bodies, Children’s and Adults Services, and the Worcestershire 
Safeguarding Children Board (WSCB) in accordance with their procedures  

 
1.3      Principles  
  
The guidance given in the procedures is based on the following principles:  
  
• The welfare of child/vulnerable adult is the primary concern  
 
• All children/vulnerable adults, whatever their age, gender, racial origin, 

Page 48



7 

religious belief, disability and sexual identity have the right to protection from 
abuse  

 
• It is everyone’s responsibility to report concerns but it is the responsibility of 

Children’s Services/Vulnerable Adult Board and/or Police to determine 
whether or not abuse has taken place  

 
• All incidents or allegations of suspicious poor practice or abuse will be taken 

seriously and responded to appropriately  
 
• Confidentiality will be upheld at all times and in line with the Data Protection 

Act  
 
• There is a consistent understanding of acceptable behaviour of children 

towards other young people within any organised activity, service or 
programme.  (Appendix E: Code of Conduct for Young People)  

• Discrimination, prejudice and oppressive behaviour or language is 
unacceptable within all activities, programmes or services  

 
 
1.4 Equality & Diversity Statement  
 
The Council’s recognise and celebrates the diverse nature of the people who live, 
work in and visit the Towns and who work for the Council’s and their partners / 
contractors.  
 
1. The Council’s are guided by their core value that people will be treated fairly 

and according to their needs  
 
2. The Council’s support and promotes equality of opportunity in employment 

and service delivery  
 
3. The Council’s oppose all forms of unlawful or unfair discrimination on the 

grounds of age, disability, gender, race, religion or belief or sexual orientation  
 
4. The Council’s accept that they have a unique and influential position in the 

community as a major employer and quality service provider. They also 
accept that they have a moral obligation to bring about positive change 
through their extensive contact with the community and their grant-aiding 
powers for community organisations  

 
 
2.0  RECOGNITION OF POOR PRACTICE, ABUSE AND BULLYING  
 
2.1  Introduction  
 
It is not always easy to recognise a situation where abuse may occur or has 
already taken place. Council employees have a responsibility to act if they have 
any concerns about the behaviour of an individual towards a child or vulnerable 
adult.  The Council’s encourages and expects employees to discuss any concern 
they may have about the welfare of a child/vulnerable adult immediately with their 
line manager or other designated officer within their services own local policy.  

Page 49



8 

The line manager or other designated officer will in turn discuss the matter with 
the Council’s Safeguarding Advisor (see – Essential Contacts, page 27) when 
appropriate. 
  
2.2   Poor Practice  
  
Poor practice includes any behaviour that contravenes the Council’s Code of 
Behaviour for Employees (Appendix D) and the Council’s Code of Conduct.  
 
2.3 Abuse and Neglect  
  
Abuse and neglect are forms of maltreatment of a child/vulnerable adult. 
Somebody may abuse or neglect a child/vulnerable adult by inflicting harm, or by 
failing to act to prevent harm. Children and vulnerable adults may be abused in a 
family or in an institutional or community setting, by those known to them or, more 
rarely, by a stranger. They may be abused by an adult or adults, or another child 
or children.  
 
2.3.1   Physical Abuse  
  
Physical abuse may involve hitting, shaking, throwing, poisoning, burning or 
scalding, drowning, suffocating, or otherwise causing physical harm to a child or 
vulnerable adult.  Physical harm may also be caused when a parent or carer 
feigns the symptoms of, or deliberately causes ill health to a child/vulnerable adult 
whom they are looking after.  
  
Within a sports context an example might be hitting as punishment or training 
beyond a child’s developed ability.  
 
2.3.2 Neglect  
  
Neglect is the persistent failure to meet a child/vulnerable adult’s basic physical 
and/or psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the 
child’s/vulnerable adult’s health or development.  Neglect may occur during 
pregnancy as a result of maternal substance abuse. Once a child is born, neglect 
may involve a parent or carer failing to:  
  

• provide adequate food, clothing and shelter (including exclusion from home 
or abandonment); 

• protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger;  

• ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate care-givers);  

• ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment.  

It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child/vulnerable adult’s 
basic emotional needs.  
  
2.3.3 Emotional Abuse  
  
Emotional abuse is the persistent emotional maltreatment of a child/vulnerable 
adult such as to cause severe and persistent adverse effects on the 
child’s/vulnerable adult’s emotional development. It may involve conveying to 

Page 50



9 

children/vulnerable adults that they are worthless or unloved, inadequate, or 
valued only insofar as they meet the needs of another person. It may feature age 
or developmentally inappropriate expectations being imposed on the 
child/vulnerable adult. These may include interactions that are beyond the 
child’s/vulnerable adult’s developmental capability, as well as overprotection and 
limitation of exploration and learning, or preventing the child/vulnerable adult 
participating in normal social interaction. It may involve seeing or hearing the ill- 
treatment of another. It may involve serious bullying, causing children/ vulnerable 
adults frequently to feel frightened or in danger, or the exploitation or corruption of 
children/vulnerable adults. Some level of emotional abuse is involved in all types 
of maltreatment of a child/vulnerable adult, though it may occur alone.  
  
Within an arts context an example might include constant criticism of the child/ 
vulnerable adult and undermining their efforts or subjecting them to unrealistic 
pressure to consistently perform to high expectations.  
 
2.3.4   Sexual Abuse  
  
Sexual abuse involves forcing or enticing a child/vulnerable adult to take part in 
sexual activities, including prostitution, whether or not the child/vulnerable adult is 
aware of what is happening. The activities may involve physical contact, including 
penetrative (e.g. rape, buggery or oral sex) or non-penetrative acts. They may 
include non-contact activities, such as involving children/vulnerable adults in 
looking at, or in the production of, sexual online images, watching sexual activities, 
or encouraging children to behave in sexually inappropriate ways.  
  
In swimming and related activities, which might involve contact with children/ 
vulnerable adults, situations where sexual abuse might go unnoticed could be 
created.  
  
2.3.5   People with a disability  
  
Children/vulnerable adults with a disability are particularly vulnerable to abuse for 
several different reasons more often than not depending on their impairment. 
Dependency on others may make a child/vulnerable adult feel powerless to report 
abusive treatment.  Different communication methods or an individual’s lack of 
vocabulary might also prove to be a barrier for a child/vulnerable adult wanting to 
communicate their concerns.  
  
2.3.6   Race and Racism  
  
Children/vulnerable adults from black and minority ethnic groups (and their 
parents/carers) may have experienced harassment, racial discrimination and 
institutional racism. Although racism can cause significant harm, it is not, in itself, 
a category of abuse. The experience of racism is likely to affect the responses of 
the child/vulnerable adult and family to assessment and enquiry processes. 
Failure to consider the effects of racism undermines efforts to protect 
children/vulnerable adults from other forms of significant harm. The effects of 
racism differ for different communities and individuals, and should not be assumed 
to be uniform. Attention should be given to the specific needs of those of mixed 
parentage and refugees. In particular, the need for neutral, high-quality, gender-
appropriate translation or interpretation services should be taken into account 

Page 51



10 

when working with people whose preferred language is not English. All 
organisations working with children and vulnerable adults, including those 
operating in areas where black and minority ethnic communities are numerically 
small, should address institutional racism, defined in the Macpherson Inquiry 
Report (2000) on Stephen Lawrence as ‘the collective failure by an organisation to 
provide an appropriate and professional service to people on account of their race, 
culture and/or religion’.  
  
2.3.7   Identifying Signs of Possible Abuse 
  
There are certain signs of abuse, both in a child/vulnerable adult’s appearance 
and behaviour, which may alert an individual to the possibility that abuse, is 
occurring.  Some of these signs are common to all types of abuse; others are 
more specific. 
 
Knowing the signs to be aware of is essential for recognising a real or potential 
problem.  However, the presence of any one sign in itself may not necessarily 
mean abuse is occurring, and conversely, a child/vulnerable adult who is being 
abused may show none of the obvious signs.  Such factors make the issue of 
abuse more complex, but all concerns and suspicions should be reported and 
acted upon accordingly. The following are indications that a child/vulnerable adult 
may be being abused:  
  

• Unexplained bruising or suspicious injuries  

• An injury for which the explanation seems inconsistent  

• The child/vulnerable adult describes what appears to be an abusive act 
involving him/her  

• Unexplained changes in behaviour (becoming very quiet, withdrawn, 
outbursts of temper)  

• Inappropriate sexual awareness or engaging in sexually explicit behaviour  

• Distrust of adults, particularly those with whom a close relationship would 
normally be expected  

• A child/vulnerable adult has difficulty in making friends  

• Changes in appearance such as weight loss  

 
 
 
 
 
Remember that at all times the welfare of the child/vulnerable adult is paramount. 
If a child/vulnerable adult’s behaviour or your observations give rise to concern 
then talk to them sensitively to find out if there is anything wrong, giving 
consideration to the procedure detailed in 4.2.2, or discuss your concerns with 
your line manager or other designated officer.  It may be appropriate to raise your 
initial concerns with parents/carers (see 4.3.2).  
  
2.4   Bullying  
  

Page 52



11 

Bullying may be defined as deliberately hurtful behaviour, usually repeated over a 
period of time, where it is difficult for those bullied to defend themselves. It can 
take many forms, but the three main types are:  
  

• physical (e.g. hitting, kicking, theft)  

• verbal (e.g. racist or homophobic remarks, threats, name-calling)  

• emotional (e.g. isolating an individual from the activities and social 
acceptance of their peer group).  

 
The damage inflicted by bullying can frequently be underestimated. It can cause 
considerable distress to children/vulnerable adults, to the extent that it affects their 
health and development, or, at the extreme, causes them significant harm 
(including self-harm).  
  
Bullying in sport: refers to HWSP CP Policy available from The Council’s Sports 
Development Officer.  
 
 
2.4.1   Action the Council’s will take:  
  
Whatever its form, bullying is unacceptable within The Council’s and it will always 
be challenged and addressed appropriately. There is an expectation on the 
ground that ‘low level’ incidents will be dealt with by employees. However, 
incidents that are serious e.g. causing marks and injuries or bullying (regardless of 
seriousness) that persists despite efforts to deal with it should be referred (see 
4.6).  If in doubt employees should contact their line manager.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



12 

3.0  SAFE RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION PRACTICES  
 
3.1 Recruitment, training and disclosure checks of employees who will 

have direct or indirect contact with children/vulnerable adults  
  
An enhanced CRB can only be requested if the post requires the employee to 
undertake Regulated Activity, defined as “Involves contact with children (under 
18)  or vulnerable adults (adults receiving treatment/healthcare, living in sheltered 
housing or residential accommodation, receiving domiciliary care in their own 
home etc.  NB – being 'elderly' does not mean you are classed as vulnerable) and 
is:  of a specified nature, e.g. teaching, training, care, supervision, advice, 
treatment, transport etc; OR in a specified place, e.g. schools, children’s homes 
& hospitals, juvenile detention facilities, adult care homes etc AND is carried out 
either  
frequently - once a week or more. This covers regular repetitive activity;  
intensively - four or more days in a 30 day period            
overnight - between 2 – 6am" 
 
These posts would require an Enhanced CRB check to be completed  
  
The majority of The Council’s posts will not be required by law to have a CRB 
check.  However, each post needs to be adequately risk assessed by the Head of 
Service to ensure that the person doing this work does not pose a risk to children 
or vulnerable adults. This will allow measures to be identified and put in place 
therefore mitigating the risks. For example, it may be decided a CRB check is 
necessary.  
  
Heads of Service are responsible for checking that managers have undertaken 
procedures to ensure enhanced CRB forms are completed as appropriate by 
employees within their respective service areas, in accordance with the policy 
above. 
 
If an employee feels that they are being asked to complete a CRB check without 
reasonable justification the employee should make a formal request to the Head of 
Resources for the decision to be reviewed. 
 
The Council’s recognise that anyone may have the potentional to abuse children/ 
vulnerable adults in some way and that all necessary steps are taken to ensure 
unsuitable people are prevented from working with them. 
 
3.1.1 Pre-selection checks must include the following:  
  

• All potential candidates will have to fill in the Council’s Application Form;   

• All applicants working with children/vulnerable adults and meeting the 
Regulated Activity definition will be subject to an Enhanced Criminal Record 
Bureau (CRB) check prior to any work being offered in a paid or voluntary 
capacity;  

• A minimum of two written references will be taken up and may be confirmed 
by telephone;  

• Employees who are required to have an Enhanced CRB will have a check 
every 3 years.  

Page 54



13 

 
 
 
 
 
3.1.2 Interview and Induction:  
  
All employees will be required to undergo an interview under the guidelines of The 
Council’s Recruitment and Selection Policy. All employees will receive an informal 
induction upon commencement of employment.  
  
During the recruitment process the Manager will:  

• Check that the application form has been completed in full (including CRB 
form); 

• Substantiate the qualifications.  
  
During the induction process the Manager will ensure:  

• The job requirements and responsibilities are clarified;  

• The Council’s Code of Conduct, Code of Behaviour for Employees, and the 
Council’s Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults Policy are signed up 
to;  

• The safeguarding children and vulnerable adults’ procedures are explained 
and training needs identified. 

 
Portability:   
 
CRB checks are not portable.  If a prospective employee comes to The 
Council’s requiring a disclosure check a new CRB will be processed.  
 
3.1.3 Training:  
  
In addition to pre-selection checks, the safeguarding process includes training 
after recruitment to help employees to:  
  

• Analyse their own practice against established good practice, and ensure 
their practice reduces the likelihood of allegations against them;    

• Recognise their responsibilities and report any concerns about suspected 
poor practice or possible abuse; 

• Respond appropriately to concerns expressed by a child/vulnerable adult; 

• Work safely, effectively with children/vulnerable adults; 

 
The Council’s require:  
  

• It is mandatory for employees working with children, young people and/or 
vulnerable adults attend recognised children/vulnerable adult protection 
awareness training as soon as this can be arranged following their 
appointment.  This will include seasonal workers; 

Page 55



14 

• Employees will have to update their children/vulnerable adults Protection 
training every 2 years; 

• Training levels are appropriate to the employees contact with children/ 
vulnerable adults and their responsibilities for the welfare within The 
Council’s; 

• Relevant portfolio holders and CMT will be required to attend awareness 
briefing sessions for children/vulnerable adult protection; 

• Designated Safeguarding Advisor will receive specific training to support 
their more enhanced role.   

 

3.2 Code of Behaviour for Employees working with Young People and / or 
Vulnerable Adults 

  
In order to ensure adherence and understanding, all individuals working for or on 
behalf of The Council’s will apply The Council’s Code of Behaviour for Employees 
(Appendix D) and The Council’s Code of Conduct as they relate to their particular 
role with children/vulnerable adults. 
  
Children and young people and vulnerable adults taking part in The Council’s 
activities will be expected to treat each other with mutual respect and dignity. The 
Council’s employees will ensure that acceptable standards of behaviour are 
communicated to participants and adhered to e.g. Code of Conduct for Young 
People (Appendix E).  
 
3.3 The Council’s Guidance and Procedures relating to activities and 

services  
  
In the course of preventing abuse to children and vulnerable adults, The Council’s 
have established guidance and procedures related to activities and services.   
  
3.3.1  Use of photography, video recording, image recording and mobile 

phone cameras  
  
There is national evidence that some people have used events as an opportunity 
to take inappropriate photographs or film footage of children.   
  
When using professional photographers or inviting the press to a The Council’s 
activity, The Council’s will:-  

• Provide a clear brief about what is considered appropriate in terms of content 
and behaviour. 

• The photographer must wear identification at all times during the event.  

• Not allow unsupervised access to young people or one to one photo 
sessions at events.  

• Young people and their parents will be informed to report any concerns to 
the event organiser. 

• Concerns raised over inappropriate or intrusive photography will be reported 
to the event organiser who will discuss the matter with their line manager 
and refer it to the police if needed  

Page 56



15 

• See The Council’s Operating Procedures – Photographic Permission 
document. 

  
 
 
3.3.2 Organised photographic opportunities  
  

• The majority of promotional and press releases are organised through the 
Communications Team. These are generally agreed by both parties in 
advance. We undertake not to use the young person’s image(s) unless we 
have written consent for both the taking and publication of films or 
photographs from the parent, carer or Head Teacher in the case of schools.  

• When a media photographer arrives at our venue he/she will be required to 
have formal ID and have it to hand at all times. If there is any doubt about 
the ID the Communications Manager (or Communications Officer) should be 
contacted.   

• The image rights will be negotiated between the Communications Manager 
(or Communications Officer) and the photographer  

• The Council’s will ensure that the young person’s name(s) are not mentioned 
in their publications if requested by the parents/guardians or schools in line 
with their Child Protection Policy. 

• Written consent (on The Council’s Consent form) on behalf of an under 18 
year old must be obtained on The Council’s organised photographic 
opportunities. 

  
3.3.3 Unofficial  photographic and filming opportunities taken by 

parent/carers and others  
  
A)  Parks and Open Spaces and Nature Reserves  
  
It is not practical to control unofficial filming and photography in parks and open 
spaces and nature reserves that are owned by The Council’s.  
  
If concerns are raised during:  
  
- An event organised by The Council’s or outside bodies  

- Normal operating hours  

They should be reported to the event organiser or directly to the Police.  As the 
incident is in the public domain, this should be reported as a police matter and The 
Council’s have no direct responsibility to act, other than contacting the police to 
respond. 
 
B)  Civic Halls, Community Centres and Museum  
  
These facilities are managed by The Council’s and may be visited by members of 
the public or hired for private functions/events.  
  
All hirers will be made aware of The Council’s Safeguarding Children, Young 

Page 57



16 

People and Vulnerable Adults Policy.  It is the responsibility of the hirer to 
communicate their own policies and arrangements to parents/carers, although 
these should not contravene the policy of The Council’s.  
  
All events organised by The Council’s at these facilities will be covered by the 
Council’s policy under 3.3.1/3.3.2.  
 3.3.4   Letting procedure  
  
The Council’s facilities will be managed in line with the Safeguarding Children, 
Young People and Vulnerable Adults Policy.   Minimum standards in relation to 
safeguarding are incorporated as part of the normal operating procedures for each 
facility.  
  
3.3.5   Internet  
  
Children and young people on work experience or others participating in one of 
our clubs may need supervised access to the internet.  The Council’s access to 
inappropriate web sites and chat rooms is prevented by specialist blocking 
software. There are systems in place for monitoring usage of the internet and all 
employees have log in passwords, which can easily be traced. Any employees 
discovered to have accessed or placed sexually abusive images of children and 
young people or vulnerable adults on the Internet will be subject to the Internet 
Security Policy and The Council’s Disciplinary procedures.  
  
3.3.6   Voluntary organisations and service providers working with young 

people  
  
All 'employees' working for voluntary organisations or outside bodies 
commissioned to provide services will be required to sign to declare they will abide 
by the Council’s Code of Behaviour for Employees (Appendix D).  
Further guidance and procedures relating to activities and services can be found 
in Appendix F.  
 
– Work Experience and Extended Work Experience  
– Trips, Tours and Holiday Clubs  
– Residentials  
– Transporting young people  
– Lost/Found young people  
– Procedure for dealing with lost young people  
– Procedure for dealing with found young people  
– Procedure for dealing with young people who decide to leave the activity  
– Restraining young people  
– Our policy on working in schools  
– Guidance for employees to do home and site visits   
– Our policy on working with Agency employees  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



17 

 
 
 
4.0  PROCEDURES FOR MANAGING ALLEGATIONS AGAINST PEOPLE 

 WHO WORK WITH CHILDREN/VULNERABLE ADULTS  
 
  RESPONDING TO DISCLOSURES, SUSPICIONS AND ALLEGATIONS  
  
4.1  Introduction  
  
The procedures should be used in respect of all cases in which it is alleged that a 
person who works with children/vulnerable adults has:  
 

• behaved in a way that has harmed, or may have harmed, a child/vulnerable 
adult;  

• possibly committed a criminal offence against, or related to, a 
child/vulnerable adult; or  

• behaved towards a child or children/vulnerable adult in a way that indicates 
s/he is unsuitable to work with children/vulnerable adults.  

  
There may be up to three strands in the consideration of an allegation:  
 

• a police investigation of a possible criminal offence; 

• enquiries and assessment by children’s social care/vulnerable adults service 
about whether a child or vulnerable adult is in need of protection or in need 
of services; 

• consideration by The Council’s of disciplinary action in respect of the 
individual.  

 
4.2  Responding to Disclosures  
 
4.2.1  Actions to Take:  
  
The individual receiving information concerning a disclosure should:  
  

• React calmly so as not to frighten the child/vulnerable adult;  

• Tell the child/vulnerable adult he/she is not to blame and that it was right to 
tell;  

• Take what the person says seriously;  

• Keep questions to an absolute minimum to ensure a clear and accurate 
understanding of what has been said;  

• It is likely that the person will be frightened and unsure of what will happen.  
Be open and honest in explaining to the person what will happen next;   

• Do not make promises to keep the information a secret. The children/ 
vulnerable adults must be told that the information will be passed on. Explain 
to them that concerns will have to be shared with someone who is in a 
position to act; 

• Complete an Incident Report Form (Appendix B), the exact questions asked 

Page 59



18 

and the answers given – using the same vocabulary as the children/ 
vulnerable adults;  

• The recording should be completed as soon as possible and on the same 
working day. It should be signed and dated;  

• Do not take sole responsibility: Contact your line manager or other 
designated officer, stating that you wish to discuss a possible child/ 
vulnerable adult abuse incident and pass on the Incident Report Form.  They 
will contact/consult with the Council’s Safeguarding Advisor when necessary.  
This way you can begin to protect the child/vulnerable adult by referring 
concerns to the appropriate agencies and so that you can get some support 
for yourself in what could be a difficult situation.  (Appendix A – A Guide to 
Procedures).  

Not all children/vulnerable adults are able to express themselves verbally.  In this 
instance where there are concerns an Incident Report Form (Appendix B) should 
be completed and the same procedures for making a referral followed.  
 
4.2.2 Actions to be avoided:  
  
The individual receiving the disclosure should not:  

• Panic  
• Dismiss the concern   
• Probe for more information than is offered  
• Speculate or make assumptions  
• Make negative comments about the alleged abuser  
• Approach the alleged abuser  
• Make promises or agree to keep secrets  

  
4.3   Responding to suspicions, indications, allegations of abuse  
  
It is not the responsibility of those working for The Council’s to take responsibility 
or to decide whether or not child abuse is taking place.  However, there is a 
responsibility to report concerns in order that appropriate agencies can make 
enquiries and take any necessary action to protect the young person. The Local 
Authority Designated Officer (LADO) should be informed of all allegations.   
  
4.3.1    Children’s Services  
  
Under The Children Act 1989 Social Services (now under Children’s Services) 
have a legal responsibility to investigate any allegation of child abuse, and to work 
with the Worcestershire Safeguarding Children Board, (WSCB), to ensure the 
welfare of children.  Enquiries may be carried out jointly with the police.  If action 
needs to be taken urgently and out of office hours, then the Police or the 
Children’s Services Emergency Duty Team will deal with the enquiry. The LADO 
should be informed of all allegations.   
  
4.3.2 Sharing Concerns with Parents  
  
The Council’s are committed to working in partnership with parents and carers 
where there are concerns about their child.  In most situations any initial concerns 
about a child will be shared with parents and carers, as there may be a 
reasonable explanation that clarifies initial concerns. For example, if a young 

Page 60



19 

person seems withdrawn, there may be a reasonable explanation. He/she may 
have experienced an upset in the family, such as a parental separation, divorce or 
bereavement.  
  
4.3.3 When it is Not Appropriate to Share Concerns with Parents   
  
Circumstances may arise, where sharing concerns with parents may put a young 
person at greater risk, (e.g. where a parent or carer may be responsible for abuse 
or not able to respond to the situation appropriately). In these situations or where 
concerns still exist, any suspicion, allegation or incident of abuse will be reported 
to The Council’s Safeguarding Advisor as soon as possible and recorded 
appropriately.  
 
Advice and guidance should be sought from the LADO with respect to consulting 
with parents.  
  
4.3.4 Designated Officer     
  
The Council’s have identified designated Safeguarding Advisor(s) at a senior 
manager level in Community Services to handle child protection and vulnerable 
adult issues (see – Essential Contacts) in liaison with Human Resources and 
Legal Services.   
  
The Council’s Safeguarding Advisors (SA) have undertaken an Enhanced 
Disclosure and will receive appropriate training and information. 
  
The Safeguarding Advisors will be responsible for informing Children’s Services of 
any alleged incident of child abuse without delay and will be required to follow this 
up in writing within 24 hrs of the report (see Appendix C – The Council’s 
Safeguarding Advisor Roles and Responsibilities).  In the event that the first 
named Safeguarding Advisor is unavailable, the person with the concerns will 
contact the other designated officer(s).  In the event that neither officer can be 
contacted then Children’s Services should be contacted directly.  All incidents 
reported directly to Children’s Services must also be reported to The Council’s 
Safeguarding Advisor at the earliest opportunity. (see - Essential Contacts)  
 
4.3.5 Expert Advice  
  
If you are not sure what to do, contact the Council’s Safeguarding Advisor. You 
can also obtain advice by telephoning the local Children’s Services department or 
via the Access Centre or call the NSPCC 24-hour free phone Helpline. The Police 
also have specially trained child protection teams who will give guidance and 
support. (see – Essential Contacts).  Please note that Children’s Services are 
happy to discuss any concerns you may have about child protection and will be 
able to advise on whether it is necessary to make an official referral.  
  
4.3.6  Records and Information  
  
Information that is passed to Children’s Services or the Police must be as helpful 
as possible. It is therefore essential that a detailed record be made at the time of 
the disclosure/concern using the Incident Report form (Appendix B). 
  

Page 61



20 

All alleged incidents of child abuse are to be reported to the Police or Children’s 
Services without delay.  Referrals made by telephone to Children’s Services or the 
Police are to be confirmed in writing within 24 hours.  A record will be kept of the 
name and position of the Officer to whom the concerns were passed, of advice 
given, together with the date and time of the call and agreed actions including 
feedback to the Council’s Safeguarding Advisor. 
  
4.4   Allegations against the Council’s Employees   
  
Child abuse can and does occur outside the family setting.  It is crucial that those 
involved in delivering an activity or providing a service are aware of the possibility 
and that all allegations are taken seriously and appropriate action taken. It is 
important that any concerns for the welfare of the child, arising from abuse or 
harassment by an employee should be reported immediately to the SA (Appendix 
A– A Guide to Procedures).  
 
4.4.1 Seek Advice  
  
Occasions may arise where the Council’s Safeguarding Advisor is informed of 
situations where there is uncertainty about whether the allegation made 
constitutes abuse and is therefore unclear about what action to take.  Allegations 
made may be about poor practice but those responsible should always seek 
advice if there is any doubt as the incident may be one of a series of incidents 
which together cause concern.  
  
4.4.2 Confidentiality  
  
If you have concerns about an adults’ behaviour towards a young person it is 
important that you share your concerns with your line manager and/or the 
Council’s Safeguarding Advisor.  It is acknowledged that it may be difficult for an 
individual to report his / her concern about a colleague’s practice and The 
Council’s will support and protect anyone who (without malicious intent), reports 
an incident of poor practice or suspected abuse involving a Council employee.  
Procedures outlined in the Confidential Reporting Policy will be adhered to. The 
Council’s will ensure that confidentiality for all concerned is maintained in all 
incidents of suspected child abuse.  Information will be handled and disseminated 
on a “need to know” basis only.  This includes the following people:  
  

• Parents of the person who is alleged to have been abused.  

• The person making the allegation  

• Children’s Services/Police  

• Appropriate officers within The Council’s including the Safeguarding Advisor, 
Human Resources and Head of Service 

• The alleged abuser (and parents if the alleged abuser is a young person)  

• Advice should be sought from Children’s Services or Police before any 
approach is made to the alleged perpetrator, or the parents if the alleged 
perpetrator is a young person  

The Council’s Safeguarding Advisor will be responsible for ensuring that the 
information is stored in a secure place (by Human Resources) where access will 

Page 62



21 

be limited to certain designated people.  Data Protection legislation will be upheld 
and strictly adhered to.  All concerns will be taken seriously and managed 
accordingly within the policies and procedures of The Council’s and for the welfare 
of young people.  
  
4.4.3 If the referral relates to an incident of child/vulnerable adult abuse 

outside of The Council’s activity or service  
  

• Concerns should be reported to the to the Safeguarding Advisor as in section 
4.3.4  

• The Council’s Safeguarding Advisor will notify the local Children’s / 
Vulnerable Adult Services or the Police 

• No further action will be taken under The Council’s procedures  

• The Council’s may need to explore any support required for the young 
person/vulnerable adult and person making the referral  

  
4.4.4  If the referral relates to an incident of child/vulnerable adult abuse 

within The Council’s activity or service  
 

• Concerns should be reported to the line manager who will refer to the 
Safeguarding Advisor as in section 4.3.4 

• The Council’s Safeguarding Advisor will notify the local Children’s / 
Vulnerable Adult Services or the Police  

• The Council’s Safeguarding Advisor will deal with any media enquiries and 
decide (in consultation with HR and Senior Management) on any action 
required to suspend the individual involved following advice from Children’s/ 
Vulnerable Adult Services and/or the Police  

• A full investigation will be conducted in line with the disciplinary procedures.  
(Appendix A – A Guide to Procedures)  

 
4.4.5 Action if there are Concerns  
  
The Council’s Safeguarding Advisor will judge whether the disclosure is poor 
practice alone or suspected child abuse and in doing so may discuss with 
Children’s/Vulnerable Adult Services to clarify concerns before reaching a 
decision.   
 
4.4.6 Poor Practice  
  
If the Council’s Safeguarding Advisor considers the allegation to be poor practice, 
it will be dealt with as a misconduct issue and in line with Council’s Disciplinary 
Procedure referred to the employees Line Manager. 

  
4.4.7 Allegation against the Safeguarding Advisor  
  
If the Council’s Safeguarding Advisor is the subject of the suspicion or allegation, 
the Head of HR or Director of Leisure, Environmental and Community Services 
will be responsible for taking the appropriate action outlined above.  

Page 63



22 

  
4.4.8 If an allegation is made against you  
 
If you are the person who is the subject of an allegation, the situation will be 
explained to you in due course and you may be asked to stop working for The 
Council’s whilst investigations take place. This may result in suspension whilst an 
investigation is carried out, ensuring all parties involved are protected.  
  
Following the investigation, the appropriateness of you returning to work will be 
assessed and will be dependent on the outcome of the Council’s internal 
investigation and all other available information (including information from the 
Police and Children’s / Vulnerable Adult Services).  The Council’s will assess on a 
case-by-case basis the support that can be offered to an individual who has an 
allegation made against them.  
 
4.4.9 Internal Enquiries and Suspension  
  
The Council’s Safeguarding Advisor will make an immediate recommendation to 
the Head of Service/HR about whether to suspend an employee accused of abuse 
pending a Children’s/Vulnerable Adult Services or Police investigation.  
  
Irrespective of the findings of the Children’s/Vulnerable Adult Services or Police 
enquiries, The Council’s will assess all individual cases under the disciplinary 
procedures to decide whether an employee should be reinstated and how this can 
be sensitively handled with other employees. 
 
This decision may be difficult in incidents where there is insufficient evidence to 
uphold any action by the Police.  In this instance The Council’s will make a 
decision based on all available information that could suggest that more likely than 
not the allegation is true. The welfare of young people/vulnerable adult will always 
remain paramount and disciplinary procedures will be drawn to a conclusion to 
ensure the protection of young people/vulnerable adults.  
 
4.4.10   Support to Deal with the Aftermath  
  
Consideration will be given to what support The Council’s can offer to young 
people and their parents/carers and employees. Details of Helplines and support 
groups will be provided. (see – Essential Contacts)  
  
Referrals to Occupational Health or counselling may be available through HR for 
employees.  
  
Consideration will also be given about what support may be appropriate to the 
alleged perpetrator of the abuse. 
  
 
 
4.5 Allegations of Previous Abuse  
 

Allegations of abuse may be made some time (often years) after the event (e.g. by 
an adult who was abused as a young person or by an employee who is still 
currently working with young people). In this instance The Council’s will follow the 
procedures as previously outlined and will report the matter to Children’s/ 

Page 64



23 

Vulnerable Adult Services or the Police as other young people/vulnerable adults 
may be at risk.   
  

Any individual who has a previous criminal conviction for offences related to abuse 
is automatically excluded from working with children and vulnerable adults.  
  

4.6   Action if bullying is suspected  
  

Any allegations of bullying within any council activity will be taken seriously and 
steps taken to eliminate the actions.    
  

4.6.1 Action to help the Victim and Prevent Bullying   
  

In order to prevent bullying from occurring and to help victims of bullying, The 
Council’s will: 
  

• Encourage all children/vulnerable adults to speak and share their concerns 
by creating an open environment.  

• Investigate all allegations and take action to ensure the victim is safe.  
• Speak with the victim and the bully(s) separately.  
• Reassure the victim that you can be trusted and will help them although do 

not promise to keep the information confidential.  
• Keep a record on Employees Personal File for 15 months of what is said.  
• Report any concerns to the person in charge of the particular activity where 

the bullying is occurring.  If the person in charge feels that they cannot deal 
with the allegation or the abuse is severe and/or persists, the Council’s 
Safeguarding Advisor will be informed.  

 

4.6.2 The Council’s employees have a responsibility to deal with the 
individual’s accused of bullying by:  

  

• Talking with the bully to explain the consequences of their behaviour.  
• Seeking an apology from the bully to the victim.  
• Informing the bully’s parents/carers.  
• Insisting on the return of “borrowed” items.  
• Imposing sanctions as necessary such as suspension or even exclusion will 

be considered.  
• Encouraging and supporting the bully to change behaviour.  
• Informing the Council’s Safeguarding Advisor of all incidents and actions.  
• Keeping a written record on Employees Personal File for 15 months of all 

incidents and actions taken.  
• Ensuring the presence of a second individual as a witness when dealing with 

the incident.  
• After the incident/incidents have been investigated and dealt with, each case 

will be monitored to ensure repeated bullying does not take place.  
5.0   REVIEW OF POLICY AND PROCEDURES  
 
This policy and procedural document has been issued by Redditch Borough 
Council and Bromsgrove District Council and had Committee approval on 
04/10/11 (Redditch) and 05/10/11 (Bromsgrove). It will be subject to review in 
October 2012 and every 3 years thereafter or whenever there is a significant 

Page 65



24 

change in the organisation or relevant legislation.  
  
It will be the responsibility of the Head of Community Services in conjunction with 
the Corporate Management Team to notify employees of any changes in the 
documentation and / or changes in relation to their roles and responsibilities.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



25 

6.0   LINKS TO OTHER POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  
 
Code of conduct 
 
Recruitment policy 
 
Disciplinary and grievance policy 
 
Complaints procedure 
 
Equality and diversity policy 
 
ICT Policy and procedures 
 
Whistle Blowing policy 
 
Health and Safety regulations 
 
Harassment and bullying policy 
 
Worcestershire Vulnerable Adults Policy 
 
Independent Safeguarding Authority 
 
Worcestershire Safeguarding Children’s Board (WSCB) policies and 
guidance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



26 

7.0  ESSENTIAL CONTACTS  
 
The Council’s Safeguarding Advisors  
Senior SA   
Head of Community Services    - 01527 881747 
          - 01527 64252 ext 3122  
             
Deputy SA  
Head of Leisure and Cultural Services  - 01527 881742 
         - 01527 64252 ext 3384 
Head of Housing      - 01527 64252 ext 3304 
 
Departmental Contacts  
Human Resources Manager    - 01527 64252 ext 3385  
 
 
WSCB: Local Authority Designated Officer 
(LADO) for North Worcestershire: 
John Hancock and Sue Haddon    - 01905 752800   
      
 
Worcestershire Children’s Services / Vulnerable Adults   
 (8.30 am - 5.00pm M-F)             - 0845 607 2000  
(24 hour – for use outside of office hours  - 01905 768054 
 
West Mercia Constabulary     - 0300 333 3000 
         - 0845 6000 303 (Minicom) or 
         - 01905 723888  
 
Police Family Protection Units (Child  
Protection & Domestic Violence) Kidderminster - 01562 826104  
 
Nightstop       - 01527 66036 
 
National Contacts  
NSPCC 24 hr Child Protection Helpline   - 0808 800 5000 (Free phone)                                              
 
Childline UK          - 0800 1111 (Free phone) 
www.childline.org.uk  
 
Victim support                     - 0845 3030 900 (Support line) 
         - 01527 66462 (Local) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



27 

 
8.0  APPENDIX             Appendix A  
  
A Guide to Procedures  
 
Flow Chart 1   
  
Process following identification of concerns 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Officer has concerns about a child/ 
vulnerable adult’s welfare 

Still concerned 

Officer discusses the situation with their line 
manager or other senior colleague.  If 
required, contact named Safeguarding 

Advisor for advice 
 

No longer have 
concerns 

If immediate 
risk to safety 

contact 
Police 999 

and 
ambulance if 
necessary 

No further action taken 
although may need to 

ensure services 
provided 

Officer refers to 
Worcestershire 

Children’s or Adult’s 
Social Care via Access 
Centre, following up in 
writing within 48 hours 

Telephone the Access 
Centre 2 days after 

referral has been made 
for outcome of referral.  

Document this as 
appropriate. 

Page 69



28 

 
Flow Chart 2  
 
You have concerns about the behaviour of an employee towards a young 
person / vulnerable adult 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

An employee has concerns about 
another employee 

An employee can discuss concerns 
with the Council’s SA for clarification 

In the first instance, contact your line manager or 
other designated officer.  An incident report form is 
completed and where necessary referral is made to 

the Council’s SA 

The Council’s SA determines 
appropriate course of action 

Poor Practice: 
Internal process to 
be followed in line 
with Disciplinary 

Procedures – to be 
dealt with as a 

misconduct issue 
 

Poor practice / possible abuse 

The Council’s SA refers to 
management for immediate 

decision re: suspension 
 

The Council’s SA refers out to 
Children’s / Vulnerable Adult 
Services and confirms the 

referral in writing within 24 hours 

Disciplinary investigation 
process initiated (may need to 
be delayed pending outcome 

of C/VA Services / Police 
investigation 

 

C/VA Services / Police 
investigate – hold strategy 

meeting 
 

Disciplinary hearing held to determine 
course of action and to draw 

proceedings to a conclusion – takes into 
consideration C/VA Services/ Police 
information and any relevant factors 

 

Outcome of investigation (e.g. 
prosecution) 

 

Page 70



29 

 
Appendix B 

 
The Council’s Child / Vulnerable Adult Protection Incident Report Form 
 
Reporting an incident that has been disclosed to you 
 
Depending on the circumstances, and if the risk is very high, do not spend 
time filling in this form but go straight to your line manager who will contact 
Children/Vulnerable Adult’s Services immediately 
 

Your Name 

Your Position       Contact No: 

Child’s/VA Name 

Child’s/VA Address 

Parents/Carers name and address 

Contact No. 

Child/VA’s age and date of birth 

What is the child’s/VA’s ethnic origin 

Does the child/vulnerable adult have a disability?  If yes give details. 

 

Date and time of disclosure 

Venue where disclosure was made 

Are you reporting your own concerns or passing on those of somebody else?  
Give details. 
 
 
Brief description of what has prompted concerns: include dates, times etc of any 
specific incidents 
 
 
Any physical signs? Behavioural signs?  (NB Do not ask the child/VA to show you) 
 
 
What exactly did the child/VA say?  What did you reply? 
(NB. Do not question the child.  You can reassure.  Just listen.  Continue on a 
separate sheet if necessary). 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



30 

 
Has anyone been alleged to be the abuser?  If so, give details? 
 
 
 
 
Details of actions taken so far: 
 
 
 
 
Details of actions you intend to take: 
 
 
 
 
Name and contact details for witnesses to the incident: 
 
 
 
 
Contact details to whom this information has been passed to: 
 
Name 
 
Position 
 
Organisation 
 
Date and time that the information was forwarded 
 
Agree action, including feedback from statutory agency: 
 
 
 
 
 
Signature: 
 
Date: 
 
This form should be placed in a sealed envelope, marked Confidential and for the 
attention of Head of Community Services, Senior Safeguarding Advisor, Redditch 
Borough and Bromsgrove District Council’s, Telephone: 01527 881747 or 01527 
64252 ext 3122. 
 
Redditch Borough and Bromsgrove District Council’s will only collect and process 
personal information provided on this form for no other purpose than for the 
purpose of safeguarding children/vulnerable adults. 
 

Page 72



31 

Appendix C 
 

Redditch Borough and Bromsgrove District Council Safeguarding Advisor 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 
The role of the designated person is to: 
 

• Be available to any employee or child/vulnerable adult to discuss any 
protection or poor practice concerns. 

• Receive referrals or reports of possible child/vulnerable adult abuse or poor 
practice. 

• Have an understanding of legislation and government guidance relevant to 
this role. 

• Have an understanding of the roles and responsibilities of the statutory 
agencies within the field of child/vulnerable adult protection. 

• Responsible for child/vulnerable adult protection - establish contact with the 
senior member of Children’s Services Department / Vulnerable Adult 
Services within Worcestershire. 

• Provide information and advice on child protection within the organisation 
and act as a local source of advice on child/vulnerable adult protection 
matters. 

• Ensure that The Council’s Safeguarding Children, Young People and 
Vulnerable Adults Policy is adhered to and support the interest of children, 
young people and vulnerable adults on The Council’s activities and events. 

• Ensure that Children’s/Vulnerable Adult Services or Police are informed of 
relevant concerns about individual children/vulnerable adults. 

• To establish contact with the Worcestershire Safeguarding Children Board 
(WSCB)/Worcestershire Safeguarding Adults Board (WSGA) and to be 
aware of local procedures. 

• Manage the administration/organise the paperwork and record the 
information received. 

• Ensure that appropriate information is available at the time of referral and 
that the referral is confirmed in writing following the correct procedures. 

• Maintain accurate records relating to the concerns raised and/or ongoing 
investigations affecting The Council’s. 

• Keep relevant people within the organisation informed about any action 
taken, along with any further action required. 

• To uphold confidentiality as appropriate, in all protection matters. 

• Advise the organisation of child/vulnerable adult protection training needs 
 

 
 
 

Page 73



32 

Appendix D 
 
The Council’s Code of Behaviour for Employees working with Young People 
and Vulnerable Adults 
 
This Code of Behaviour outlines good practice when working with young people/ 
vulnerable adults. An environment which allows bullying, shouting, racism, 
sectarianism or sexism is not acceptable. 
 
You must: 
 
• Treat all young people/vulnerable adults equally, and with respect and 

dignity. 

• Provide an example of good conduct you wish others to follow. 

• Ensure that whenever possible there is more than one adult present during 
activities with young people/vulnerable adults or at least that you are within 
sight or hearing of others. 

• Provide a male and female employee to accompany young people/ 
vulnerable adults when trips are organised. 

• Respect a young person/vulnerable adult’s right to personal privacy.  
Encourage them to feel comfortable and caring enough to point out 
attitudes or behaviour they do not like. 

• Build a balanced relationship based on mutual trust that empowers young 
people/vulnerable adults to share in decision-making processes. 

• Give enthusiastic feedback rather than negative criticism. 

• Recognise the needs of every young person/vulnerable adult as an 
individual. 

• Secure parental/carers consent in writing to acting loco parentis if the need 
arises to give permission for the administration of emergency first aid or 
medical treatment. 

• Have emergency contact and medical details for participants in their care. 

• Remember that someone else might misinterpret your actions, no matter 
how well intentioned. 

• Be aware that even physical contact with a young person/vulnerable adult 
may be misinterpreted. 

• Recognise that special caution is required when you are discussing 
sensitive issues with young people/vulnerable adults. 

• Operate within The Council’s Policies, Procedures and Guidance. 

• Challenge unacceptable behaviour and language and report all 
allegations/suspicions of abuse. 

• Ensure access to a phone or mobile. 

• Give guidance and support for inexperienced employees. 
 
 

Page 74



33 

You must not: 
 
• Have inappropriate physical or verbal contact with young people/vulnerable 

adults. 

• Allow yourself to be drawn into inappropriate attention-seeking behaviour/ 
make suggestive or derogatory remarks or gestures in front of young 
people/vulnerable adults. 

• Take a young person/vulnerable adult alone on car journeys, however 
short. 

• Give a young person/vulnerable adult your personal telephone number. 

• Jump to conclusions about others without checking facts. 

• Either exaggerate or trivialise child/vulnerable adult abuse issues. 

• Show favouritism to any individual. 

• Rely on your good name or that of The Council’s to protect you. 

• Believe ‘it could never happen to me’. 

• Take a chance when common sense, policy or practice suggests another 
more prudent approach. 

 
What action will be taken if an employee breaks the Code of Behaviour? 
 
1. If a decision needs to be made which potentially could contravene this code 

of a minor nature then there should be appropriate discussions with the 
Line Manager and risk assessments carried out. 

 
2. If any of the above should occur you should report them immediately to the 

Line Manager and ensure a written record of the event is completed. 
 
3.  If the incident was deemed to be of a more serious nature then the incident 

would be dealt with through The Council’s Disciplinary process. 
 
4.  Parents/carers should also be notified of the incident: 
  

• If you accidentally hurt a young person/vulnerable adult 
• If they appear to be distressed in any manner by your actions 
• If a young person/vulnerable adult misunderstands or misinterprets 

something you have done or said 
 
 N.B It may sometimes be necessary for employees to do things of a 

personal nature for a young person/vulnerable adult, particularly if they are 
very young or disabled. These should only be carried out with the full 
understanding and written consent of parents/carers and the individuals 
involved. Employees should be responsive to the person’s reactions. In the 
event that the person is fully dependent on you, talk with him/her about 
what you are doing and where possible give choices. This may be for 
example where you are involved in any dressing or undressing of outer 
clothing or where there is physical contact or lifting/assisting to carry out 
activities. Individuals are advised to avoid completing tasks for which you 
are not appropriately trained. 

Page 75



34 

Appendix E 
 
The Council’s Code of Conduct for Young People 
 
This policy will be characterised by a positive, child centred approach to caring for 
young people. We recognise the need for rules within any setting and the 
necessity for managing difficult behaviour. 
 
This policy will ensure that young people are treated fairly and are protected under 
the UN Convention on the Rights of a Child. 
 
The aim of the policy is: 
 

• To ensure that young people are safe and treated fairly at all times. 

• To respect and value each young person as individuals. 

• To encourage co-operative and kind behaviour between young people. 

• For young people to take responsibility for their own behaviour. 

• For young people to take pride in their own and others good behaviour. 

• To give employees specific guidelines on how behaviour will be managed. 
 
We expect young people to: 
 

• Treat everyone equally with respect and sensitively regardless of their 
gender, ethnic origin, cultural background, sexual orientation, religion or 
political affiliation. 

• Know and abide by the rules and spirit of the event. 

• Avoid violence and rough play and help anyone that may be injured. 

• Accept the decisions of those in authority without question or complaint. 

• Exercise self-control at all times. 

• Give maximum effort and strive to achieve your best. 

• Learn to accept success and failure, victory and defeat with humility and 
dignity respectively and without excessive emotional displays. 

• Abide by the instructions of the employees and officials provided they do not 
contradict the spirit of this code. 

• Treat everyone how you would like to be treated. 

• Do not use foul, sexist or racist language at any time. 

• Be a good sport, applaud good performance. 

• Remember to have fun, improve skills and feel good. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



35 

When working on activities organised by The Council’s employees will: 
 

• Give priority to the best interests of the young people in decisions that they 
make about them. 

• Keep young people safe from all harm and protect them. 

• Wherever possible let young people have a say in what affects them. 

• Treat young people respectfully at all times. 

• Be consistent and fair, keeping promises (where possible) made to young 
people. 

• Actively work to help all young people feel welcome, happy and at ease. 
 
What action will be taken if young people break their code of conduct? 
 

1.  A warning and explanation of why the behaviour is unacceptable. 
 
2.  A record is made in the Community Development Section Low Level Incident 

Book with an explanation of the incident. 
 
3.  Employees will employ their own system of warnings and minor sanctions 

e.g. time out (5 minutes max); 3 strikes and you are out. Young people must 
be aware of these sanctions from the outset. 

 
4.  If the young person’s safety and/or others is being compromised due to their 

behaviour prompt action should be taken by the employee. 
 
5.  A session ban may be imposed. 
 
6.  Parents/carers are informed if their child is involved in unacceptable 

behaviour. 
 
7.  A behaviour contract between the young person, parent/carer, and The 

Council’s employees may be agreed to get the young person back into the 
mainstream. 

 
8.  In some circumstances a young person may be permanently banned from 

participating on the Council’s schemes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 77



36 

Appendix F 
 

The Council’s Guidelines and Procedures for Activities and Services 
 
1. Work Experience and Extended Work Experience 
 

• It is important to distinguish between work experience and extended 
work experience (sometimes called work placement). Work experience 
refers to Key Stage 4 children going into a work environment for 1 – 2 
weeks. Extended work experience refers to young people experiencing 
a working environment, possibly by undertaking work based learning 
over a longer period of time, 1 or 2 days per week, to achieve vocational 
qualifications. 

• This is arranged by schools and Further Education providers and Local 
Education Authorities with employers or training organisations 
contracted to carry out this function, and can be either a full or part time 
basis. The Council’s takes approaches through Human Resources and 
each Division has an Officer to manage enquiries and liaise with 
employees. 

• It is good practice to arrange a pre visit interview with the candidate. 
This may be the schools procedure in any event. The responsible 
teacher may advise the young person to telephone the manager before 
the start date if time does not allow an interview. 

• Section Heads should ensure that Risk Assessments are in place for 
work experience students. 

 
2. Trips, Tours and Holiday Clubs 
 

• All trips, tours and holiday clubs will undergo the necessary level of 
preparation and will cover Health and Safety requirements such as risk 
assessments. Where Play schemes are registered with OFSTED their 
standards will be adhered to. 

• It is vital that any transport arrangements pay due regard to 
safeguarding young people/vulnerable adults and that adequate 
supervision is provided if young people/vulnerable adults are taken on 
trips and tours. Parents and carers must be notified and sign a form 
giving permission for young people/vulnerable adults to attend. 

• Recommended ratios must be adhered to before commencement. In 
some cases employees may consider it appropriate to increase the level 
of supervision depending on the activity and the nature of young people/ 
vulnerable adults taking part. Normally the ratio adult: child/vulnerable 
adult over 8 is 1:12, under 8 is 1:8. 

• A person will be nominated to be the lead Officer on outdoor transported 
trips. If parents/carers and volunteers accompany any trip or activity, 
then they will be under the direction of that nominated person. The use 
of parents/carers or volunteers shall not compromise employees to 
child/vulnerable adult ratios and in no way substitute the “duty of care” 
the Council’s should be showing. At no time should persons 

Page 78



37 

accompanying their own children be left alone with children who are not 
their own – although we do recognise that parents/carers have a 
valuable and crucial role to play. 

• A complete list of all children/vulnerable adults will be drawn up and 
head counted on departure and arrival. All children/vulnerable adults 
should be seen to be picked up on return unless specifically told 
otherwise in writing and signed for by the parent/carer in advance.  A 
verbal undertaking is not acceptable. It is the duty of the parent/carer to 
inform employees of this wish. 

• In the event of a “new” person being requested to collect a child, an 
additional registration form must be completed by the parent/carer. At 
no time will a child/vulnerable adult be handed over without full 
confirmation by the parent/carer. 

• In the event that a parent/carer fails to collect a child/vulnerable adult 
then 2 employees must be present at all times. We ask a parent/carer to 
inform us of any likely delays as soon as they are known. If no 
parent/carer has arrived then it is the duty of the lead Officer to try to 
make contact with the parent/carer. If no parent/carer has arrived after 
30 minutes then the Police should be called. It is important to gauge 
what response time may be expected and advice sought therein from 
the Police. 

• Before each trip, the lead Officer must have registration forms, first aid 
kit, medical notes and medicines (if appropriate) and a mobile phone. 
Any hospital referrals must be relayed to parents/carers immediately. 

• When organising a trip the lead Officer must nominate an employee 
who is ‘on call’ should there be an emergency. This Officer must have 
all the trip details (including names and contact details of participants) 
so that parents/carers can be contacted if necessary. 

 
3.  Residentials 
 

• The Council’s do not organise residentials for young people/vulnerable 
adults. However, from time to time employees may be involved in a 
partnership project that may include an overnight stay. 

• On these occasions the Council’s employees will provide secondary 
support to the organising body such as Connexions (PAYP), Youth 
Service. The lead organisation must have a policy on residentials which 
the Council’s employees must be aware of before taking part in the 
event. 

• A Welfare Plan must be drawn up prior to the residential by the lead 
organisation. 

 
4.  Transporting Young People/Vulnerable Adults 

 
• A reputable transport company with the appropriate insurance will be 

used. 

• Sufficient supervisors (team managers, coaches, parents) will be 
present on the coaches. 

Page 79



38 

• Each person will have a seat and seat belt regulations will be adhered 
to. 

• Parents/carers will be provided with details of both pick up and drop off 
points and times. 

• Employees of a supervisory capacity will have the following information 
for each participant 

o Name / contact number. 
o Pick up / drop off point and time. 
o Name of parent/carer collecting the participant. 
o Emergency contact number. 
o Medical details. 

• Participants will not be left unsupervised. 

• It is not good practice to take young people/vulnerable adults alone on 
journeys, however short. Where this is unavoidable, it should be with 
the full knowledge and consent of the parents/carers, and someone in 
charge of the organisation. Employees should be able to state the 
purpose and anticipated length of the route. You must be insured for 
business use. The child/vulnerable adult should sit in the rear seat. If 
there were 3 young people/vulnerable adults in your care, two should sit 
in the back and one in the front. When the first child/vulnerable adult is 
returned to the parent/carer the remaining young people/vulnerable 
adults should be sat in the back seats. 

 
5.  Lost/found young people/vulnerable adults 
 

• When operating from a building we will endeavour to make all inside 
and outside areas as secure as possible. Whilst great care is taken to 
ensure the young people/vulnerable adults in our care are always 
accounted for, we do however have procedures for lost and found 
children/vulnerable adults (see following pages). 

 
• If young people/vulnerable adults are on outdoor trips the lead Officer is 

responsible as identified above. In the case of outdoor sites such as 
parks and nature reserves, employees are aware of the potential risk of 
lost young people/vulnerable adults and how to deal with these 
situations. 

 
• Lost young people/vulnerable adults will only be handed over to the 

designated person named by the parent/carer on the registration form. 
In the case of parks and open spaces where young people/vulnerable 
adults are not on official trips, but nonetheless leisure users, the 
handing over of young people/vulnerable adults will only be done at the 
behest of Police involvement. 

 
6.  Procedure for dealing with lost young people/vulnerable adults 
 

• On suspicion of a lost young person/vulnerable adults the Officer will 
conduct a roll call without alarming them. 

Page 80



39 

• The lead Officer and one extra employee will conduct a thorough search 
of the building and grounds and the immediate vicinity. 

• Employees conducting the search and remaining employees will ensure 
a calm manner and normal routine will be conducted. 

• If the young person/vulnerable adult is not found, the Police and the 
parent/carer will be contacted. The SA will be informed. 

• A full report will be produced on the Council’s Incident, Accident or Ill-
Health Form. 

• The relevant authorities will be informed. 

• Employees will work closely with the Police, parents/carers, and other 
authorities to ensure all relevant information is made available to aid the 
safe recovery of the young person/vulnerable adults. 

• The incident will be evaluated and fully discussed with the employees 
and SA, Children/Vulnerable Adult’s Services and the Police and, if 
appropriate, procedures reviewed. Policies will be amended if 
necessary. 

 
7.  Procedure for dealing with found young people/vulnerable adults 
 

• Get to the child/vulnerable adults height, show them your name badge 
and tell them where you work. In the first instance try to find out their 
name, giving the child/vulnerable adult time to respond as they may be 
extremely distressed. If that proves difficult then look for a discarded 
jumper or coat, as often there are name tags in clothing. Do not 
physically touch the young person/vulnerable adult to find out these 
details and seek another employee, as soon as possible, to help. Take 
the young person/vulnerable adult’s name, age, address and telephone 
number if possible. If you cannot obtain any details at all then you must 
call the Police. 

• Carry out a brief search of the immediate area with the young person/ 
vulnerable adults. Mostly lost young people/vulnerable adults are near 
their family who are simply obscured by people or objects. Ask the 
young person/vulnerable adult where they last saw the parent/carer/ 
guardian. Older young people have sometimes been left on site by 
parents who are to return later, be vigilant as to where and how long 
young people are waiting for parents to return. 

• Small young people/vulnerable adults may become very distressed. In 
this case 2 employees should stay with the young person/vulnerable 
adult all the time, preferably the one person who has made initial 
contact – this avoids confusing the youngster/vulnerable adult. Alert all 
other employees on duty. Never leave a young person/vulnerable adult 
unattended. If a young person/vulnerable adult refuses to stay then call 
the Police immediately and stay vigilant to their direction.   At no time 
put the young person/vulnerable adult in a vehicle. (see Appendix F, 
section 4. Transporting Young People/Vulnerable Adults). At the 
discretion of the SA contact the Police after 30 minutes of unsuccessful 
search. If out of normal hours and the SA is not available contact the 
Police directly and inform the SA at the next possible time. 

Page 81



40 

• If the parents/carers are found, ask for identification. Do not release 
young people/vulnerable adults to anyone under the age of 16. 

 
8.  Procedure for dealing with young people who decide they wish to 

leave the activity (Play Scheme) that you are in charge of 
 

• The Council’s Play schemes operate a closed access policy (see the 
Council’s Play Development Policies and Procedures) 

 Should a young person leave the session without prior permission 
employees will: 

• Employees will try to find out why the young person wishes to leave and 
sort out the issue if possible. 

• Gently restrain the young person if they are a danger to themselves, 
employees or venue property. 

• Follow the young person home if employees’ ratio permits (although this 
would be unlikely). 

• Refer to registration form and contact parent/guardians immediately. 

 
9.  Restraining young people/vulnerable adults 
 

• Employees should consider using physical force towards a young 
person/vulnerable adult only when they are in danger or there is a 
danger to others. 

• Any incidents of this kind will be recorded on the Incident Form and 
reported to the SA and to parents/carers on the same day. 

• The Council’s recognises that at all times employees might need to 
intervene and that unease and unwillingness to act appropriately could 
lead to the needs of the children/vulnerable adults being neglected, or 
their safety being put at risk. 

 
10.  Our policy on working in schools 
 

• Employees who visit schools in the course of their duties have during 
curriculum or extra curricular time to deliver an activity or service should 
wear the official the Council’s Identification badge. 

• During curriculum time for the Council’s employees who are in close 
contact with young people such as sports coach, plumber, builder, 
grounds maintenance, play leader, artist, ranger, a teacher must 
always be present (at least within sight of the group). The teacher has 
loco parentis, which is the legal responsibility for the young people. 

• When the Council’s are responsible for organising the activity at a 
school during extra curricular time and are ‘hiring’ the facility e.g. 
gymnasium, hall, field area, then an employee from the school should 
be on site. The person in charge of the activity should be familiar with 
the school site and its regulations. The Head Teacher has responsibility 
for all employees working on their premises. 

Page 82



41 

• The Line Manager of the employee working in schools should check the 
schools Child Protection Policy and the reporting route. 

 
11.  Guidance for employees to do home and site visits 
 

• Where it is practical to do so employees should prearrange the visit, 
preferably in writing. 

• Colleagues should be notified of the date, time, address of the visit and 
the expected return time of the Officer. 

• Employees should wear/show the Council’s Identification badge/card. 

• If a young person/vulnerable adult answers the door and the adult who 
has made the appointment is not present (and has made no other 
arrangements) the member of the Council’s employees should not enter 
the premises but rearrange the visit. 

• Refer to (Appendix B) and Code of Behaviour for Employees Working 
with Children/Vulnerable Adults (Appendix D). 

• Inadvertent contact with young people/vulnerable adults on their own 
may occur (e.g. refuse collectors pulling a bin out from a rear garden 
and coming into contact with a scantily clad young person) in which 
case they should leave the area and report the incident to their Line 
Manager. 

• Refer to Intranet for more detailed guidance. 
 
12.  Our policy on working with Agency employees 
 

• Wherever an agency is used to supply temporary employees the 
Council’s will provide a copy of our Safeguarding Children, Young 
People and Vulnerable Adults Policy and Procedure. 

• The agency will be required to supply The Council’s with their own 
policy/procedures for The Council’s reference. 

• Agency employees who have the potential to be in contact with young 
people/vulnerable adults in the course of their temporary duties must 
undergo a CRB check before commencing employment. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



Page 84



 REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\8\5\AI00006587\CommissioningChildrensCentresReportFINAL0.doc/29.09.1
1/LW 
amended 20.10.11/LW amended 7.11.11/SW 

COMMISSIONING OF CHILDREN’S CENTRE SERVICES 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Derek Taylor, Portfolio 

Holder for Leisure and Tourism 
Portfolio Holder Consulted  yes  
Relevant Head of Service Judith Willis, Acting Head of 

Community Services 
Wards Affected All Wards  
Ward Councillor Consulted N/A 
Key Decision 

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 To seek Members approval to submit a tender to deliver Sure Start 

Children‘s Centre services in Redditch and secondly to seek approval 
to enter in to a Contract with Worcestershire County Council if the 
tender is successful. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The Executive is asked to RESOLVE that: 
 
1) option 2 as outlined in Appendix 1 of the report be 

approved in relation to the submission of a tender to deliver 
Children’s Centre services in Redditch subject to the 
Council being the ‘lead’ organisation if this is required in 
respect of a partnership bid; and. 

 
2) subject to any tender being successful, a Contract be 

entered into with Worcestershire County Council. 
 
3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Financial Implications 
 
3.1 The Sure Start Children’s Centre Programme is funded by a separate 

Government Grant which is paid to Worcestershire County Council.  
Since 2006 funding for the four Centres managed by the Borough 
Council has been provided through a Contract with the County.  The 
annual contract is to the value of approximately £800,000.  There are 
no financial implications for Redditch Borough Council in delivering the 
service. 

 

Agenda Item 9Page 85



 REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\8\5\AI00006587\CommissioningChildrensCentresReportFINAL0.doc/29.09.1
1/LW 
amended 20.10.11/LW amended 7.11.11/SW 

 
3.2 If the council was not to secure the tender in future years it is 

understood that staff would be subject to TUPE arrangements.  If a 
tender was unsuccessful a current 25 year lease with Worcestershire 
County Council in respect of the Holly Trees Children's Centre at 
St Stephen's First School would have to be reviewed by Officers and 
potentially surrendered. 

 
 Legal Implications 
 
3.3 If a contract is awarded to the Borough Council, there are legal 

implications in terms of entering into a formal Contract.  Legal Services 
have been involved in the drafting of the previous Contracts and would 
be involved in any future Contracts. 

 
3.4 Children’s Centres are monitored on an annual basis by 

Worcestershire County Council Commissioning Officers.  In addition, 
with effect from April 2011, Children’s Centres are subject to OFSTED 
inspections and like schools, are graded from Outstanding to 
Unsatisfactory.  To date two Redditch Centres have been inspected by 
OFSTED and both were graded ‘good’. 

 
3.5 The Legal Services Manager has been consulted with regard to the 

legal implications. 
 
 Service/Operational Implications  
 
3.6 Children’s Centres are part of a national scheme to tackle child poverty 

and social exclusion.  Redditch applied for Sure Start funding in 2001 
as a Local Programme and obtained approval of its Delivery Plan in 
February 2002.  In 2006 Local Programmes migrated to Children’s 
Centres and these now cover the whole geographical area of the 
Borough.  

 
3.7 Following approval by Executive Committee on 20th February 2008, 

tenders were submitted and successfully awarded for the Council to 
manage the following four Centres, comprising of 8 sites, in Redditch 
for the period 1st October 2008 to 30th October 2011 (consequently 
extended until 31st March 2012). 

 
1) Holly Trees Children’s Centre at St. Stephen’s First School with 

a satellite site at St. George’s First School. 
 
2) Cherry Trees Children’s Centre at Batchley First School with a 

satellite site at Holyoakesfield First School. 
 

Page 86



 REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\8\5\AI00006587\CommissioningChildrensCentresReportFINAL0.doc/29.09.1
1/LW 
amended 20.10.11/LW amended 7.11.11/SW 

3) Oak Trees Children’s Centre at Oak Hill First School with a 
satellite site at St. Luke’s First School. 

 
4) Woodlands Children’s Centre at Woodrow First School with 

satellite sites at St. Thomas More Catholic First School. 
 
3.8 The following two Centres, comprising of 5 sites, are managed by 

Redditch YMCA through a contract with the County which is also due 
to expire in March 2012.   

 
a) Willow Trees Children’s Centre at Church Hill Community 

Centre with satellite site at Moons Moat First School. 
 
b) Maple Trees Children’s Centre at Matchborough First School 

with satellite sites at Tenacres and Roman Way First Schools. 
 
3.9 A Borough-wide Advisory Board exists comprising of voluntary 

organisations and key statutory agencies to act in an advisory capacity 
on the development and implementation of services.  Councillor Chalk 
is the Council's representative on the Board. 

 
3.10 The thirteen Redditch Children’s Centre sites are currently run by two 

organisations – the Council and Redditch YMCA.  Redditch district has 
adopted a unique approach in the County whereby the two 
organisations work in partnership with the aim of providing consistent 
and seamless children’s centres services across all Centres.  This is 
achieved by holding joint team meetings and sharing resources, 
including a number of joint posts e.g. Family Support Team Leader, 
Family Learning Co-ordinator.  In addition all promotional work is 
undertaken jointly.  This is seen as a model of good practice by the 
County and provides both organisations with economies of scale which 
enable added value to be brought to the Centres.   

 
3.11 Whilst the Children’s Centres provide a universal service open to all 

families, the service does target support at those families most in need.  
The table below shows the achievement of each Centre in seeing the 
children who live in the 30% most disadvantaged Super Output Areas 
(SOA’s),  which are cluster of postcodes,  for the period 1st April to 1st 
October 2011. 

Page 87



 REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\8\5\AI00006587\CommissioningChildrensCentresReportFINAL0.doc/29.09.1
1/LW 
amended 20.10.11/LW amended 7.11.11/SW 

 
Children’s Centre Percentage of children living in 30% super output area 

seen (Half year 2011/12) 
Cherry Trees 61% 
Holly Trees 73% 
Oak Trees N/A – catchment area contains no 30% SOA’s 
Woodlands 71% 
Maple Trees 52% 
Willow Trees 41% 
 
3.12 In the past Worcestershire County Council has contracted Children's 

Centre Services on a Centre by Centre basis.  However, as part of the 
County's new 'Early Help Strategy for Children and Young People and 
their Families', services will in the future be commissioned on a district 
basis, with one contract for each of the six district areas.  In addition 
the County are proposing that Centres which are currently focused on 
0-5 year olds will become 'Family Centres' with greater range of 
services provided giving consideration to an integrated 0-19 local early 
help service 'offer'.  The County propose to commence the 
commissioning process in January 2012.  Roll out will be phased with 
all areas commissioned by 2014.  Early indications are that Redditch 
District will be in the early phase and possibly the first District.  In giving 
consideration to whether Members submit a tender for the District, 
there are two available options: 

 
Option 1 – submit a Redditch Borough Council tender 

 
Option 2 – approach Redditch YMCA to discuss submission of a joint 
Council and YMCA tender (indications from the YMCA are that this is 
their favoured approach, subject to their Board’s approval).  Agreement 
would have to be reached on the lead organisation for such a bid and a 
partnership agreement drawn up. It is proposed that the Council would 
seek to be the lead organisation. 

 
The advantages and disadvantages of each option are outlined in 
Appendix 1. 
 
a) The grant allocation for the 13 centre sites across the district 

would be approximately £1.1m.  The exact budget for future 
years is currently unknown and is subject to the County's 
Cabinet approval year on year. 

Page 88



 REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  15th November 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\8\5\AI00006587\CommissioningChildrensCentresReportFINAL0.doc/29.09.1
1/LW 
amended 20.10.11/LW amended 7.11.11/SW 

 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
3.13 The children's centre services provide a local one stop shop service for 

families and children across the Borough through the six centres.  The 
early intervention family support work undertaken by the service 
promotes the safeguarding and welfare of children, in particular 
vulnerable children. 

 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 

If a tender is not submitted or is unsuccessful, the Programme will be 
led by another commissioned organisation rather than at a local level 
through the Borough Council.  In respect of staff and building resources 
please refer to paragraph 3.2. 

 
5. APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix 1 - Options 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Worcestershire County Council’s Early Help Strategy for Children and 
Young People and their Families 

 
7. AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Judith Willis 
E Mail: Judith.willis@bromsgroveandredditchbc.gov.uk 
Tel: (01527) 534149 

Page 89



Page 90



COMMISSIONING OF CHILDREN’S CENTRE SERVICES APPENDIX 1 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\8\5\AI00006587\CommissionofChildrensCentreServicesAppendix10.doc/LW 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 1 
 
RBC tender 
 

• The Council would have direct 
influence on the delivery of 
services at every Redditch 
Centre 
 

• Children and families would 
receive a consistent service 
across all 6 centres. 
 

• Partner agencies would have 
one point of contact in working 
with the Centres. 
 

• One policy and procedure 
framework would cover all 
Centres 
 

• Whilst the current informal 
partnership arrangement 
works well with Redditch 
YMCA, there is always a risk 
that this could change.  This 
option would eliminate this 
risk. 

• The current option to 
submit external funding 
applications in 
partnership with 
Redditch YMCA would 
be lost (as a voluntary 
organisation it widens 
funding opportunities). 
 

• RBC would be 
competing against a 
local voluntary sector 
organisation that it 
currently supports in 
other ways. 
 

• Redditch YMCA 
currently have a lease 
on Willow Trees 
Children’s Centre 
(Church Hill Community 
Centre) from the 
Council.  The Council 
(or any other successful 
applicant) would need 
to negotiate renting the 
accommodation from 
the YMCA as an open 
market letting. There is 
no obligation on YMCA 
to permit this. 

 
• TUPE Arrangements 

would be applied, with 
RBC having to employ 
existing YMCA 
Children’s Centres staff. 

 

Page 91



APPENDIX 1 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\8\5\AI00006587\CommissionofChildrensCentreServicesAppendix10.doc/LW 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 2 
 
Joint bid with Redditch 
YMCA 

• The current partnership 
working arrangements would 
continue with no disruption on 
service delivery.  

 
• the current economies of 

scale would be continued. 
 

• The partnership working 
arrangements could be 
formalised minimising the risk 
of future conflicts. 

 
• The centres would continue to 

be managed by local 
organisation with local 
knowledge. 
 

• RBC would be working in 
partnership with a local 
voluntary organisation and 
external funding bids could 
continue to be explored. 

 
• A consistent service across all 

6 Centres would continue, 
including one point of contact 
for partnership agencies. 

 

• The Council would have 
less direct influence on 
the delivery of services 
at the Centre than if it 
managed them solely. 
 

• Whilst the current 
partnership 
arrangement works well 
with Redditch YMCA, 
there is always a risk 
this could change. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



�
  

����������	
�
���
��	��
Committee 

  

 

27th September 2011 
 

 

 Chair 
 

 

 

MINUTES Present: 
  

Councillor Phil Mould (Chair), Councillor Mark Shurmer (Vice-Chair) and 
Councillors Peter Anderson, Andrew Brazier, Bill Hartnett, Gay Hopkins, 
Brenda Quinney, Alan Mason and Luke Stephens 
 

 Also Present: 
 

  Councillor Michael Braley 
 

 Officers: 
 

 T Kristunas, D Poole, J Staniland, L Tompkin and A de Warr 
 

 Committee Services Officer: 
 

 M Craggs and I Westmore 
 
 

81. APOLOGIES AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES  
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor Andy 
Fry. 
 

82. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND OF PARTY WHIP  
 
There were no declarations of interest nor of any party whip. 
 

83. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 6th 
September 2011 be confirmed as a correct record and signed 
by the Chair. 
 

84. ACTIONS LIST  
 
Members considered the latest version of the Committee’s Actions 
List. 
 
Members were informed that, in respect of Actions 1 and 2, the next 
meeting of the Worcestershire Scrutiny Chairs and Vice Chairs had 

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 11Page 93



  
����������	
�
���
��	��
Committee 

 
 

 
 

27th September 2011 

 
been arranged for Monday, 3rd October. With regard to Action 3, 
Officers highlighted the report later on the agenda under which this 
matter would be addressed. Officers also noted that the additional 
information concerning fly-tipping had been circulated to members 
of the Committee following the last meeting as requested. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the Committee’s Actions List be noted. 
 

85. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MINUTES AND SCRUTINY OF THE 
FORWARD PLAN  
 
No items were identified from the Executive Committee’s minutes of 
13th September as requiring further scrutiny. However, the 
Committee did note that an item in respect of the Review of the 
Housing Revenue Account was due to be considered by the 
Executive Committee on 15th November and requested that it be 
pre-scrutinised at the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 8th November. Officers cautioned that timely 
preparation of this item was dependent on external factors and the 
Committee consequently agreed that consideration of the matter 
would take place one week prior to its submission to the Executive 
Committee, irrespective of the date. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Executive Committee held on 
13th September 2011 be noted. 
 

86. TASK & FINISH REVIEWS - DRAFT SCOPING DOCUMENTS  
 
There were no draft scoping documents. 
 

87. TASK AND FINISH GROUPS - PROGRESS REPORTS  
 
The Committee received the following reports in relation to current 
reviews. 
 
a) Facilities for Disabled People – Chair, Councillor Alan Mason 
 

Members were advised that the Group was awaiting the 
submission of additional information regarding disabled 
facilities for consideration at the meeting to be held on 6th 
October. 
 
 
 

Page 94



  
����������	
�
���
��	��
Committee 

 
 

 
 

27th September 2011 

 
b) Promoting Sporting Participation – Chair, Councillor Luke 

Stephens 
 

The Committee was advised that the Group had now met on 
four occasions. Whereas the original intention was that an 
interim report would be prepared focussing on events 
planned to coincide with the 2012 Olympics, it was now 
planned to prepare a single report for early in 2012 given the 
extent of Olympic-related activities that had come to light as 
a result of the Group’s discussions with officers and other 
public bodies. 
  

c) Youth Service Provision – Chair, Councillor Simon Chalk 
 

In the absence of Councillor Chalk, other Members of the 
Group provided an update on its activities. Considerable 
useful feedback had been received from young people, 
including the Redditch Student Council, and a number of key 
themes were starting to emerge, as were certain cross-overs 
with the work of the Promoting Sporting Participation Group. 
These key themes included the location of events aimed at 
young people, transport difficulties for this group and support 
for grass-roots participation by young people.  Based on the 
evidence Members had gathered the group had also 
submitted a response to Worcestershire County Council’s 
consultation on the subject of positive activities for young 
people. 

 
88. PORTFOLIO HOLDER ANNUAL REPORT - CORPORATE 

MANAGEMENT - COUNCILLOR MICHAEL BRALEY  
 
Further to consideration of the Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Management’s written report at the previous meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 6th September 2011, and 
Members’ agreed themed questions to be put to the Portfolio 
Holder, Councillor Michael Braley, in respect of his Annual Report 
to the Committee, the following responses were provided:   
 
1. The Worcestershire HUB was the subject of a recent 

scrutiny review. Has the HUB service subsequently 
improved? If so, to what extent? 

 
The Committee was informed that statistics demonstrated that the 
performance of the Council’s Customer Service Centre was indeed 
improving, although it was noted that such statistical information 
was to be gathered differently in the future with the focus being 
placed on problem resolution rather than basic response times. It 
was noted that the overwhelming majority of the interaction with the 

Page 95



  
����������	
�
���
��	��
Committee 

 
 

 
 

27th September 2011 

 
Council was still face to face or over the telephone and reductions 
in the time that both groups were having to wait was very 
significant. 
 
Members were advised that, since the HUB Scrutiny report, 
changes had been made to the way the Council handled enquiries. 
One significant change had been around the layout and operation 
of the main reception desk at the Town Hall. The configuration of 
the reception area did not, at present, lend itself to a satisfactory 
queuing system. Officers had experimented with the use of 
temporary barriers but generally found that self-regulating queues 
were the most successful means of managing customers. Customer 
privacy had not generated as many issues as might have been 
expected and the process of transferring customers to less public 
locations when appropriate was managed by Customer Services 
staff using their expertise and discretion. Staffing levels were also 
being managed on a more rational basis and in accordance with 
demonstrable need. 
 
The Committee was surprised at the lack of use of email as a 
means of doing business with the Council. Officers conceded that 
online business had not increased to the extent that had been 
expected, as it seemed there was some customer resistance to this 
method of interaction. Members also discussed the options around 
access to the Council’s services over the telephone and whether 
there was any intention of introducing autodialing or an automated 
description of a customer’s place in a telephone queue. 
 
The Portfolio Holder provided a brief update on the Worcestershire 
HUB. It was reported that the service had demonstrated a 
significant improvement during the last year with customer waiting 
times decreasing both over the telephone and face to face. A 
closure report on the scrutiny of the HUB was anticipated by the 
end of the calendar year. 
 
2.  
(a) What is the current position of the shared Property 

Services and what, if any, improvements have been 
made to address earlier concerns? 

 
(b) Would you consider it appropriate to follow Bromsgrove 

District Council in taking this service back in-house? 
 
The Portfolio Holder explained that all partners were content with 
the shared service in respect of the valuation function being 
provided, with a greater pool of knowledge and expertise providing 
improved resilience. 
 

Page 96



  
����������	
�
���
��	��
Committee 

 
 

 
 

27th September 2011 

 
The facilities management aspect of the service had initially been a 
cause for some concern but had improved following discussions 
involving all partners. Once again, improved resilience had been 
provided by a greater pool of staff, and Officers were now becoming 
clearer about their roles for the County and District Councils. 
 
In response to the suggestion that Redditch should consider 
Bromsgrove’s example and take the service back in-house, it was 
noted that the two authorities were in quite different situations in 
that Redditch had a much wider property portfolio. It was made 
clear that the Portfolio Holder was minded to follow the course of 
action that he felt that was most appropriate for Redditch rather 
than being implacably tied to one model or another. 
 
3. Do you feel that maintenance of the Council’s website is 

adequately prioritised? If not, how should this be 
addressed? 

 
It was acknowledged that the Council’s website had been 
inadequate in the past but that the site had been substantially 
improved in recent years. However, the process of updating the site 
and ensuring that it was customer-focussed continued, with 
improved search facilities being incorporated, the numbers of pages 
being reduced and a two-click service made available in many 
areas. It was highlighted that the individual services had 
responsibility for maintaining their areas of the site and that the 
quality of information on the site was regularly monitored. 
 
Members were pleased to see that improvements to the site were 
continuing as the increasing importance of websites as a key 
determinant in how those outside the Council regarded the authority 
was appreciated. Given the growth in social media it was stressed 
that the Council would increasingly need to look to such means of 
communication. Officers were able to confirm that the Council used 
both Facebook and Twitter and provided newsfeeds. 
 
It was identified that there were potential training needs for some 
Members in the use of the internet and social media. The Portfolio 
Holder pointed to recent Members’ training sessions on such areas 
and suggested that further opportunities might be available through 
Learndirect. 
 
On behalf of the Committee, the Chair thanked Councillor Braley for 
his annual report and it was 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the report be noted. 

Page 97



  
����������	
�
���
��	��
Committee 

 
 

 
 

27th September 2011 

 
 

89. EXTERNAL REFURBISHMENT OF HOUSING STOCK SHORT, 
SHARP REVIEW - UPDATE REPORT  
 
Members considered an update report on actions arising from the 
recommendations of the External Refurbishment of Housing Stock 
Short, Sharp Review Group which reported in December 2010 
(Appendix 1). 
 
As an initial point of clarification, Officers noted that Councillor Phil 
Mould had attended the site visit to properties in Woodrow contrary 
to the statement in Paragraph 3.10 of the report. 
 
The Committee was informed that, as a result of Officers 
successfully negotiating costs downwards with their suppliers, the 
repairs and repainting work to garage lintels and doors at 
Ombersley Close, Rushock Close and Longdon Close had been 
carried out using existing painting budgets. On this basis Members 
were requested to consider whether any further action was required 
in respect of this recommendation. 
 
Consultation with Council tenants and owner occupiers of those 
occupying  pebble dashed properties had been proposed in order to 
establish the levels of support for the repainting of these properties 
using lighter colours. This consultation had been added to the 
Housing Services consultation planner but Members’ attention was 
drawn to the limited ability for Housing Services to carry out 
consultation activities in the near future. The total cost of the 
repainting would be significant and Officers were currently looking 
into the possibility of accessing further Community Energy Savings 
Programme (CESP) funding for properties of the Wimpey no-fines 
method of construction. CESP funding had recently been obtained 
for insulation of such properties in Winyates and the properties in 
Rushock Close and Ombersley Close were also of this method of 
construction. 
 
Members noted the applicability of many of the recommendations of 
the Group to other areas of the town and welcomed the actions to 
date. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
1) based on the costs involved, no further action be taken 

regarding repainting the pebble dashed facades of 
properties located on Ombersley Close and Rushock 
Close; 

 

Page 98



  
����������	
�
���
��	��
Committee 

 
 

 
 

27th September 2011 

 
2) no further consultation work be undertaken in respect of 

the repainting of pebble dashed facades; and 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
3) the report be noted. 
 

90. QUARTER 1 - BUDGET MONITORING REPORT - APRIL-JUNE 
2011  
 
The Committee considered the quarterly budget monitoring report 
for the period April - June 2011/12. At the present time there was a 
projected under spend in the current financial year of approximately 
£170,000 for the Council’s General Fund. 
 
Members discussed the charging policy at the Council’s pay and 
display car parks, primarily that at the rear of the Town Hall. The 
Portfolio Holder for Corporate Management acknowledged that the 
charges were relatively expensive but, given the cost involved in 
revising the prices on the ticket machines and signage, it was 
proposed that charges remain at their present level for the time 
being. Officers also commented that a review of the entire pay and 
display service was to be undertaken in the medium term. 
 
The holding of staffing vacancies led some Members to question 
whether the levels of staffing in certain areas were unwarranted or 
whether there was undue pressure being placed on the remaining 
staff. Officers explained that the vacancies concerned were in 
planning services. In general, it was considered prudent to maintain 
such vacancies in the present situation, in which shared services 
were being introduced. The additional flexibility which these posts 
provided was a valuable tool for management of the process of 
sharing services. 
 
The Appendix to the main report, detailing performance at 
Pitcheroak Golf Course, was highlighted as a subject for further 
debate when the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Tourism 
presented their annual report to the Committee in January. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the report be noted. 
 

91. QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT - APRIL-
JUNE 2011  
 
Members considered the Corporate Performance report for the first 
quarter of the 2011/12 financial year. 

Page 99



  
����������	
�
���
��	��
Committee 

 
 

 
 

27th September 2011 

 
 
It was noted that there had been no definable progress made in the 
uptake of Leisure activities whereas Members had been informed 
that this was to be one of the strengths of the new leisure and 
cultural management team. Officers noted that the team had only 
recently been put in place and it was not expected that any such 
improvements would be apparent in the first quarter’s data. 
 
The delivery of affordable homes was highlighted as being 
particularly low in the first quarter. Officers explained that such 
housing was achieved through social landlords securing Homes 
and Communities Agency (HCA) Grant Funding and through a 
negotiated percentage of affordable homes being provided as part 
of a larger private development. In respect of both streams, it was 
hoped that both would deliver towards the affordable housing target 
soon as the bidding round for HCA funding has recently concluded 
and a number of other developments were expected to be realised 
in the near future. Officers undertook to provide the Committee with 
details of the number of affordable homes provided at Windsor 
Heights following the meeting. Members were also interested to 
know whether they might get involved in meetings with social 
housing partners to discuss plans for affordable housing. Officers 
explained that the Housing Strategy Team already held regular 
meetings with these partners and proposed that discussions take 
place with relevant Officers and partners over the involvement or 
attendance of Councillors at future meetings. 
 
Councillor Hopkins sought additional information on how staff 
absences had reportedly led to a reduction in the number of fly-
tipping enforcement actions compared to the same period the 
previous year. Officers undertook to provide this information 
following the meeting. 
 
Members were informed that the indicator BV 84 – total kg of waste 
collected - would be included in the second quarter’s report for 
2011/12 following their recommendation to the Executive 
Committee that it be retained. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the update on key performance indicators for the period 
ending 30th June 2011 be noted. 
 

92. REFERRALS  
 
There were no referrals. 
 

93. WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 100



  
����������	
�
���
��	��
Committee 

 
 

 
 

27th September 2011 

 
 
Members were advised of a number of updates to the current Work 
Programme. A report back on the Quarterly meeting between the 
Chair of the Committee and the Leader was scheduled to be 
submitted to the next meeting, as was an update from the 
Worcestershire Scrutiny Chairs and Vice Chairs Network meeting. 
A further inclusion to that agenda was a petition in respect of the 
War Memorial in the Town Centre which had recently been received 
by the Council. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Chair 
 

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and closed at 8.39 pm 

Page 101



Page 102



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  27th September 2011 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 
External Refurbishment of Housing Stock Short, Sharp Review – Update 
Report 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Brandon Clayton, Portfolio 

Holder for Housing, Local 
Environment and Health 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 
Relevant Head of Service Liz Tompkin, Head of Housing, and 

Guy Revans, Head of Environmental 
Services 

Wards Affected Greenlands ward  
Non-Key Decision   

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 This report contains an update on actions that were requested by the 

Executive Committee in relation to a number of the recommendations 
proposed by the External Refurbishment of Housing Stock Short, 
Sharp Review Group in December 2010.  Further implications, 
particularly with regards to the financial costs involved in delivering the 
recommended actions are provided to help inform further decision 
making on this subject. 

 
During a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 14th 
June Members requested further information in relation to the points 
identified by the Executive Committee.  Further updates on the work 
Officers have undertaken in response to this request for additional work 
are shown in italics throughout the report. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 
 

 
1) based on the costs involved, no further action be taken 

regarding repainting the pebbledash facades of properties 
located on Ombersley Close and Rushock Close;  

 
2) if recommendation 1 is agreed then no consultation work is 

undertaken; and 
 
 to RESOLVE that 
 
 the report be noted. 

Page 103



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  27th September 2011 
 

3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Background 
 
3.1 The External Refurbishment of Housing Stock Short Sharp Review was 

completed in December 2010.  Two members were appointed to this 
Group, former Councillor Graham Vickery (Chair) and Councillor 
William Norton.  The Group focused in particular on conditions of 
Council housing stock in Woodrow, though many of the 12 
recommended actions that they proposed were applicable to other 
parts of the Borough.  These recommended actions were designed to 
improve the appearance of properties in the Council’s housing stock 
and the surrounding environment. 

 
3.2 The Executive Committee considered the Group’s final report on 12th 

January 2011.  Members of the Committee welcomed the report and 
largely endorsed both the analysis of the effect of a poor environment 
on the aspirations of people living in those areas and the measures 
that were being proposed.  

 
3.3 However, concerns were expressed over several of the measures in 

respect of the possible cost and resource implications. Officers were 
requested to carry out further work on three of the proposals and to 
report their findings for the consideration of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in due course.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
received an initial update report on 14th June at which further actions 
were requested from officers prior to reporting to the Executive 
Committee. This report outlines the action that was requested and the 
outcomes of these further areas of work.   

 
TASK AND FINISH RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
Updates and action taken in response to the Task and Finish 
Group’s recommendations 
 
Task and Finish recommendation 1: We recommend that the 
lintels featured on Council properties be decorated to improve the 
visual appearance of those properties. 
 

3.4 The Executive Committee was advised that Redditch Borough Council 
did not have a budget for decorating the lintels featured on Council 
properties.  Therefore whilst the Committee recognised the value of the 
proposed action Members felt that they could not approve the 
recommendation in January 2011.   

 
3.5 Instead, further work was requested from Officers to enable the 

Executive Committee to reach an informed decision on the subject at a 

Page 104



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  27th September 2011 
 

later date.  Specifically, Members requested that Officers gather further 
information about the costs involved in decorating the lintels on Council 
buildings and how these costs could be met.  Furthermore, Members 
requested that the ongoing maintenance implications for this proposed 
action should be identified. 

 
3.6 Following the 12th January 2011 Executive Committee meeting a trial 

of painting the lintels was carried out on a block of 12 garages in 
Rushock Close.  Photographs of before and after the works had been 
carried out are in Appendix 1.   

 
3.7 The cost of repairs to the lintel and the painting of the lintel and the 

garage doors in Rushock Close and Ombersley Close would be 
£8,499.00. 

 
3.8 A 30 year Capital programme is currently being put together for 2012 

onwards which will include all the capital works the Council will be 
carrying out on its 6,053 stock.   

 
This has now been acted on 
 

3.9 Work to repair and paint the lintels and garage doors at Ombersley 
Close, Rushock Close and Longdon Close have been completed using 
the Council’s existing painting budget.  Therefore Members may feel 
that no further recommendations on this subject are required. 

 
3.10 Ward Members Councillor Blake and Councillor Norton met the 

Housing Capital Manager on site at Rushock Close to look at the work 
already carried out on the garages and visited the properties to look at 
the pebbledash.  Councillor W King and Councillor Mould (as Chair of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee) were also invited but gave their 
apologies. 

 
Task and Finish Group Recommendation 4: We recommend that 
the Council assume responsibility for the maintenance of small 
strips of land located close to private properties and public 
spaces. 

 
3.11 The need to maintain the local environment in a tidy and safe manner 

was recognised during the course of the Executive Committee meeting.  
However, concerns were expressed about the legal powers available to 
the Council to assume responsibility for these strips of land as well as 
the potential impact on Council resources.  For these reasons the 
recommendation was not endorsed in January 2011. 

 
3.12 To address these concerns the Executive Committee proposed that the 

implications of assuming responsibility for all such strips of land should 

Page 105



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  27th September 2011 
 

be reviewed in Woodrow as an initial pilot area.  Officers were tasked 
with considering the legal, financial and other resource implications for 
the Council as part of this process. 

 
3.13 Officers undertook the requested review in spring 2011.  During the 

course of this review Officers noted that the majority of strips of land in 
the area were already maintained by Redditch Borough Council to an 
appropriate standard.  Some additional minor landscaping work was 
also identified in the area, including the need to lower some hedgerows 
and to grind out some tree stumps.  A small amount of fly tipping was 
also observed, though each instance of fly tipping had been addressed 
by following established Council procedures. 

 
3.14 In general however the surrounding landscape is maintained 

effectively.  In recent years work has had a positive impact and has 
contributed to major improvements to the landscape in the area.  Under 
these circumstances Members may question whether any further 
action needs to be taken in relation to the Task and Finish Group’s 
recommendation. 

 
Task and Finish Group Recommendation 10: We recommend that 
consultation be undertaken with Council tenants and owner 
occupiers to find out whether they would support repainting of 
the pebbledash properties on Ombersley Close and Rushock 
Close using lighter colours and, if so, which colours they would 
prefer to use (it being made clear to owner occupiers that this 
service would only be made available to them at a cost). 

 
3.13 The Executive Committee recognised the value of the action proposed 

in the recommendation.  However concerns were expressed about the 
financial costs involved in both delivering the consultation process and 
in completing the suggested works.   

 
3.14 During the course of the meeting the Executive Committee was 

advised that the tenant consultation process had been set for the 
following 12 month period.  Whilst there were some concerns that 
consultation could raise expectations amongst tenants that it might not 
then be possible for the Council to meet Members requested that 
consideration should be given to extending the consultation 
programme to encompass a fifteen month timeframe.  As part of the 
consultation process the Executive Committee also requested that the 
financial costs involved and potential sources of funding should be 
considered. 

 
3.15 This consultation has been added to Housing Services’ consultation 

planner, (see Appendix 2) to commence in March 2012.  However, 
Housing Services currently only has one part time officer in the Tenant 

Page 106



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  27th September 2011 
 

Involvement team due to sickness and a vacant post.  All of Housing 
Services are about to commence a programme of transformation over 
the next  six months and therefore currently do not have the capacity to 
carry out any consultation. 

 
3.16 The total cost of repairing and painting the rough cast on properties in 

Ombersley Close and Rushock Close is £ 415,608.00. There are a 
total of 159 properties in Rushock Close and Ombersley Close with 
rough cast exteriors, 110 are council owned and 49 privately owned. 
The cost of the work to the council owned properties would be 
£284,580.00.  The cost of the work to the privately owned properties 
would be £131,028.00.  (See 3.18 for financial implications) 

 
3.17 Officers are looking at the possibility that if further Community energy 

Savings Programme (CESP) funding is released Woodrow may qualify 
for this funding.  The properties in Rushock and Ombersley Close 
Wimpey No Fines which would qualify them for the external insulation 
works.  This would then negate the need for the repair and painting of 
the pebble dash on the front of the properties. Under the current 
funding scheme owner occupier properties have also been included 
under the funding.  Officers will keep members informed of any 
progress in obtaining this funding. 

 
 Financial Implications 
 
3.17.1 The total cost of repairs and painting to the garage lintels is £8,499.00.  

This work has now been completed under the painting contract. 
 
The total cost of works to repair the rough cast to properties in 
Rushock Close and Ombersley Close is £415,608.00.   
 

3.18 The Council is waiting to hear how much debt they will have to take on 
as part of the review of the Housing Revenue Account changes.  
Officers have prepared a 30 year capital programme of work, however 
the amount of work which will be carried out over the next 10 years will 
depend on the amount of money the Council will have to pay back to 
finance the debt payment.  Current estimates show that the Council’s 
capital programme will be reduced dramatically.  There are essential 
works that will be required to ensure the council’s housing stock 
continues to meet the decent homes standard before external works 
are considered.     
 

 Legal Implications 
 
 There are no legal implications. 
 
 

Page 107



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  27th September 2011 
 

 Service/Operational Implications  
 

There are no service or operational implications. 
 
 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  
 

There are no customer, equalities or diversity implications. 
 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 There is a risk to the authority if we carry out the work and the privately 

owned properties do not pay the council for the work.  There would 
also be cost incurred if the authority had to recover the costs through 
the courts. 

 
5. APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix 1 -  Photographs of work carried out on garage lintels. 
 Appendix 2 -  Consultation planner 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 There are no background papers. 
 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Liz Tompkin, Head of Housing 
E Mail: liz.tompkin@bromgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel: (01527) 64252 Ext: 3304 

Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Housing Services Involvement & Consultation Programme 2011-12 
 

Consultation Project 
Name 

Involvement/ 
Consultation 
target 

Lead Officer Timescales Comments 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\3\8\AI00005837\Appendix1Part30.doc 

Service Standards  Borough Tenants 
Forum 

J Bough January 11 – March 
11 

Completed on target 
 

Local Offers Borough Tenants 
Forum 

J Bough 
E Cartwright 

February 11- March 
11 

Completed on target 

Home Support Service Older Persons 
Forum 

J Bough 
S Powell 

March 11 – Sept 11 Review of the home support service 

Winyates Enhancement 
project 

Special interest 
group 

Liz Williams 
C Smith 

March 11 – March 12 Actively be involved in the consultation 
with tenants. 

Photo voltaic cells St 
Davids House and 
Queens Cottages 

Tenants in St 
Davids House and 
Queens Cottages 

I Ranford 
E Wordley 

March 11 – May 11 Photo voltaic cells installed on roofs to 
reduce energy costs. 

HRA Implications to 
Tenants 

All tenants 
BTF 

L Tompkin June 11 – March 12 Timescales may alter dependant on the 
outcome of the HRA review 

30 Year Capital 
Programme/Business 
Plan 

Borough Tenants 
Forum 

L Tompkin 
I Ranford 

April 11- Dec 11 Timescales may alter dependant on the 
outcome of the HRA review 

Winslow Close heating 
boilers 

Tenants in Winslow 
Close 

I Ranford April 11 – Oct 11 New heating system replacement 

Tenant Involvement 
Strategy Review 

Special Interest 
Group of tenants 

J Bough 
 

April 11 – March 12 Special interest group to review the 
strategy and action plan 

RBC Annual Report 
2010 

Special Interest 
Group of tenants 
BTF 

E Cartwright June 11 – Sept 11 To be submitted to the Housing 
regulator by 1st October 2010 
 

P
age 111



Housing Services Involvement & Consultation Programme 2011-12 
 

Consultation Project 
Name 

Involvement/ 
Consultation 
target 

Lead Officer Timescales Comments 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\3\8\AI00005837\Appendix1Part30.doc 

 
Voids and Repairs 
Standards 

Special Interest 
Group of tenants 

J Bough 
C Smith 
K Lethbridge 

Sept 11 – March 12 Review the current service standards of 
both voids and repairs  

Car Parking 
Enhancement  

Affected residents 
by area 

Cllr B 
Clayton 

March 10 – March 12 Capital budget 
TI Officers consulting as part of the Car 
Parking Programme 

Rent cards and no 
collection weeks 

Survey tenants  J Braithwaite 
V Caney 

Sept 11 – Nov 11 Consult on use of rent cards and no 
collection weeks for new financial year 

Leaseholders  Special interest 
group of 
Leaseholders  

E Cartwright 
K Lethbridge 

October 11 – Dec 11 Consult with leaseholders on service 
charging processes. 

Housing Budget 
expenditure 

Borough Tenants 
Forum 

L Tompkin 
J Young 

November 11 – Dec 
11 

In preparation for new financial year 
housing expenditure. 
 

Service Standards and 
Local Offers 

BTF 
PDRP 

J Bough 
E Cartwright 
E Hopkins 
I Ranford 

January 12 – March 
12 

Review Service standards and local 
offers in preparation for new financial 
year 
 

Garage Strategy BTF 
PDRP 

J Bough 
C Smith 

Dec 11 – March 12 Consult with Tenants on proposed 
garage strategy 

Consult on any changes 
to tenure as a result of 
the Fairer Future for 
Council Housing 

Tenants J Bough Dec 11- Dec 12 Dates are dependant on the outcome of 
the consultation. 

External Refurbishment 
of Housing Stock – 

Tenants J Bough 
K Lethbridge 

March 12 – May 12 As part of the O & S External 
Refurbishment Task and Finish group 

P
age 112



Housing Services Involvement & Consultation Programme 2011-12 
 

Consultation Project 
Name 

Involvement/ 
Consultation 
target 

Lead Officer Timescales Comments 

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\3\8\AI00005837\Appendix1Part30.doc 

Woodrow South 
properties with black 
pebble dash 

recommendations. 

NB: Timescales may change from time to time. 

P
age 113



P
age 114



 
 

 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

 

Tuesday, 18th October, 2011 

 

 

 Chair 
 

 

 

MINUTES Present: 
  

Councillor Phil Mould (Chair), Councillor Mark Shurmer (Vice-Chair) and 
Councillors Peter Anderson, Andrew Brazier, Simon Chalk, Andrew Fry, 
Bill Hartnett, Gay Hopkins, Brenda Quinney, Alan Mason and 
Luke Stephens 
 

 Also Present: 
 

 Michael Collins (Vice Chair of the Standards Committee) 
Mrs S Boyd and Mrs M Morley (petitioners representing the war 
memorial petition). 
 

 Officers: 
 

 C Felton, L Hadley, J Staniland and L Tompkin 
 

 Committee Services Officer: 
 

 J Bayley and M Craggs 
 
 

94. APOLOGIES AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES  
 
There were no apologies for absence.   
 

95. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND OF PARTY WHIP  
 
There were no declarations of interest nor of any party whip.  
 

96. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 27th 
September 2011 be confirmed as a correct record and signed 
by the Chair. 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

 
 

Tuesday, 18th October, 2011 

 
97. ACTIONS LIST  

 
Members considered the latest version of the Committee’s Actions 
List. 
 
As requested at the previous meeting, information on the number of 
affordable housing units that had been provided as part of the new 
housing development at Windsor Heights had been circulated 
amongst Members. All actions had subsequently been completed.  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the Committee’s Actions List be noted. 
 

98. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MINUTES AND SCRUTINY OF THE 
FORWARD PLAN  
 
The Committee reviewed the contents of the Forward Plan and 
considered whether any items were suitable for scrutiny. 
 
Members noted that road gritting and snow clearance arrangements 
had formed the subject of a Short, Sharp Scrutiny review earlier in 
the year.  Under these circumstances the Committee concurred that 
Members had appropriate expertise in the subject to make a useful 
contribution to the Executive Committee’s decision making process 
through pre-scrutiny of a report on gritting and snow clearance, 
which was due to be considered by the Executive Committee on 
15th November 2011.  Consideration of this item would also provide 
the Committee with an opportunity to assess progress that had 
been made in relation to gritting and snow clearance procedures 
since the review had concluded. 
 
Finally, Members requested further information on the options to be 
considered by the Executive Committee on 6th December 2011 
regarding the Children’s Centres Contract.  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the report Gritting and Snow Clearance - Redditch 

Borough Council Approach be received at the Committee 
meeting on 8th November 2011 for pre scrutiny; and 

 
2)  the Executive Committee minutes for 4th October 2011 be 

noted.  
 
 
 

Page 116



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

 
 

Tuesday, 18th October, 2011 

 
99. TASK & FINISH REVIEWS - DRAFT SCOPING DOCUMENTS  

 
There were no draft scoping documents. 

100. TASK AND FINISH GROUPS - PROGRESS REPORTS  
 
The Committee received the following reports in relation to current 
reviews. 
 
a) Facilities for Disabled People – Chair, Councillor Alan Mason 
 

The Group was to reconsider the scope of the review 
following concern that this was too wide.  
 
The Group had not met since the last Committee meeting, 
however was hoping to meet during the week commencing 
Monday 24th October.  
 

b) Promoting Sporting Participation – Chair, Councillor Luke 
Stephens 

 
The Group had recently held a meeting to review what it had 
learned so far.  The Council’s Head of Leisure and Cultural 
Services, had attended the meeting to provide his 
perspective.   
 
The Council’s Sports Development and Physical Activity 
Manager had been invited to attend the Group’s next 
meeting on 27th October to discuss local provision for 
disabled sporting participation. 
  

c) Youth Service Provision – Chair, Councillor Simon Chalk 
 

Signage for the Local Democracy Day on 20th October 
promoting youth participation had been agreed at the 
Group’s most recent meeting.  
 
The next meeting of the Group was scheduled for 19th 
October.  

 
RESOLVED that 
 
the update reports be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

 
 

Tuesday, 18th October, 2011 

 
101. HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 
Councillor Brenda Quinney provided an update on the work of the 
Worcestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC), 
as Redditch Borough Council’s representative. 
 
At its most recent meeting on 18th October 2011, the HOSC 
received a presentation on the performance of the Out of Hours 
service across the county. The service was said to be performing 
well in Worcestershire, especially when compared to the national 
picture. Members subsequently suggested that the greater use of 
this service needed to be further promoted in Redditch.  
 
Members heard that new procedures had been introduced at the 
Alexandra Hospital to improve the quality of care for elderly 
residents. Extra beds had also been provided on a full time capacity 
for general use.  
 
Councillor Quinney informed Members that she would also be 
updating the HOSC on the performance of the new stroke service at 
the Alexandra Hospital.  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the report be noted.      
 
 

102. PETITION - WAR MEMORIAL  
 
The Committee considered a petition regarding the Redditch War 
Memorial.  
 
The Chair invited lead petitioner and other members of the public to 
speak to the petition. The invited speakers informed the Committee 
that in recent months there had been a noticeable increase in anti-
social behaviour around the War Memorial. In particular, Members 
heard that members of the public were regularly sitting on the 
Memorial itself. This was attributed to a lack of nearby public 
benches. It was also reported that excess litter had damaged the 
aesthetic appearance of the area.  
 
It was reported that Skateboarders were often in and around the 
area whilst others rode quickly through on bikes. The increased 
noise that had resulted was incongruous to the expectation that the 
area should be a place for quiet reflection. Members sought 
clarification on the legality of riding a bike in a pedestrian area.   
 

Page 118



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

 
 

Tuesday, 18th October, 2011 

 
Taken altogether it was felt that such anti-social behaviour was not 
only disrespectful but also potentially upsetting for those who 
wished to remember deceased loved ones in a quiet and peaceful 
setting. Furthermore, it was felt that some residents would be 
especially sensitive to this prior to Armistice Day.   
 
Members were firmly supportive of the principle behind the petition 
and expressed concerns about anti-social behaviour beside the war 
memorial. However, it was suggested that many of those who were 
acting in an anti-social manner could be unaware that their actions 
would be considered by others to be disrespectful. It was 
subsequently proposed that some residents needed to be reminded 
of the Memorial’s significance.  
 
Members considered various options developed by Officers for 
swiftly restoring the area to its full respectability (Appendix A).  The 
first of these options would be to install planters around the war 
memorial, which could be moved as and when required.  The 
second option would involve installation of chain linked barriers 
around the war memorial. 
 
The Committee concluded that they were keen to ensure that any 
measures taken to deter people from sitting on the War Memorial 
and reduce anti-social behaviour in general did not compromise 
public access to the area nor reduce its aesthetic appeal.  Under 
these circumstances Members favoured the installation of planters 
around the War Memorial. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
1) that planters be installed around the war memorial to deter 

people from sitting on the war memorial; 
 

2) a campaign of education about the war memorial be 
launched to increase awareness of the purpose of the war 
memorial; 

 
3) the Executive Committee ask Officers to investigate the 

possibility of introducing improved signage for the war 
memorial; 

 
4) the Executive Committee ask Officers to investigate the 

possibility of introducing seating in the area; 
 
5) the Executive Committee ask Officers to investigate the 

possibility of installing an extra litter bin in the area and 
 

Page 119



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

 
 

Tuesday, 18th October, 2011 

 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) Officers provide an update to the Committee in 

approximately six months on the effectiveness of the 
actions taken to tackle anti-social behaviour around the War 
Memorial; and 

 
2) the petition be noted.  
 
 

103. PORTFOLIO HOLDER ANNUAL REPORT - HOUSING, LOCAL 
ENVIRONMENT AND HEALTH  
 
The Committee received a written report which detailed the 
performance of services within the remit of the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing, Local Environment and Health, Councillor Brandon 
Clayton.  
 
On the basis of the information contained within the report Members 
requested that the following questions be addressed by the Portfolio 
Holder in his Annual Report to the Committee, which was 
scheduled to be delivered on 8th November 2011. 
 
1) What action has been taken to provide more social housing in 

Redditch? 
 
2) What are the current trends in relation to:  

a) homelessness enquiries to Redditch Borough Council? 
b) the number of statutorily homeless people being housed by 
Redditch Borough Council? 

 
3) What affect on the capital programme will the purchase of the 

housing stock have? 
 
4) What action is Redditch Borough Council taking to reduce the 

number of empty properties within the town to as close to zero 
as possible? What obstacles, if any, are there in relation to 
reducing the number of empty properties? 

 
5) What initiatives are you considering to increase the rates of 

recycling in Redditch? 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the content of the written performance report be noted. 
 

Page 120



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

 
 

Tuesday, 18th October, 2011 

 
104. PORTFOLIO HOLDER ANNUAL REPORT - COMMUNITY 

SAFETY AND REGULATORY SERVICES WRITTEN REPORT  
 
The Committee received a written report which detailed the 
performance of services within the remit of the Portfolio Holder for 
Community Safety and Regulatory Services, Councillor Juliet 
Brunner.  
 
On the basis of the information contained within the report Members 
requested that the following questions be addressed by the Portfolio 
Holder in her Annual Report to the Committee, which was 
scheduled to be delivered on 29th November 2011. 
 
1) What affect will the cuts in Police numbers have on crime and 

disorder in Redditch? 
 
2) What will the future provision of Police Community Support 

Officers (PCSOs) be in Redditch? 
 
3)  To what extent have the location of CCTV cameras in 

Redditch been reviewed and, in particular, how possible would 
it be to relocate CCTV cameras from existing locations to 
areas of greater need if considered necessary? 

 
4) What action, if any, is planned to address the noise caused by 

scrap metal dealers?  To what extent can this be addressed 
through licensing processes? 

 
5) What will the implications of the introduction of directly elected 

police commissioners for community safety budgets?  What 
implications, if any, will there be for CCTV systems in the 
town? 

 
RESOLVED that 
 
the content of the written performance report be noted. 
 
 

105. MEETING OF THE CHAIR WITH THE LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL - FEEDBACK  
 
The Chair expressed concern that the quarterly meetings with the 
Leader of the Council had not been as productive as initially hoped 
and commented that the discontinuation of these meetings would 
not prevent dialogue as and when necessary. 
 

Page 121



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

 
 

Tuesday, 18th October, 2011 

 
It was suggested that inviting Officers to officially record the 
meetings could increase their productiveness. However, the Chair 
suggested that this would be unlikely.  
 
Members were informed that as the meetings were now a 
requirement as part of the Council’s constitution, any proposal for 
its termination would need to be approved by the Constitutional 
Review Working Party.  
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
the quarterly meetings between the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and the Leader of the Council be removed 
as a requirement from the Council’s constitution. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the report be noted.  
 
 

106. JOINT WORCESTERSHIRE SCRUTINY CHAIRS' AND VICE 
CHAIRS' NETWORK MEETING - FEEDBACK  
 
The Chair provided feedback from the Worcestershire Scrutiny 
Chairs’ and Vice-Chairs’ Network meeting on 3rd October 2011 at 
Malvern District Council.  
 
Members were advised that a number of issues were discussed at 
the meeting, including the effectiveness of local scrutiny in relation 
to health, and crime and disorder. The meeting reaffirmed the 
Chair’s view that scrutiny was working well in Redditch.  In 
particular, Redditch Borough Council’s arrangements for Crime and 
Disorder Scrutiny and for receiving regular updates from the 
Council’s representative on the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee were considered to be representative of good practice.  
 
The Committee debated the feasibility of attending a county-wide 
scrutiny training session. It had been commented that Members had 
already received two scrutiny training sessions at the start of the 
municipal year. However, the Committee was keen to work with 
other Councils over the delivery of joint scrutiny training where 
appropriate.  It was therefore suggested that the Council should 
offer to be involved in scoping training session to help make it more 
worthwhile and that further consideration be made after the costs 
involved had been confirmed.  
 
 

Page 122



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

 
 

Tuesday, 18th October, 2011 

 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the subject of joint scrutiny training be considered at a 

following meeting of the Committee, following 
confirmation of the financial costs involved; and 

 
2) the report be noted.  
 

 
107. REFERRALS  

 
There were no referrals.  
 
 

108. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
Members were advised that the written performance report for 
services within the remit of the portfolio for Leisure and Tourism 
would be received at the Committee meeting on 29th November 
2011 at the request of the Chair.  The meeting scheduled for 3rd 
January 2012 had subsequently been cancelled due to lack of 
business.  
 
At its next meeting on 8th November 2011, the Committee was due 
to receive an appeal to the decision of Council on 5th September 
2011 regarding the petition to preserve green belt land in Brockhill. 
An explanation for the appeal would be provided in the agenda 
pack for the meeting.  
 
The Committee would also receive at a meeting on 29th November 
2011 a presentation on the implementation of the housing 
trailblazers’ scheme. The scheme had links to the scrutiny review of 
homelessness that was completed in 2006.  
 
Finally, Members were advised that a series of provisional dates 
had been set in early 2012 for parliamentary scrutiny seminars. 
Expressions of interest were to be submitted to relevant Officers.  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the Committee’s Work Programme be noted. 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and closed at 8.23 pm 

Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



������

������������������	��
�����������
����
�������
�����
�

�		����������	����
	��	�����	�����	
��	���
	��������
������		�
�

�����
����������	��	��	��������������������
�
�
�

������	
� ��
���������������������������������������� ���!"��#��!������������
���$�� 
���%��&������� �� !��������'��%!���
��������
&!���(���)*���&��
�+*�������������������
,�&�&
&����-�����
��������.�� �/!���������
����
$����� ������0��	������1�����/!�&!���2��.!�����������������&�/!������
������&�
�
$��������&&!�����!
�0�%����%�����$
��&������!���$
��&������������
��
��������
&!������)*�����
�

� 3,�!�%!��
������#��$��������0!4
&"����������0��!�&����5"���%���0��&���&�
��
����������6���
�-�!"���!����-��
�&��!��������%�����!�&����!�%��!���
���%!���������0��&���&���
�������������$�������!�������&&!!��!�%��!��
3--��!��� �������%!�0��&���&���
�����
�

� 6�%�&!!�
���
��������.�����7�����!����������������5���!�&!����&"���
�������
�

� 3--��!��
�����.�����/!�������������.���!����������1���������
�����0���������������6����8���������������������
�

�
9*��� �������	���

�
$4�����!��-����,�!��!�8!�!��!�!�%!��-������
���������.�� �/!���5"�!�1��!�&�
0��&���&���
������������ ��	�"����� �������%!�0��&���&���
������
�

�:*��� 
	
����������������	�	����
�
����!�����&������-���&!�!�&�8!�!��!�!�%!���
�

��*��� �����	���
�
	�!� ���
&!�� �-� &�!� �!!&���� �-� &�!� 5���!�&!�����!� ����!�� �!�%��!�� .���&�
�����&&!!��!������);���.
�!�):���8!�!��
,��&&!���
�
5�&���!-!�!��!�&�����
��!�&�/������%!���&�&�!�4�!%��
���!!&�����&�!��<!�
&�%!�
0��!�&���� 1�����!� ���� ���4���&!� �!��
��!���  �������%!� 0��&���&� ��
�����
�4������!�� &���!�,!��� -��� ��&� ��%���� 4��%��!�� &���� ��-����&���� ���� ���!!��
&��&����!��!&���!����-����&�����������!����!�
��!<4!��!��8�
���,!�4��%��!��
���-
&
�!��!4��&��&��&�!�.���&������&&!!��
�
�	����	
�&��&�&�!����
&!��,!��44��%!�����������!�&��!������
�
�

Agenda Item 12Page 127



5���!�&!�����!�����!���!�%��!��.���&������&&!!�
)9&���!4&!�,!��):���

��)���

�)*��� ��
���
��������������������	����
	��	����������������
�
$���4"��-�&�!�$��
���'�%!�����!��!4��&�-���):�:*):���8���������!�!����	�!�
���������8!����!������0���%�����$
��&������!��-����&�!�$
��&������������
&�� &�!��!!&����� �����0���%���� ��-���!���!�,!��� &��&��!�8�
���4�!�!�&� &�!�
�!4��&����&�!��,�!��!��-����������%!��0��&���&�$
��&����8��������
,��&&!���!��
�4�����!���
�
	�!� �<!�
&�%!� 0��!�&��� 1�����!� ���� ���4���&!� �!��
��!���  �������%!�
0��&���&���
����� ��-���!���!�,!��� &��&� &����8��� &�!� -���&� "!��� &��&� ����
�&��
���� &��,!�4�!4��!�� ������4�����!�8�&��	�!� 6�&!���&������1����������!4��&����
�&���������8����������!�
�&!���������&������8��/�-����--��!����
�
����0�� �%���� ��-���!���!�,!��� �-� &�!������� ���
!�� ���� ��!���!�&�� &��&�
���� ,!!�� ����!�� 8�&�� &�!� �<!�
&�%!� 0��!�&��� 1�����!� ���� ���4���&!�
�!��
��!��� �������%!�0��&���&���
������ �3--��!����������!4&!�� &�!�!�������
�!%������� ���� �!� ��/!�� &�!� .���&� �����&&!!� &�� ������!�� &�!�!� ,!-��!�
�44��%����&�!�$��
���'�%!�����!��!4��&�):�:*):����
�
����0���%�����!�4���!��&��=
!�&�����-�����!�,!���8�&���!�����&�� &�!�.���&�
�����&&!!�,!����������!�!�������>�����!���!�!%��&�,��"?��
�
�	����	
 �
���� &��&� &�!� $
��&� ����������� $��
���'�%!�����!��!4��&� ):�:*):��� ,!�

��&!�@��
�,�� &��&� &�!��&�&!�!�&� �-�$���
�&�� ):�:*):�����&� ,!� ��!��!�� &�� �!-�!�&�

&�!� ���
!�� ����!��,"� &�!�$
��&������������ -��� &�!� �!����������
��!��
�
�����&�!��!!&���@�����

���� &��&� &�!� �!&&!�� �-� �!4�!�!�&�&���� ��� ,!���-� �-� &�!� .���&� �����&&!!� ,!�
�44��%!���

�
�;*��� ����	�	�������

�����������������

�
������!��&����8�����%!�� &�� &�!� �!4��&� �!��&���� &�� &�!� -��������� ��-����&���� -���
&�!�"!���):�:*):���� �	�!��&�&!�!�&��-�$���
�&�� �!-�!�&!�� &�!�4���&���� -����
.
�!�):�:�&��������):���-���&�!��!8�5���!�&!�����!��!�
��&��"��!�%��!������
&�!�!-��!� 8��� &�!� -���&� �!&� �-� ����
�&�� �!-!��!�� -��� �44��%��� ,"� &�!� .���&�
�����&&!!��
�
�	����	
�&��&�&�!��&�&!�!�&��-�$���
�&��):�:*):���,!��44��%!���
�

�A*��� ���
	��	�����	� �	��������� �	���
	�� �	�������
	�
������������������!����	�������
�
	�!������&&!!�������!�!���� �!4��&�8������!&���!�� &�!�4!�-������!���&�� -���
5���!�&!�����!��!�
��&��"��!�%��!��-���&�!�4!�����$4����):���&��.
�!�):����
�
	�!��!����-�5���!�&!�����!��!�
��&��"��!�%��!���!�4���!��&��=
!�&�����-����
�!�,!���8�&���!�����&��-
&
�!��!4��&�������!���-���!���!�,!���&��&��!�8���
�
!� &���!!&�8�&�� &�!� .���&������&&!!������!�!�&� ����� &�� ����
��� -
&
�!�
�!4��&���� ����
����� �� ���4�!�!���%!� ���&� �-� /!"� �
&���!�� ���� 4!�-������!�

Page 128



5���!�&!�����!�����!���!�%��!��.���&������&&!!�
)9&���!4&!�,!��):���

��;���

�!��
�!����3��!��!&!����!��&������-����&����8�
���,!����!��%����,�!�&��.���&�
�����&&!!��!�,!����
�����):�)����
�
�	����	
� &��&� &�!� 4!�-������!� ��&�� -��� 5���!�&!�����!� �!�
��&��"�
�!�%��!��-���&�!�4!�����$4����):���&��.
�!�):���,!���&!���
�

�B*��� ����	
�������	�	������������
�
����6����8�������!�
��&��"��!�%��!�����C!�&������!��4��%��!���!�,!���8�&��
�!&����� �-� &�!� �
��!�&� 4��C!�&� �����!�!�&� �!��
��!�� ������!�!�&� ���� &�!�
�!�
�&���������"���
!�&��&�!�����!��!���!��������&�!����C!�&������!��-����
&�!�5���!�&!�����!���
�&"���
����?�� ������������!����
�
�!�,!��� 8!�!� -
�&�!�� ��-���!�� &��&� ��� �A&�� �!4&!�,!�� ):��� &�!�
5���!�&!�����!� �!�
��&��"� �!�%��!�� �����!�!�&�  ����� ���� ���!4&!�� &�!�
4��4����� &�� �!!/� &�� �!��
�&� �� -
��� *� 4��&� &��!� ���C!�&� �����!�� &�� �����!�
�!��%!�"��-� &�!� �!�������� 6�-����&��������
����&�����	!�������"� �6�	������
	����-����&����4���
�&���
�
	�!����������!<4�!��!������!�!�&���/��&������6����8�����-����������&��,
&����
����!�
��&��"��!�%��!�����C!�&������!���
�
1
�&�!�� ����
������ -����8!�� ��� &�!� �!%!��4�!�&� �-� �� ��,
�&� 6�	� �4!��&����
�"�&!������&�!����!��-��"�&!���	���/����������!��&���!&!����!�&�!�6�	��!!���
�����!=
��!�!�&��-���5���!�&!�����!��!�
��&��"�����!���!�%��!����	�!��!���
�-�5���!�&!�����!��!�
��&��"��!�%��!�����-���!��&���!�,!���&��&�&�!"�8�
���
,!���%��!���-� &�!�4���
�!�!�&�4���!����������!��!%!��4!�� &�!� 6�	����C!�&�
�����8�
���,!�����!��8�&��&�!�.���&������&&!!��
�

�D*��� ���
	��	�����	��	����������	���
	��	����
	�	�������
���
�
	�!������&&!!�������!�!�����!4��&�8�������
��&�&��4��%��!���5���!�&!�����!�
�!�
��&��"��!�%��!���5���������!���-���!�!�&������"�&��,!�
�!���������&�!�
��
�&"�����!��&����&������!�-���!�!�&���&�%�&�!�����
�
	�!��!����-�5���!�&!�����!��!�
��&��"��!�%��!����-���!���!�,!���&��&�	�!�
�!�
��&�������4�����!����!�8���-����"�4�!����4&�%!� ���&!�����-�8��&��!!�!��
&�� ,!� ����
�!�� 8�&���� ��� ��-���!�!�&� �����"�� �!!/���� &�� !��
�!� &��&� ������
�
&����&�!�� &��/� �� �!��
�!�� �44������ &�� !�-���!�!�&�� � 	�!� ��-���!�!�&�
�����"� 8�
��� ����8� &�!� �!�%��!� &�� �4!��&!� ��� �� ������&!�&� 8�"� ������� &�!�
��
�&"�����!��&����&������!�-���!�!�&���&&!����
�
	�!� �!���� �!�%��!� �����!��� �!���&���  ���
��� ��
����� �!�4���!�� &��
=
!�&����� -�����!�,!��� �!�������������������!�� &�� &�!�5�����-���!�!�&�
�����"�� 6�&���
�&����� �����!�&���!�!�%!��-����&�!��!���� &!����&� �������%!�
0��&���&���
����� �����!���&��� ���
�����
����� -��� ����
�����8�&���� &�!�4����"�
���� ��&� ,!!�� �!�!�%!�� ��� &��!� &�� �����4���&!� ��&�� &�!� ��-���!�!�&� �����"�
4�!�!�&!���&�&�!��!!&�����
�
1����8����-
�&�!��!<4����&������������
������8�&��&�!��!�����!�%��!������!���
�!���&��� ���
�����
�����8�&���!�����&��&�!������������!���&�8���

Page 129



5���!�&!�����!�����!���!�%��!��.���&������&&!!�
)9&���!4&!�,!��):���

��A���

�
�	����	
� &��&� &�!� ���!!�� �����!�� &�� &�!� 5���!�&!�����!� �!�
��&��"�
�!�%��!�� �5���� ��-���!�!�&� �����"�� 6�&���
�&����� ,!� �����4���&!�� ����
�!�,!��� �!�!�%!�����4"��-� &�!�5�����-���!�!�&������"�8�&�� &�!�4
,����!��
.���&������&&!!����
&!���
�
�	
���	�
	
� &��&���
,C!�&� &�� &�!����!!�������!�� &�� &�!�5���!�&!�����!�
�!�
��&��"� �!�%��!�� ��-���!�!�&� �����"�� 6�&���
�&����� &�!� ��
����� -��� !����
�!�,!��$
&����&"����4&��&�!�4����"��
�

�+*��� ���
	��	�����	� �	��������� �	���
	�� ������ 
������		�
��
�	������������������������!������������
�
	�!������&&!!� ������!�!�� �� �!4��&� 8����� �!&���!�� &�!� -��������� 4���&���� -���
&�!�4!�����$4����):���&��.
�"�):�)����
�
	�!� �<!�
&�%!� 0��!�&��� 1�����!� ���� ���4���&!� �!��
��!���  �������%!�
0��&���&���
����� ��&���
�!�� &�!� �!4��&����� ��-���!�� &�!������&&!!� &��&� &�!�!�
8!�!������C������
!��&���!4��&�����!��&����&��&�!�-���������4���&����$4����):���&��
.
�"�):�)��
�
1����8���� -
�&�!�� ����
������� &�!� �<!�
&�%!� 0��!�&��� 1�����!� ���� ���4���&!�
�!��
��!���  �������%!� 0��&���&� ��
����� ���!!�� &�� 4��%��!� .���&� �����&&!!�
�!�,!���8�&�����!��!&���!����-����&�����������!����!�
��!<4!��!���
�
�	����	
 �
���� &��&� &�!� �<!�
&�%!� 0��!�&��� 1�����!� ���� ���4���&!� �!��
��!���

 �������%!� 0��&���&�� ,!� &��/!�� &�� 4��%��!� .���&� �����&&!!� �!�,!���
8�&�� ���!� �!&���!�� ��-����&���� ��� ����!����!�
�� !<4!��!�� ,"� �:&��
3�&�,!��):��������

�,�� &��&� &�!� -��������� 4���&���� -��� &�!� 4!����� $4���� ):��� &�� .
�"� ):�)� ,!�
��&!���

�
�

	�!��!!&��������!���&�B��+�4����
�
�
�
�
�

���������

Page 130



 

WORCESTERSHIRE SHARED SERVICES JOINT COMMITTEE 
 

PROTOCOL FOR REFERRAL OF DECISIONS TO MEMBER AUTHORITIES 
 
 

§ Minutes of each Joint Committee to be drafted and agreed with the 
Chairman and Head of Regulatory Services within 10 working days.  

 
§ The Committee Services Officer who supports the Joint Committee to 

email the final minutes, for information, to the members of the Joint 
Committee and those officers who represent the member authorities on 
the Management Board. 

 
§ The Committee Services Officer to email the final minutes to the 

Democratic/Committee Services Manager of each member authority who 
shall ensure that the minutes are submitted to the next possible meeting of 
their authority’s Executive/Cabinet. 

 
§ In the event that all matters within a set of minutes are resolved items the 

Executive/Cabinet will receive the minutes for information only. 
 

§ In the event that a set of minutes contains any recommendations, the 
Committee Services Officer will provide each authority’s 
Democratic/Committee Services Manager with a full copy of the relevant 
report(s). Any such report(s) shall accompany the minutes when submitted 
to the Executive/Cabinet.  

 
§ The Executive/Cabinet shall consider and determine each 

recommendation which falls within its delegated powers. If a matter does 
not fall within its delegated powers, the Executive/Cabinet shall make a 
recommendation to the full Council. The Democratic/Committee Services 
Manager shall be responsible for ensuring that any recommendations from 
the Executive/Cabinet are referred to their full Council. 

 
§ The Democratic/Committee Services Manager for each member authority 

shall email the Committee Services Officer who supports the Joint 
Committee to confirm that recommendations have been considered and 
whether they were approved. 

 
§ The Committee Services Officer shall maintain appropriate records of 

recommendations and the outcome from each member authority. 
 

§ In the event that a recommendation is not approved by all member 
authorities, the Head of Regulatory Services shall report the outcome to 
the next possible meeting of the Joint Committee for information and 
consideration of any consequential action.  

Page 131



Page 132



JOINT COMMITTEE 

Date: 29th September 2011   

ENFORCEMENT POLICY
Recommendation That Members recommend the adoption of this policy by the 

individual partner authorities. 

Contribution to 
Priorities/ 
Recommendations 

This policy will apply to all WRS functions involving 
enforcement action so will impact across all service 
priorities. 

Introduction/Summary 
Background 

Local authorities have, for some time, been required to 
produce and publish an Enforcement Policy to demonstrate 
how national regulation will be enforced in their areas. The 
attached policy document seeks to provide Worcestershire 
Regulatory Services with a single policy that can be used 
across the county in relation to all enforcement activities. 
The policy will need to be adopted by partners as it relates 
to legal process, a reserved matter. 

Report Local authorities have been encouraged to produce 
Enforcement Policies for many years, but particularly with 
the introduction of the Enforcement Concordat, created by 
LACORS (Local Authority Co-ordinators of Regulatory 
Services, formerly LACOTS.) The idea of the concordat was 
to provide businesses with a clear framework within which 
regulation would take place and to provide this community 
with an outline of the kind of responses they might face 
should they be identified as being non-compliant. 

These provisions have, in the main, been superseded by the 
Regulator’s Compliance Code, issued by the Better 
Regulation Executive, under the Legislative and Regulatory 
Reform Act 2006, and now maintained by the Local Better 
Regulation Office. The Regulators Compliance Code is fairly 
prescriptive in terms of what needs to be included in an 
Enforcement Policy, seeking to ensure that local authorities 
take a measured approach to enforcement. The Code 
encourages local authorities to try to use informal means to 
resolve issues of non-compliance before taking formal 
action, unless there are immediate risks or there is evidence 
of consent or connivance involved in the commission of the 

Page 133



offences. 

Before putting a case before the Courts, local authorities 
also need to have regard to the Code for Crown 
Prosecutors, which lays down the very basic provisions for 
evidential sufficiency and public interest before a case can 
be considered a sound candidate to be taken to Court.  

The attached policy meets the criteria of both of these 
documents and provides businesses with a clear picture of 
how the service will go about its enforcement activities. This 
should allow it to easily integrate with existing policies within 
the partner authorities and will allow the service to operate in 
a consistent way across the county in relation to all 
enforcement matters.  

Improved consistency is something that businesses crave, 
so there is a level playing field for all of those in competition. 
They continue to claim that there are significant differences 
in the way local authorities enforce legislation across the 
country and that this is detrimental to business performance. 
A recent report from the Local Better Regulation Office 
called “From the Business end of the telescope” continues 
to highlight business concerns about inconsistency. Local 
Government, through LACORS, has frequently challenged 
business on their evidence for these claims, but adopting 
this common approach to enforcement would go some way 
to reducing such perceptions within Worcestershire.

Financial Implications None 

Sustainability Not applicable 

Contact Points Simon Wilkes 
Business Manager 
Worcestershire Regulatory Services 
swilkes@worcsregservices.gov.uk 

Background Papers Enforcement Policy attached. 
“From the Business End of the Telescope” is available from 
the Local Better Regulation Office and can be found on their 
website at: 
http://www.lbro.org.uk/docs/from-the-business-end-of-the-
telescope.pdf

Page 134



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                   15th November 2011 

 

 

ADVISORY PANELS, WORKING GROUPS, ETC -  UPDATE REPORT  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Cllr Michael Braley, Portfolio Holder for 

Corporate Management 
Relevant Head of Service Claire Felton, Head of Legal, Equalities 

and Democratic Services 
Non-Key Decision 

 
1.  SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 To provide, for monitoring / management purposes, an update on the work 

of the Executive Committee’s Advisory Panels, and similar bodies which 
report via the Executive Committee. 

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that 
 
subject to Members’ comments, the report be noted. 
 

3. UPDATES 
 

A. ADVISORY PANELS 
 

 Meeting : Lead Members / 
Officers :   
 
(Executive Members 
shown underlined) 

Position : 

(Oral updates to be 
provided at the meeting by 
Lead Members or Officers, 
if no written update is 
available.) 

1.  Climate Change 
Advisory Panel  

Chair: Cllr B Clayton / 

Vice-Chair: Cllr Hopkins 
 
Hugh Bennett / 
Ceridwen John 

Next meeting –  

22nd November 2011. 

 

2.  Economic Advisory 
Panel 

Chair: Cllr Pearce  / 
Vice-Chair: Cllr Bush 

John Staniland / 
Georgina Harris 

Last Meeting  –  

7th November 2011. 

 

Agenda Item 14Page 135



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                   15th November 2011 

 

 

3.  Housing Advisory 
Panel 

 

Chair Cllr B Clayton /  
Vice-Chair Cllr Brazier 

Liz Tompkin 

Next meeting –
6th December 2011. 

 

 

4.  Leisure Contracts 
Advisory Panel   
 

 

Chair Cllr Derek Taylor/ 
Vice-Chair Cllr Anderson 

John Godwin  

Last meeting –  

16th August 2010. 

 

 

5.  Planning Advisory 
Panel 

 

Chair Cllr  Pearce / 

Vice-Chair Cllr R Hill 

John Staniland /  
Ruth Bamford 

Next meeting –  

22nd November 2011 

 

 
B. OTHER MEETINGS 
 

6.  Constitutional 
Review Working 
Party 

Chair Cllr Gandy /  
Vice Chair  
Cllr Braley 

Steve Skinner 

 

Last meeting – 

10th November 2011. 
 

7.  Member Support 
Steering Group 

 

Chair Brunner  /  
Vice-Chair Cllr Braley 

Steve Skinner / 
Trish Buckley 

Last meeting –  

27th October 2011 

8.  Grants Panel 

 

Chair / Cllr Chance 
Vice Chair  
Cllr Braley  
Angie Heighway 

Last meeting –  

7th September 2011. 

 

9.  Procurement 
Group 

Chair Cllr Braley /  

Vice-Chair Cllr Anderson 

Jayne Pickering / 
Teresa Kristunas 

Last meeting – 
8th September 2011. 

 

Page 136



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                   15th November 2011 

 

 

10.  Church Hill District 
Centre – Members’ 
Panel 

Chair Cllr B Clayton  

Teresa Kristunas 

Last Meeting 

22nd June 2011 

 
22. APPENDICES 
 
 None. 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:   Ivor Westmore  
E Mail:  ivor.westmore@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel:       (01527) 64252 (Extn. 3269) 

Page 137



Page 138



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE   15th November 2011 

 

 

ACTION MONITORING 
 
Portfolio 
Holder(s) /         
Responsible 
 Officer  

Action requested Status 

27th January 
2010 

  

Cllr Gandy / 
H Bennett 

Single Equalities Scheme 
 
Members requested that a report/action 
plan be submitted to a future meeting of the 
Committee or Council detailing what the 
Council, as Community Leader, expected 
to receive in terms of education provision 
for the Borough and its children and young 
people. 
 

 
 
Officers to update 
at future meeting. 
The LSP action 
plan in respect of 
this issue is under 
consideration at 
present. 

21st May 
2011 

   

M Braley / 
T Kristunas 

 Review of Lease - 21 and 21a Salters 
Lane 
 
Officers to prepare a report on a policy 
regarding the granting of concessionary 
rents. 
 

Policy to be 
submitted to a 
future meeting for 
approval by 
Council by April 
2012. 

13th 
September 
2011 

   

M Braley /  
T Kristunas / 
D Taylor 

 Quarterly Monitoring of the Benefits 
Service Improvement Plan - Quarter 1 - 
April to June 2010 
 
Officers be requested to provide updates 
on transformation and future measures of 
the service to reflect new processes that 
are being implemented within the service. 
 

 
 
 
 
In the next 
quarterly report. 

Agenda Item 15Page 139



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE   15th November 2011 

 

 

 
M Braley /  
T Kristunas /  

 Quarterly Budget Monitoring - Quarter 1 
- April to June 2011  
 
Officers be requested to show the budgets 
at service level and reflect variations 
against the service budgets in future 
reports. 
 

 
 
 
In the next 
quarterly report. 

M Braley /  
T Kristunas 

 Write-Off of Debts - Monitoring Report 
 
Councillor Derek Taylor was invited to meet 
with Officers to discuss the action that was 
taken by the Council to manage bad debt 
and Officers undertook to provide 
Councillor Carole Gandy with further detail 
on the liquidation / winding up write-offs for 
non-domestic rates.  
 

 
 
Information 
forwarded to Cllr 
Gandy. Cllr Taylor 
contacted 
regarding a 
meeting with 
Officers. 

B Clayton / L 
Tompkin / E 
Cartwright 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
In respect of Minute 65 (Private Sector 
Home Support Service – Post Scrutiny) it 
was noted that consideration of the 
recommendations from the Committee was 
pending a further report and business case 
for the proposals outlined in the report to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 
 
Report to be 
submitted to the 
Committee in due 
course 

M Braley / 
T Kristunas 

 Review of Lease - Unit 1, Matchborough 
Centre 
 
Alongside consideration of the terms of the 
lease Members requested that a policy be 
developed to determine appropriate rents 
for voluntary sector organisations. 
 

 
 
 
See note for 
Review of Lease - 
21 and 21a 
Salters Lane 

Note: No further debate should be held on the above 
matters or substantive decisions taken, without 
further report OR unless urgency requirements are 
met. 

Report period: 
13/01/09 to 4/10/11 

 

Page 140



Agenda Item 17Page 141
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 146



Page 147
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 148


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Gritting and Snow Clearance - Redditch Borough Council Approach
	7 Redditch Community Safety Partnership - Future arrangements
	CSP merger - Appendix

	8 Safeguarding Policy and Procedure
	Safeguarding Policy & Procedure - Appendix 1

	9 Children's Centres Contract
	Commission of Children's Centre Services - Appendix 1

	11 Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Appendix 1 Part 1
	Appendix 1 - Part 2
	Appendix 1 - Part 3
	O&S Mins 111018
	Appendix A

	12 Worcestershire Shared Service Joint Committee
	WRS - Protocol for Referral of Decisions
	WRS - Enforcement Policy Report

	14 Advisory Panels - update report
	15 Action Monitoring
	17 Sandycroft - Future of Site
	Sandycroft Map MB


